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Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/20122   

The Hon. George Souris MP 
Minister for Tourism, Major Events, 
Hospitality and Racing, and  
Minister for the Arts

31 October 2012

Dear Minister,

In accordance with the provisions of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984 and the Public Finance and Audit 
Act of 1983, we submit this report for presentation to the NSW Parliament. It details the activities and performance 
outcomes for Destination NSW for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Destination NSW was established on 1 July 2011 when four organisations – Tourism NSW, Events NSW, the 
Homebush Motor Racing Authority and the Greater Sydney Partnership – merged their operations. This is the first 
annual report presented by the new agency.

Yours sincerely,

John Conde AO 
Chairman
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In July 2011 the NSW Government through an Act of 
Parliament established a new statutory authority, 
Destination NSW, to lead the State’s tourism and events 
sector and maximise the benefits of the visitor 
economy for New South Wales.

The agency has unprecedented scope to deploy the 
necessary strategic, development, commercial and 
marketing initiatives to ensure that Sydney and New 
South Wales are among the world’s most successful 
tourism and events destinations.

It was a privilege to be appointed Chairman of 
Destination NSW’s first Board of Directors. All those 
represented on the Board bring exceptional skills and 
experience to contribute to our achieving the goals set 
by the NSW Government. Over the past twelve months 
they have offered astute insight into the challenges 
now facing New South Wales and have been extremely 
active in their efforts to assist Destination NSW.

In this our first year of operation we have focused on 
three key areas: addressing the corporate challenges 
of forging four organisations into one; ensuring that our 
productivity remains high as we continue to launch and 
implement programs and new initiatives that will act as 
catalysts for growth; and engaging with the industry 
through the NSW Visitor Economy Taskforce to develop 
a bold, sector-wide strategy that can achieve the 
Government’s target of doubling overnight visitor 
expenditure by 2020.

Over the past year we have put in place the foundations 
necessary to achieve high standards of corporate 
governance, fiscal responsibility and operational 
effectiveness.

Despite the disruption caused by the merger of four 
entities — each with different legal, financial, 
administrative and executive structures — we were 
able to meet our event acquisition and development 
targets, launch innovative new campaigns for Sydney 
and Regional NSW and step up our international 
business and market engagement.

Destination NSW’s Deputy Chairman Russell Balding AO 
chaired the NSW Visitor Economy Taskforce and our 
CEO Sandra Chipchase was also a member. These 
involvements in such a strategically important planning 
study informed our own organisational planning and 
restructuring. Consequently, Destination NSW has been 
structured and is being resourced specifically to lead 
and support the industry in delivering the 
2020 strategy.

I thank the Minister for Tourism and Major Events, 
Hospitality and Racing, and Minister for the Arts, 
George Souris, and the NSW Government for their 
support of the organisation over the past year.

I acknowledge our CEO, Sandra Chipchase, for her 
extraordinary efforts and achievements since taking 
on the role in August 2011 and extend my thanks to 
the staff and executive of Destination NSW for their 
significant contributions during this often 
challenging year.

In conclusion I acknowledge the former Chairman of 
the Tourism NSW Advisory Board Les Cassar AM, MOM, 
KSJ and thank the outgoing members of the Events 
NSW and Tourism NSW Boards for their contributions.

John Conde AO 

Chairman’s Foreword

John Conde AO 
Chairman 
Destination NSW
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About Destination NSW

Destination NSW is the lead government agency for the 
New South Wales tourism and major events sector. It 
was established under the Destination NSW Act 2011 with 
a charter to achieve economic and social benefits for the 
people of New South Wales through the development of 
tourism and the securing of major events. 

The new agency merged the functions of four 
government-funded entities – Tourism New South 
Wales, Events New South Wales, the Homebush Motor 
Racing Authority and the Greater Sydney Partnership.

Tourism New South Wales (Tourism NSW) was a 
statutory authority, which operated under the Tourism 
New South Wales Act of 1984. Its principal objectives 
were to promote travel to and within New South Wales 
and co-ordinate the development of ventures relating 
to tourism.

Events New South Wales Pty Ltd (Events NSW) was a 
government-funded company established in late 2007 
to secure and develop events for Sydney and Regional 
NSW which would maximise economic, strategic and 
community benefits for the state. 

The Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) was 
established under the Homebush Motor Racing (Sydney 
400) Act 2008 with responsibility for the preparation, 
management and conduct of the works associated  
with the annual V8 Supercar motor race at Sydney 
Olympic Park.

The Greater Sydney Partnership (GSP) was established 
in April 2010 as a not-for-profit entity with founding 
partners comprising the Committee for Sydney, the 
Sydney Business Chamber and the Tourism & 
Transport Forum. It received $4 million in seed funding 
from the NSW Government and sought to create a 
marketing alliance of Sydney-based organisations from 
a wide range of industry sectors to promote the city.

Constituted as a statutory authority, Destination NSW 
is governed by a Board of Management and is subject 
to the control and direction of the Minister for Tourism 
and Major Events, Hospitality and Racing, and Minister 
for the Arts. It is principally funded by the NSW 
Government. Destination NSW is part of a cluster of 
agencies under the responsibility of the Director General 
of the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional 
Infrastructure and Services (NSW Trade & Investment). 

Role
Destination NSW is responsible for devising and 
implementing strategies to grow the state’s visitor 
economy, with a particular focus on driving tourism and 
acquiring and developing major sporting and cultural 
events for Sydney and Regional NSW.

In addition, through its role as principal investor in 
Business Events Sydney (BE Sydney), Destination NSW 
aims to secure more international conventions, 
incentive travel reward programs, corporate events 
and exhibitions for Sydney and Regional NSW. 

Vision
For Sydney and New South Wales to be among the 
world’s most successful tourism and events 
destinations.

Mission
To double overnight visitor expenditure by 2020 and to 
maximise the benefits of the visitor economy for New 
South Wales.

Strategic objectives
1. Position Sydney and New South Wales as world-

leading tourism and events destinations.

2. Attract and secure high-value major events.

3. Build a sustainable events calendar for New South 
Wales.

4. Increase industry stakeholder and customer 
engagement.

5. Deliver value in partnership/co-operative programs.

6. Create and sustain a high-performance organisation.

In conjunction with other organisations, such as 
Business Events Sydney, Regional Tourism 
Organisations (RTOs), Councils and industry, 
Destination NSW will implement the approved 
strategies of the Visitor Economy Taskforce.
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Visitor Economy Taskforce
The NSW Government established the Visitor Economy 
Taskforce (VET) to develop an integrated strategy that 
can deliver its target of doubling overnight visitor 
expenditure to New South Wales by 2020. The 
Taskforce is one of six established to develop strategies 
for positioning key sectors of the New South Wales 
economy for growth.

In 2011 the VET carried out one of the most extensive 
stakeholder engagement processes ever undertaken  
in the NSW tourism and events sectors.

The Taskforce’s recommendations – effectively 
delivering a blueprint for Destination NSW to achieve 
its 2020 targets – were tabled before the Minister in 
June 2012.

A whole-of-government response to the report is due 
for release at the end of 2012.

Industry context: The New South Wales 
visitor economy
Until recently the tourism industry was generally 
defined by the public and private sector organisations 
that provide services to visitors. These services include 
accommodation, attractions, airlines, cruise ship  
and transport companies, hotels, tour operators, 
wholesale and retail distributors of travel, tourism 
industry associations, lobby groups and government 
tourism organisations. 

However, visitors travel for purposes other than 
leisure, and have an impact on many other industry 
sectors. A more representative term, which accurately 
reflects the extent of the tourism industry footprint and 
its direct and indirect contribution to the state, is the 
‘visitor economy’. 

'Visitors' include people travelling for holiday, leisure, 
education and employment purposes as well as those 
attending sporting, cultural and entertainment events; 
participating in business events; and visiting friends 
and relatives.

Customers and stakeholders
Destination NSW’s main customer base comprises 
businesses and public and private sector organisations 
operating within the visitor economy as well as 
domestic and international visitors travelling to New 
South Wales. 

Its principal stakeholder is the NSW Government,  
which represents the people of New South Wales.  
Other stakeholders include major strategic partners 
involved in destination management, visitor and 
transport infrastructure, business, investment and 
allied sectors.

Services
The services offered by Destination NSW include:

•	 Brand development and management

•	 Strategic partnership programs

•	 Market research and insights

•	 Destination development assistance

•	 Product development advisory service

•	 Market and business development programs

•	 Destination and event marketing

•	 Co-operative marketing and publicity programs

•	 Major event investment and evaluations

•	 Event leveraging activities

•	 Visitor resources and information

•	 Visual resources

•	 Investment for events and tourism activities. 
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John Conde AO, BSc, BE (Hons), MBA (Dist) 
(Chairman)

With experience in business, commerce, arts and not-
for-profit organisations, Mr Conde is also Chairman of 
Bupa Australia, the Sydney Symphony and the 
Homebush Motor Racing Advisory board. He is 
President of the Commonwealth Remuneration 
Tribunal, Deputy Chairman of Whitehaven Coal Limited 
and a Director of Dexus Property Group and The 
McGrath Foundation. His previous positions include 
Chairman of Ausgrid, Director of BHP Billiton, Chairman 
of Pacific Power and Chairman of Events NSW.

Leslie Cassar AM, MOM, KSJ

A former Chairman of Tourism NSW and the Tourism 
and Transport Forum (TTF), Mr Cassar began his career 
in aviation with Qantas, accruing more than 40 years’ 
experience in the aviation, travel andf tourism sector, 
both in Australia and internationally. In 1980 he became 
CEO and partner of The Concorde Group of Companies, 
where he oversaw the expansion of the company, the 
establishment of World Aviation Services and the final 
sale of the company to ABN AMRO in 2002. The Maltese 
Government has awarded Mr Cassar the National 
Award of Merit for his contribution to Malta’s  
aviation industry.

The Hon. Patricia Forsythe BA, DipEd

Mrs Forsythe is the Executive Director of the Sydney 
Business Chamber, which she represents on a number 
of NSW Government committees, including the NSW 
AFC Asian Cup and ICC Cricket World Cup 2015 
Steering Committee. She represents the Chamber on 
the City of Sydney Retail Advisory Panel and the Sydney 
Airport Planning Co-ordination Forum. She is a 
member of the boards of the Hunter Development 
Corporation, Sydney Children's Hospital Network, 
Cricket NSW and the Council of Macquarie University. 
Patricia represents Destination NSW on the board of 
Business Events Sydney.

Rod McGeoch AM, LLB

The leader of the successful Sydney 2000 Olympic 
Games bid, Mr McGeoch holds a number of influential 
Board positions, including Chairman of SKYCITY 
Entertainment Group, Vantage Private Equity Growth 
Limited and BGP Holdings PLC. A past-President of 
the Law Society of New South Wales, he is a Director  
of Ramsay Health Care Limited and Co-Chairman  
of the Australia New Zealand Leadership Forum.  
He is also a Trustee of the Sydney Cricket Ground 
Trust and a former Chairman of the Committee for 
Sydney. Mr McGeoch plays a leading role in a variety 
of community, cultural and welfare organisations.

Russell Balding AO, B Bus, DipTech (Comm), FCPA,  
MAICD (Deputy Chairman)

Mr Balding is a Non-Executive Director of Cabcharge 
Australia Limited and a member of the Board of Racing 
NSW. He has held senior positions in a number of 
major organisations requiring extensive government, 
stakeholder, community and customer interaction. 
He recently chaired the Visitor Economy Taskforce, 
established by the NSW Government to develop a 
strategy to double overnight visitor expenditure to NSW 
by 2020. His previous roles include CEO of the Sydney 
Airport Corporation and Managing Director of the 
Australian Broadcasting Corporation (ABC).

Sandra Chipchase B Bus Comm, GAICD

Winner of the 2011 National Award for Outstanding 
Contribution to the Meeting and Events Industry, 
Destination NSW's CEO is a member of the Visitor 
Economy Taskforce, the Brand Australia Advisory 
Board, Project Steering Committee for Sydney 
International Convention, Exhibition and Entertainment 
Centre, the City of Sydney Retail Advisory Board and 
board member, Business Events Sydney. Previous 
roles include CEO of the Melbourne Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, senior roles in Europe and USA with 
Australian Tourist Commission and Executive Director 
– Australia Pavilion, World Expo 2000.

Wendy Machin BA (Comms), M (Comm)

The first woman elected to represent the National  
Party in the NSW Legislative Assembly, Ms Machin  
is President of NRMA Motoring and Services and a 
Director of the Australian Automobile Association.  
She also serves on the Board of the National 
Occupational Licensing Authority (NOLA) and is a 
Member of the ANZ Stadium Advisory Committee.  
Ms Machin has served as a Member of the Migration 
and Refugee Review Tribunal, President of Save the 
Children Fund NSW, Deputy Chair of the Australian 
Republican Movement and also on the National Council 
for the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect. 

Mark I. Paterson AO, B Bus, FAICD, FAIM, FRMIA

In 2011 Mr Paterson was appointed Director-General  
of the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional 
Infrastructure and Services. Prior to this, he was 
Secretary and Chief Executive of the Commonwealth 
Department of Innovation, Industry, Science and 
Research. Mr Paterson was Secretary of the former 
Department of Industry, Tourism and Resources,  
and Chief Executive of the Australian Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, Australia’s leading business 
representative organisation. He was also head of the 
Retailers Council of Australia and the Retail Traders 
Association of NSW.
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Organisation Chart 2011/2012

MINISTER FOR 
TOURISM AND 

MAJOR EVENTS 

CHAIRMAN  
AND BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER

Events

Events

Event Marketing and  
Strategy

Operations and 
Communications

Homebush Motor  
Racing Authority

Chief Financial Officer 
(Events)

Tourism Marketing and 
Communications

Regional Tourism

Visit Sydney

Tourism Operations

Event Evaluation and Assessment

Event Development and Support

Event Project Management 

Business Events Sydney Funding

Event Market Intelligence

Event Strategy

Event Marketing and Leveraging

Corporate Affairs

Ministerial Communications

Corporate Communications

Operations

V8 Event Delivery

Stakeholder Management

Motor Industry Engagement

Planning

Research and Insights

Event Evaluation

Finance

Brand Marketing

PR and Media

Digital Campaigns and Strategy

Advertising

Creative Services

Regional Marketing

Regional Development Grants

Regional Flagship Events Program

Regional Tourism Partnership Program

International Marketing

Airline Partnerships

Sydney Partnerships and Precincts

Trade Missions

Trade Famils

Incentive Fund Management

Tourism Strategy and Insights

Corporate Services Support

Operational Support

HMRA

Corporate 
Services 

Tourism

Following an extensive review a new organisational structure was approved by the Board and 
presented to staff at the end of June 2012. The new structure took effect in July 2012.
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CEO’s Report: The Year in Review

In 2011/2012 the challenge was to deliver and drive 
organisational performance at the same time as 
we were establishing the corporate infrastructure 
for the new entity. It was crucial that the process of 
transitioning four organisations into one did not disrupt 
major event, marketing and business engagement 
programs. It was also important that Destination NSW 
acted quickly in order to generate the momentum New 
South Wales industry needs to stay on track for growth.

International activity
Australian tourism is under pressure due to declining 
international visitors in several markets caused by 
factors such as the high Australian dollar and ongoing 
fallout from the global financial crisis and European 
debt crisis.  

A key element of Destination NSW’s visitor strategy 
is to engage with national and international carriers to 
increase airline services into New South Wales through 
Sydney and regional airports (particularly from the 
fast-growing Asian markets). Working in association 
with Sydney Airport and Tourism Australia, the 
organisation has been successful in encouraging and 
securing new low-cost carriers onto New South Wales 
routes. These include Scoot (100 per cent owned by 
Singapore Airlines) and AirAsia – between them the 
two carriers will add more than 750 seats into Sydney 
every day, generating an economic impact of more than 
$284 million per year.  

Considerable success was also achieved in developing 
a series of strategic airline partnerships, which have 
secured millions of dollars worth of additional 
promotional investment in New South Wales 
campaigns. Through successful negotiations we were 
able to sign new partnership agreements with fifteen 
airlines, adding more than $11.5 million in co-operative 
marketing investment in New South Wales.

International market development was also a priority 
and we made some significant breakthroughs in 
engaging the fast-developing China market. As 
traditional long-haul markets such as the US, UK and 
Europe came under pressure, the importance of the 
China market in achieving our 2020 growth targets 
became more evident. In 2011/2012 Chinese visitor 
arrivals increased by fifteen per cent and delivered a 
five per cent jump in overnight expenditure. Forecasts 
for growth indicate that by 2020 China will be New 
South Wales’s largest international market in terms of 
visitor arrivals, visitor nights and expenditure.

Development initiatives included the signing of a 
Memorandum of Understanding with the Chengdu 
Municipal Government and its Tourism Bureau. 
Chengdu is China’s fourth largest city and, by 2020, 
will be the major tourism hub for the central western 
region of mainland China.  

We significantly increased our focus on expanding 
New South Wales’s product presence in China which 
resulted in significant growth from this market. We 
co-ordinated the largest ever product supplier mission 
to China and followed up this initiative with activities 
aimed at capturing demand for luxury and golfing 
experiences. 

Destination NSW’s sponsoring of a VIP visit by some 
of China’s top performing wholesalers resulted in the 
market release of new luxury programs to Sydney and 
Regional NSW. We were the first Australian tourism 
office to capitalise on the Chinese avid interest in golf, 
developing a 164-page guide in Mandarin to promote 
nineteen major courses in and around Sydney.  

Other international achievements included the 
announcement of the opening of a Destination NSW 
office in Mumbai to grow the Indian market. The office 
will be co-located with the NSW Trade & Investment 
Office and recognises the importance of the Indian 
market to the New South Wales visitor economy.

Domestic marketing
We created a new corporate identity and branded it 
across all our activities. The new logo symbolises the 
rich diversity of the state’s landscape and Sydney’s 
iconic harbour and Opera House, reflecting a 
contemporary and dynamic representation of  
the new organisation. 

Our domestic focus was to initiate immediate and 
productive engagement with the industry. Within three 
months of establishment we developed Destination 
NSW’s first consolidated Co-operative Marketing 
Prospectus outlining resources, services, funding, 
marketing and promotional opportunities. It was 
distributed to more than 10,000 industry operators and 
event organisers and generated massive engagement 
with our programs.

The next part of our agenda was to review all campaign 
activity for Sydney and Regional NSW with the aim of 
refreshing the Sydney and New South Wales brand 
messaging and increasing its impact. We also ensured 
that event promotion became an intrinsic part of our 
overall communications platform.

Sandra Chipchase 
Chief Executive Officer 
Destination NSW
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The new ‘Love Every Second’ Sydney campaign 
attracted more than $500,000 in co-operative 
investment from industry and delivered record 
increases for New South Wales in destination appeal, 
website visits, leads to industry and social media 
engagement. The campaign’s support for the Vivid 
Sydney festival contributed to a 25 per cent increase 
in attendance.

Destination NSW also partnered with regional 
stakeholders to launch a series of new destination 
marketing campaigns featuring fresh, new creative 
executions that reflect the unique selling point of each 
participating destination and geared towards growing 
the Short Breaks market.  

As campaign structures developed we focused on 
increasing their reach and impact by forming strategic 
partnerships with airlines, travel distributors, and 
industry groups. We made strong connections with the 
corporate sector, securing event sponsorship 
agreements to grow signature events such as Sydney 
Festival, Vivid Sydney and Parramasala.

A priority in domestic markets was to reactivate travel 
agent support for New South Wales. This was achieved 
through an innovative $4 million marketing partnership 
with Jetset Travelworld Group (JTG). As a result, Qantas 
Holidays (which is part of JTG) produced its first 
New South Wales holiday brochure in seven years. 
The partnership gives the New South Wales product 
significant distribution expansion via thousands of 
travel agents in Australia and New Zealand.

The year also saw a significant emphasis on product 
development in Regional NSW. Destination NSW 
supported development of 129 tourism projects: 
investing more than $5 million to deliver on the 
NSW Government’s election commitment to assist 
small- and large-scale product development projects.

Events
In 2011/2012 we announced more than 30 new major 
sporting and cultural events for New South Wales; 
invested in revitalising and expanding signature events 
on the New South Wales calendar to ensure their 
sustainability; and boosted event advertising and 
promotions in Sydney and New South Wales campaigns 
which achieved record attendance for key events.

Between July 2011 and April 2012 Destination NSW 
supported events attracted more than 3.3 million 
attendees, including 295,000 from interstate and 
overseas.The 56 events we supported during this 
period delivered a net economic impact to the state  
of more than $326 million.

There were many highlights over the year but there is 
no doubt that, in terms of economic impact, three 
‘blockbuster’ exhibitions – Harry Potter: The Exhibition 
and the International Art Series: Picasso Masterpieces 
from the Musee National Picasso Paris and Rafael 
Lozano-Hemmer: Recorders – were absolute standouts, 
together attracting more than 705,000 people including 
an estimated 120,000 from interstate and overseas 
markets.

The spectacular Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour, 
Vivid Sydney and the renowned Sydney Festival 
ensured that Sydney was positioned as one of the 
world’s most innovative and desirable capitals, with 
each event attracting headlines around the world. 
High-profile sporting events such as the NRL Grand 
Final, the Australian Open Golf Championship, the 
Apia International Sydney and the inaugural Australian 
Open of Surfing also attracted strong national and 
international media interest.

Community engagement with New South Wales events 
also grew with Sydney New Year’s Eve, the World Rally 
Championships in Coffs Harbour, the eight-month 
season of Mary Poppins the Musical and the NRL Grand 
Final all generating strong levels of community support 
and pride. The Sydney Mardi Gras Parade, which 
Destination NSW enhanced by securing Kylie Minogue 
to perform at the event, also scored highly as a visitor 
and community favourite.  

Organisation
The stability and strategic direction of the organisation 
were bolstered by the NSW Government’s four-year 
commitment to an annual funding base of $125 million 
and the tabling in June of the recommendations of the 
NSW Visitor Economy Taskforce. Both these initiatives 
have given Destination NSW an extremely strong 
platform from which to deploy future operations.

An intensive organisational review including the 
development of a new Performance Management 
System and a review of Policies and Procedures also 
delivered a new structure for the organisation aimed 
at reducing duplication, achieving operational savings 
and ensuring that we have the necessary resources to 
implement the strategies required to meet our growth 
targets. The new structure took effect in July 2012.

CEO’s Report: The Year in Review CONTINUED
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Innovation
A key value for Destination NSW is high performance 
through innovation and I am particularly proud of the 
way in which the organisation is setting new 
benchmarks in marketing and digital innovation.  
This year our digital assets – including our websites, 
Facebook pages, mobile and tablet apps, digital 
campaigns and resources – have all been redeveloped 
with outstanding results. For example, we introduced 
our first social media campaign in China for Vivid 
Sydney which was directly responsible for delivering 
more than 4,000 Chinese visitors to the event.

Our consumer websites visitnsw.com and sydney.com 
are now the most visited state tourism organisation 
websites in Australia and New Zealand, having 
attracted more than eight million visits and generated 
around 1.65 million leads to industry. Our social media 
channels are the largest within the NSW Government 
and our fan sites are now in the top one per cent of all 
Facebook fan pages in the world. 

The year ahead
The outlook for 2012/2013 is dynamic and will feature 
targeted change through a series of major national and 
international projects already in development. The NSW 
Visitor Economy Taskforce has given us a strategic 
blueprint and the organisation is ready to take action.

In international markets a major focus will be China, 
where we intend to leverage the diverse opportunities 
on offer. Our China Strategy will soon be released and 
we will significantly expand activities to ensure that 
New South Wales secures substantial market share 
and harnesses the potential of the market.

Our approach for all international markets will 
remain extremely flexible. We are expecting that 
economic conditions will continue to influence changes 
in consumer behaviour and demand and we will need 
to move quickly to both protect traditional markets 
and capitalise on markets showing growth. Aviation 
development, business and product development 
activity will remain crucial.

We are also actively working to secure new events 
for the NSW Events Calendar: targeting a mix of 
sporting, cultural, lifestyle and regional events to 
build on the success of high-profile major events 
such as Vivid Sydney.

In our marketing programs we are planning further 
exploration of digital channels, utilising the power 
of social media. The work we have done this year has 
provided many insights into this fast changing medium 
and we are now in a position to make further gains.

We have an outstanding opportunity to create the 
change and results we all want to see and, with the 
support of Government and industry, the Destination 
NSW Board and our staff, 2012/2013 looks to be  
a year in which New South Wales achieves new levels 
of success. 

Sandra Chipchase 
CEO
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Sources of Funds

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 2011-12
Budget Structure
Destination NSW  is a NSW statutory body   under the Destination NSW Act 2011 (created on 1 July 2011).  Destination NSW 
comprises all the entities under its control, namely Destination NSW Division and Events NSW Pty Ltd.

Destination NSW falls within the Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services cluster of the NSW Government.

Destination NSW encompasses the functions of the former Tourism NSW, Events NSW Pty Ltd, and the Homebush Motor Racing 
Authority.  

This summary represents the consolidated financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Sources of Funds ( $135.1 million)
Total revenue for Destination NSW for the year ending 30 June 2012 was $135.1 million.
The main sources of revenue were recurrent  government grants from NSW Treasury $127.9 million, contributions received 
from Industry and other parties $4.4 million to participate in marketing activities and other income $2.8 million. Graph data- do not print

NSW Treasury 126.3
Other contributions 4.4
Other income 4.4

Application of Funds ( $135.2 million)
Operating expenditure for the year ending 30 June 2012  was $135.2 million. Of this total $18.3  million was for Employee 
related costs, $97.9 million for Program expenses (Tourism $44.9 million  and Events $53.0 million), $11.1 million to other 
entities (Business Events Sydney $ 5.7 million and Homebush Motor Racing Authority $5.4 million) and $7.9 million related to 
Other operating expenditure.

Graph data- do not print
Tourism  Program activities 44.9
Events Program activities 53.0
Payments to Business Events Sydney, 5.7
Payments to Homebush Motor Racing Authority, 5.4
Employee related costs 18.3
Other Operating costs 7.9

3%3%

93%

SOURCES OF FUNDS

NSW Treasury
Other contributions 
Other income 
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OPERATING EXPENDITURE 
Tourism  Program activities
Events Program activities
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Tourism  Program activities
Events Program activities
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●  94% NSW TREASURY

●  3% OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS

●  3% OTHER INCOME

94%

Financial Overview 2011/2012 

Budget Structure
Destination NSW is a New South Wales statutory body 
under the Destination NSW Act 2011 (created on 1 July 
2011). Destination NSW comprises all the entities 
under its control, namely Destination NSW Division and 
Events New South Wales Pty Ltd.

Destination NSW falls within the Trade and Investment, 
Regional Infrastructure and Services cluster of the 
NSW Government.

Destination NSW encompasses the functions of the 
former Tourism NSW, Events New South Wales Pty Ltd, 
the Homebush Motor Racing Authority and the Greater 
Sydney Partnership. 

This summary represents the consolidated financial 
performance for the year ending 30 June 2012.

Sources of Funds ($135.6 million)
Total revenue for Destination NSW for the year ending 
30 June 2012 was $135.6 million.

The main sources of revenue were: recurrent 
Government grants from NSW Treasury, $127.9 million; 
contributions received from Industry and other parties 
to participate in marketing activities, $4.4 million; and 
other income, $3.3 million.
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Strategic Objective 1  
Position Sydney and New South Wales as world-leading tourism and events 
destinations

Key Performance Indicators
Target 

2011/2012
Actual 

2011/2012
% 

Achieved Comment

Growth in total New South Wales visitor nights (millions)

Total 156.6 150.6 96% Note 1

Domestic 82.1 84.5 103%

International 74.5 66.1 89%

Growth in total overnight expenditure ($ billions)

Total 21.4 20.2 94% Note 2

Domestic 13.9 14.1 101%

International 7.5 6.1 81%

Brand tracking: recognition of Sydney and Regional NSW offering compelling visitor experiences

Consumers considering New South Wales 
destinations for a holiday or short break

80% 85% 106% Note 3

Consumers planning to visit New South Wales in the 
next 12 months

40% 44% 110% Exceeded

Note 1 Growth in total visitor nights: Achieved growth in domestic visitor nights but fell short of target because of 
the decrease in international visitor nights from traditional markets such as Europe and the UK, which have been 
adversely affected by economic factors associated with the GFC and European debt crisis.

Note 2 Growth in total overnight expenditure: Achieved a marginal increase in expenditure over 2010/2011 but fell 
short of 2011/2012 target because of the decrease in international visitor nights.

Note 3 Brand tracking targets: Exceeded targets due to the positive impact of new campaigns and the slow return to 
growth of the domestic market.

AWARDS

Sydney was voted the world's number one city in the 2011 Conde Nast Traveler Reader's Choice Awards. 

Sydney named World’s Best Festivals and Events City by the International Festivals and Events Association for the second year in 
a row. 

US Travel + Leisure magazine awarded Sydney eighth place in its list of Top 10 Cities in the World.

The Guardian newspaper in the United Kingdom named Vivid Sydney as one of the “Top Ten Ideas Festivals in the World”.

The Mercer Quality of Living Survey ranked Sydney eleventh in world in terms of standard of living (making it the highest ranked 
city in Australia).

Sydney and four other New South Wales destinations featured in the Wotif.com list of top twenty places booked in Australia. 
Sydney topped the leader board.

The 2012 Australian Gourmet Traveller Restaurant Awards placed seven Sydney restaurants in its top ten, including its top two 
restaurants, Marque and Quay.

Destination NSW Performance 2011/2012
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Strategic Objective 2  
Attract and secure high-value major events 

NEW EVENTS ANNOUNCED IN 2011/2012

Festivals Continued funding for Vivid Sydney

Continued funding for Sydney Festival

Continued funding for CMC Rocks the Hunter

Continued funding for Sydney Film Festival

Entertainment The Paris Opera Ballet for 2013

An Officer and a Gentleman – the Musical world premiere

Continued funding for the Helpmann Awards, ARIAs and ACCTAs

Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour

Legally Blonde – the Musical

Richard III

Strictly Ballroom – the Musical

The Addams Family – the Musical

The Lion King – the Musical

Harry Potter: The Exhibition

Sydney International Art Series – Anish Kapoor and Francis Bacon

The Immortal Alexander the Great: 2000 Years of Treasures

Sport 2013 British and Irish Lions Rugby Tour

2013 Special Olympics Asia Pacific Regional Games

2014 FIFA World Cup Asian Qualifiers

Australian Athletics Championships 2013

Australian Junior Athletics Championships 2012, 2014, 2015

Billy Dibb v Alberto Servidei (Italy) Boxing Match

Davis Cup World Group Play Off 2011 – Australia v Switzerland

Fuelarama, Newcastle

Inter Dominion 2013–2015 (Harness Racing)

London 2012 Olympic Games football qualifiers

National Cutting Horse Association Futurity

Newcastle and the Hunter Super Events Month – March 2012

Sydney International Rowing Regatta 2013–2014

Sydney Track Classic 2012–2015

Tiger Woods at the Emirates Australian Open

Touch Football World Cup 2015

Yonex Australian Badminton Open

Wollongong Gran Fondo and Multi-Sport Festival

Destination NSW Performance 2011/2012 CONTINUED



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/2012 Destination NSW Performance 2011/2012  17 

Strategic Objective 3  
Build a sustainable events calendar for New South Wales

EVENT ATTENDANCE: JULY 2011 – APRIL 2012

Key Performance Indicators
Interstate 

unique attendees
International 

unique attendees
Total  

unique attendees Comment

Attendance Sydney events 241,138 57,137 3.1m Note 1

Attendance regional events   54,301   5,260 192,866 Note 2

Total attendance 295,439 62,397 3.3m Note 3

EVENT ECONOMIC IMPACT: JULY 2011 – APRIL 2012

Key Performance Indicators
No. of events 

evaluated
Net economic 

impact Comment

Sydney economic impact 37 $231.4m Note 4

Regional economic impact 19 $94.3m Note 5

Total economic impact 56 $326m

BUSINESS EVENTS PERFORMANCE 

Key Performance Indicators
Target  

2011/2012
Actual  

2011/2012
% 

Achieved Comment

Bids Won 74 103 139% Note 6

Delegate Days 200,000 249,787 125%

Estimated Economic Impact $185.5m $225.6m 121%

Note 1 Evaluation period: Performance figures only include data for events for which Destination NSW has provided 
investment and where evaluations have been completed covering the period July 2011 to April 2012. Evaluation 
data for the 2011/2012 fiscal year including May – June 2012 will be available later in 2012 and will be reported in 
the 2012/2013 Annual Report retrospectively. 

Note 2 Unique attendees: International and interstate figures only include visitors who came specifically to Sydney 
or New South Wales for the event or extended their stay. They do not include interstate/international visitors who 
were already in New South Wales and attended the event. No figures are as yet available for intrastate event 
attendees, although Destination NSW has recently started to measure this attendance as part of its evaluation 
process.

Note 3 Targets: Because no full-year data was available in 2010/2011, only individual event performance targets 
were set in 2011/2012. However, once Destination NSW’s first full fiscal year data has been compiled for 2011/2012 
event evaluation, the organisation will be able to use these as benchmarks for establishing targets for 2012/2013. 

Note 4 Net economic impact: The net economic impact to the state measures the net inflow of monies into New 
South Wales, primarily via visitor spend. It also takes into account monies flowing out of the state via payment to 
companies and contractors based outside of New South Wales. These figures include spending of interstate and 
international visitors who came specifically to Sydney or New South Wales for the event. Results do not include the 
impact of intrastate visitation or the impact of visitors already in New South Wales. 

Note 5 Destination NSW event investment: Destination NSW evaluates the events for which it provides investment. 
This investment is used to create and establish new events, to retain events, to acquire events and to grow existing 
events.

Note 6 Business Events Performance: Destination NSW does not implement Business Events activity but is the 
principal funder of BE Sydney, contributing $5.7 million annually plus other assistance. CEO Sandra Chipchase and 
Board Member the Hon. Patricia Forsythe are represented on the BE Sydney Board.
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Strategic Objective 4  
Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement

Key Performance Indicators 
Target 

2011/2012
Actual 

2011/2012
% 

Achieved Comment

Co-operative Marketing

No. of tourism industry organisations that invest with 
Destination NSW

300 284 95% Note 1

Value of direct co-operative funding across domestic 
& international activities

$5.0m $6.66m 133% Exceeded

Communications (hundreds)

No. of pitch and servicing engagements with media 500 495 99% Note 2

No. of co-sponsored domestic media visits to Sydney 
and regional destinations

150 150 100% Achieved

No. of media participants (domestic media famils) 250 226 90% Note 3

No. of co-sponsored international media visits to 
Sydney and regional destinations

50 103 206% Note 4

No. of media participants (international media famils) 200 338 169% Exceeded

Trade Development and Support

No. of trade missions 9 10 111% Exceeded

No. of New South Wales businesses attending  
trade missions

140 152 108% Note 5

No. of trade familiarisations 80 80 100% Achieved

No. of trade familiarisation participants 800 1542 193% Note 6

Total no. of industry meetings/events attended by 
Destination NSW reps.

660 1880 285% Note 7

Note 1 Co-operative Marketing: Destination NSW’s strategy in 2011/2012 was to establish partnership marketing 
agreements with major distribution and aviation companies. Although fewer industry operators invested in 
Destination NSW campaigns, the level of investment exceeded revenue targets and consequently the impact and 
reach of campaigns was extended. 

Note 2 Domestic Media Engagement: The changing Australian media landscape and decreasing number of travel 
outlets has affected media servicing; for example, weekly travel programs such as Getaway and The Great Outdoors 
are no longer in production, and this has resulted in limited broadcast opportunities. Moves by Fairfax and News 
Limited to appoint national travel editors has meant that media teams went from servicing six state editors to one 
national editor at each organisation. The strategic focus in 2011/2012 was also skewed towards international PR 
and servicing international media visits.

Note 3 Domestic Media Familiarisation Visits: Consolidation of Australian travel media (see note 2) also affected the 
number of participants available for domestic media familiarisations.

Note 4 International Media Familiarisation Visits: The launch of new international aviation services from Asian 
markets and increased activity in China resulted in significant expansion of the international media program.

Note 5 New South Wales Businesses Attending Trade Missions: Participation by New South Wales tourism operators 
was boosted by the addition of a new trade mission to China, which attracted the largest ever New South Wales trade 
contingent to the market. This trend reflects shifts in top-performing international markets. A strong focus by 
Destination NSW to encourage more new product suppliers to participate in overseas trade missions was also a factor.

Destination NSW Performance 2011/2012 CONTINUED
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Note 6 Participation in Trade Familiarisation Visits: New partnership agreements with distribution and aviation 
partners saw a major increase in travel agent and wholesaler participation on New South Wales trade 
familiarisation visits.

Note 7 Increased Business Meetings/Events: Figures reflect more intensive servicing of international markets by 
Destination NSW overseas offices through sales calls and trade workshops as well as stronger engagement with 
new operators to assist them to commence engagement with overseas markets.

Key Performance Indicators 
Target 

2011/2012
Actual 

2011/2012
% 

Achieved Comment

Destination and Business Development

No. of approved TASAC applications 39 39 100% Achieved

No. of tourism businesses assisted 392 619 158% Exceeded

No. of research insight fact sheets published 125 223 178% Note 8

Visits to corporate website 220,000 332,236 151% Exceeded

Grants – No. of applications received Note 9

Greater Sydney Tourism Precinct Program 14 18 129% Exceeded

Regional Tourism Partnership Program –  
Demand Building 

40 93 133% Exceeded

International Incentive Fund 100 103 103% Exceeded

Regional Flagship Events Grants  21   32 152.4% Exceeded

Note 8 Increased Research Publications: Target was exceeded due to a major project, which saw the creation of  
93 local government area visitor profiles that are critical to regional tourism planning.

Note 9 Grant Performance: In 2011/2012 Destination NSW was successful in significantly increasing industry 
engagement, which resulted in a higher number of applications and allocation of grants to destination organisations, 
tourism and events businesses. Part of the reason for this was Destination NSW's publication and distribution of a 
comprehensive co-operative marketing prospectus, which highlighted the grant programs. The prospectus was 
distributed to more than 10,000 industry operators in New South Wales.
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Strategic Objective 5  
Deliver value in partnership/co-operative programs

Key Performance Indicators 
Target 

2011/2012
Actual 

2011/2012
% 

Achieved Comment

Marketing & Communications

No. of advertising/creative campaigns developed 
(television ads, magazines, digital, radio, outdoor and 
press ads)

400 851 213% Note 1

No. of campaigns Sydney 15 44 293% Exceeded

No. of campaigns Regional 25 36 144% Exceeded

No. of campaigns International 90 54 60% Note 2

Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV) of publicity generated $80m $60.4m 75% Note 3

Consumer Response to Marketing Activity (millions)

Visits to tourism consumer websites 8.0 8.08 101% Note 4

Visits to events consumer websites .758 1.01 133% Exceeded

Business Leads to Industry generated by digital and 
campaign activity

2.0 1.65 83% Note 5

New Marketing Partnerships

Total no. of airline partnerships secured and/or renewed 15 15 100% Achieved

Value of Domestic and International airline partnerships $9.0m $11.5m 128% Exceeded

Note 1 Advertising Creative Executions and Campaigns: 2011/2012 saw the redevelopment of Sydney and 
Regional NSW campaigns. This resulted in extensive production of new ad executions and more intensive campaign 
schedules based on integrated seasonal and events campaigns for Sydney, and numerous Short Breaks and 
seasonal campaigns for regional destinations.

Note 2 International Campaigns: The number of international co-operative campaigns was reduced due to a 
strategy to consolidate campaigns with major partners, allowing much greater reach and impact.

Note 3 Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV): The failure to reach the EAV target is directly attributable to the higher 
engagement with online bloggers. The EAV methodology does not adequately reflect the value of online coverage as 
the equivalent advertising rate is still much lower than traditional media although audiences are often far greater. 
Destination NSW will be reviewing its performance measures in 2012/2013 to ensure they better reflect the level of 
engagement with media audiences. Last quarter publicity figures were also affected by the high level of 
international activity and the lag time in international reporting. 

Note 4 Consumer Response: Exceeded targets due to strong consumer response to new marketing campaigns, 
newly developed websites and use of innovative technologies, social media and search engine marketing, which 
attracted strong visitor growth to Destination NSW consumer sites.

Note 5 Business Leads to Industry: Although Destination NSW was able to achieve a 40 per cent increase in 
business leads to industry over Tourism NSW 2010/2011 figures, it was unable to deliver the target due to technical 
issues associated with the relaunch of the new tourism consumer websites. Although the sites delivered high visitor 
volumes (visits increased from around five million to more than eight million over the review period) the new 
technology used required further adjustment to better assist the conversion process.

Destination NSW Performance 2011/2012 CONTINUED
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Strategic Objective 6  
Create and sustain a high-performance organisation

Key Performance Indicators Targeted Outcomes Achieved Comment

Operational Restructure Reduction in duplication Development of 135 new/revised 
position descriptions

Achieved

Better alignment of resources to 
achieve organisational objectives

Identification of Performance Targets 
for each position

Achieved

Centralised provision of Human 
Resources support

Commenced recruitment for 30 
positions

Ongoing

Consolidation of financial and 
accounting environment

Centralised processing of 
financial transactions

Processed $135 million expenditure 
and revenue transactions

Achieved

Supporting reporting and 
administration processes

Produced organisation’s first set of 
consolidated financial statements

Achieved

Review of premises Housing of organisation in one 
premises

Completed a comprehensive review of 
office options and prepared a business 
case recommending housing in one 
office which was approved by SPA and 
Government

Achieved

Annual savings in rental and 
overheads

Delivered a recommendation to the 
Board which will deliver savings of 
$500,000 per year and improve 
internal efficiencies and 
communications

Achieved

Legal Procurement Introduction of Government 
procurement processes will 
deliver savings and ensure 
optimum corporate governance 
practices

Ensured compliance with Government 
contracts and tendering procedures

Achieved

Organisational Evaluation Organisational Evaluation 
indicates a high level of 
performance

Destination NSW achieved or exceeded  
77% of identified 2011/2012 
performance targets in its first year 

Note 1

Note 1 Organisational Evaluation: This figure does not include additional performance KPIs that were benchmarked 
in year one of operations and were successfully implemented.  
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NSW Tourism Performance 2011/2012

The general trend for New South Wales’s tourism 
industry performance for the 2011/2012 fiscal year 
was a relatively flat market in terms of visitor arrivals, 
expenditure and visitor nights. 

While small levels of growth were recorded (overnight 
visitors +1%, visitor nights +1.2% and visitor 
expenditure +0.2%), this was driven predominantly by 
the domestic market.

International performance
For the year ended June 2012, total expenditure by 
international visitors in New South Wales was $6.1 
billion – almost unchanged from the previous year.

International market performance varied substantially. 
New South Wales was able to achieve growth or a 
neutral position in seven of its top fifteen performing 
markets. Strong growth from China (+15%), Malaysia 
(+17%) and Indonesia (+10%) helped to offset a 
ten per cent decrease in UK visitation and declines of 
between two and seven per cent in European, North 
American and Korean visitor arrivals. However, this 
was not quite enough to push New South Wales’ overall 
international performance from a neutral to a positive 
growth position.

Best-performing consumer segments included the 
Education and Visiting Friends and Relatives (VFR) 
segments, which each achieved a three per cent 
growth in expenditure. 

Sydney was able to maintain its international visitation 
levels, but Regional NSW experienced a seven per cent 
decline in visitors, due in part to a fall-off in 
international backpacker visitors, who tend to travel 
further into regional areas than other visitors to New 
South Wales.

Domestic performance
New South Wales retained its national leadership in 
terms of domestic market performance, experiencing 
one per cent growth in expenditure, one per cent growth 
in overnight visitors and two per cent growth in visitor 
nights. While the number of holiday visitors declined 
(–4%), VFR visitation increased substantially (+6%).

Factors affecting performance
•	  Global economic problems – particularly the 

European debt crisis, continued to have an impact on 
international travel.

•	  The Australian dollar remained high – inflating 
by 40 per cent against the Euro, the British Pound and 
the Singapore Dollar, and by twenty per cent against 
the US Dollar since January 2008. As a result, 
New South Wales and Australia are both less 
competitive in terms of prices and have experienced 
a downturn in international visitors from many 
markets. Furthermore, the high Australian dollar 
encourages Australians to travel overseas. 

•	  Strong growth in Australians travelling overseas – 
to cheaper South East Asia Pacific Island destinations 
and the USA. This impacts on demand for domestic 
travel and remains a major competitive threat. 

•	  Queensland returned as a major competitor in the 
domestic market – following its very poor result in 
2010/2011, when floods and cyclones had an impact. 
Domestic visitation to New South Wales in that year 
experienced a small spike in visitors as more 
Australian consumers switched to New South Wales 
for their short breaks and holidays. With 
Queensland’s recovery, New South Wales tourism 
growth has returned to the previous pattern of 
increase, which has been evident since 2008. 

•	  Increased airline services to other Australian 
destinations – as other Australian States increase 
efforts to gain more airlines and more airline services, 
Sydney's share of the market is under constant threat.

•	  Consumer sentiment towards domestic travel 
shifted – in the period following the Global Financial 
Crisis (GFC), Australians entered a new period 
of ‘belt-tightening’ and saving. They also became more 
conservative in their spending habits. Overall, the 
domestic tourism offering fits well with this changed 
sentiment, and domestic tourism, which had been on a 
long, slow decline of about one per cent per annum 
throughout the decade to 2009, turned a corner and 
showed some improvement. The latest results indicate 
that growth in domestic travel demand has come 
mainly from people travelling for the purpose of 
business or visiting friends and relatives.
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Tourism Snapshot: NSW Year Ending June 2012

TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS (MILLIONS)  

Australia  80.67

NSW  27.67

Growth on Previous Year: Australia  5.5%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW  0.7%

NSW Market Share Visitors:  34.3%

TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS (MILLIONS)  

Australia  481.21

NSW  150.58

Growth on Previous Year: Australia  5.6%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW  1.2%

NSW Market Share Visitor nights:  31.3%

AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY  

Australia  6.0 nights

NSW  5.4 nights

EXPENDITURE  

Total Australia  68.8 billion

Total NSW  20.2 billion

Growth on Previous Year: Australia  7.2%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW  0.2%

STATE VISITOR DISPERSAL  

Visitation to Sydney  
and Regional NSW Visitors Visitor nights

Sydney 38% 52%

Regional NSW 66% 48%

PURPOSE OF VISIT VISITORS VISITOR NIGHTS

Holiday 42% 39%

Visiting friends and relatives 37% 30%

Business 18% 10%

Other  6% 21%

Total 100% 100%

PURPOSE OF VISIT – CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR  
(YE JUNE 2011)
  Visitors  
  (millions) % chg

Holiday 11.62 -3.5%

Visiting friends and relatives 10.14 6.1%

Business 4.92 4.4%

Other  1.73 -2.7%

Total 27.67 0.7%

  Visitor nights  
Nights (millions) % chg

Holiday 59.23 -3.4%

Visiting friends and relatives 45.48 5.5%

Business 14.83 -1.9%

Other  31.03 6.1%

Total 150.58 1.2%

Source: National and International Visitors Surveys, TRA.
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TOTAL VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS

Visitors 
(millions) % chg

Visitor nights 
(millions) % chg

Expenditure  
($billions) % chg

Sydney

International 2.61 -0.6% 55.33 0.2% 5.44 -0.1%

Domestic 7.90 -0.1% 22.47 2.6% 5.61 2.5%

Total 10.51 -0.2% 77.80 0.9% 11.06 1.2%

Regional NSW

International 0.57 -7.0%* 10.76 1.1% 0.66 -5.6%

Domestic 17.59 1.1% 61.86 1.6% 8.45 -0.6%

Total 18.16 0.8% 72.63 1.5% 9.11 -1.0%

New South Wales

International 2.79 -0.5% 66.09 0.4% 6.10 -0.8%

Domestic 24.88 0.9% 84.48 1.9% 14.07 0.6%

Total 27.67 0.7% 150.58 1.2% 20.17 0.2%

Total Visitors and Visitor nights (International and Domestic Overnight)

Note: Figures add to more than 100% in some instances 
due to multiple destinations applying to some visitors.

Note: NSW total is less than the addition of Sydney and Regional NSW due to multiple destinations applying to some visitors.
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TOTAL DOMESTIC AND INTERNATIONAL VISITS – AUSTRALIA AND NEW SOUTH WALES SINCE 2000

YE June 2009 25,570
YE June 2010 26,039
YE June 2011 27,476
YE June 2012 27,675
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NEW SOUTH WALES TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS

Country of origin Visitors % chg
Nights 

(millions) % chg
Expenditure  

($million) % chg

New Zealand 386,700 -1.1% 4.27 1.9% 437 4.3%

Mainland China 335,500 15.4%* 10.11 -4.1% 1,118 4.9%

United Kingdom 313,600 -10.2%* 6.89 -1.2% 557 -7.9%

USA 281,800 -1.7% 3.97 4.8% 503 3.5%

Japan 149,300 0.5% 3.00 -3.2% 306 5.9%

NSW Top 5 International Markets

TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS – AUSTRALIA AND NEW SOUTH WALES SINCE 2000

73,660 YE June 2009
73,423 YE June 2010
76,438 YE June 2011
80,656 YE June 2012
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●  NEW SOUTH WALES VISITOR NIGHTS ('000) ●  AUSTRALIA VISITOR NIGHTS ('000)

Tourism Snapshot: NSW Year Ending June 2012 CONTINUED

* The percentage change is statistically significant

Note: Includes total number of international and domestic visits. International visitors are defined as visitors 
who stay at least one night in an Australian (or NSW) destination; domestic visitors are defined as Australian 
residents who stay at least one night at a destination at least 40kms from their home. 

Note: Includes total number of international and domestic visitor nights. Visitor nights refer to the number  
of nights spent away from home in association with individual visits.
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Destination NSW’s main Events activity is to develop a 
distinctive and compelling Events Calendar for New 
South Wales by identifying, evaluating and managing 
investment into significant and/or major events. Its 
strategy is to target the acquisition and development 
of events across different genres, including those 
associated with the arts and entertainment, sport and 
lifestyle as well as events for regional destinations.

2011/2012 achievements 
Entertainment portfolio

Musicals are a continuing focus for event acquisition 
and development because of their impact on attracting 
interstate and international visitors. Of particular 
importance is securing world premiere or Australian 
premiere musicals for Sydney, as these events can 
build the city’s global reputation as an event capital, 
generate jobs in the creative industries and attract  
big audiences. A world premiere musical secured in 
2011/2012 was An Officer and a Gentleman, and also 
announced for Sydney were the Australian premiere 
season of The Addams Family and the return of the 
ever-popular musical The Lion King for an exclusive 
eight-month season in 2013. 

‘Blockbuster’ Exhibitions broke Sydney attendance 
records in 2011/2012, with more than 705,000 people 
– 120,000 from interstate or overseas – attending 
Harry Potter: The Exhibition and the Sydney 
International Art Series exhibitions – Picasso: 
Masterpieces from the Musée National Picasso, Paris at 
the Art Gallery of NSW and Rafael Lozano-Hemmer: 
Recorder at the Museum of Contemporary Art. 

Destination NSW also supported the Australian 
Museum in its negotiations to secure Alexander the 
Great: 2000 Years of Treasures exhibition for Sydney  
in 2013.

Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour, an international 
highlight for Sydney, featured 18 performances of 
La Traviata on a floating stage with a nine-metre 
chandelier on Sydney Harbour. This monumental 
production – accompanied by a 40-piece orchestra  
and performed against the spectacular backdrop  
of the Sydney Opera House, Sydney Harbour Bridge 
and city skyline – made headlines around the world 
and positioned Sydney as an innovative and desirable 
cultural capital. 

Events

01  The Addams Family – the 
Musical

02  Picasso: Masterpieces from 
the Musée National Picasso, 
Paris

03  Alexander the Great: 2000 
Years of Treasures 
exhibition

04  Handa Opera on Sydney 
Harbour

01

02

03

04



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/2012 Events  27 

Vivid Sydney, now one of Sydney’s most creative and 
internationally acclaimed festivals, has continued to 
grow. Due to a new focus by Destination NSW on 
tourism packaging and increasing the number of 
associated business events, audiences grew by  
25 per cent to more than 500,000 unique attendees.

Sport portfolio

Football remained a strong focus for the sport portfolio 
in 2011/2012. Highlights included the announcement of 
a four-year deal with Football Federation of Australia 
(FFA) to ensure Sydney hosts three Qantas Socceroos 
Asian Qualifiers for the 2014 FIFA World Cup. The deal 
also positioned the Qantas Olyroos in Sydney and 
Regional NSW for two Asian qualifiers in the lead up to 
the 2012 London Olympic Games. 

In addition, Destination NSW secured significant events 
for other football codes, including: a ten-year deal for 
Sydney to host an annual Bledisloe Cup match and the 
Bledisloe Cup Festival Week of activities; and a three-
match deal – two to be held in Sydney, one in Newcastle 
– for the 2013 British and Irish Lions Rugby Tour. 

Harness racing benefited from Destination NSW’s 
support for Sydney’s successful bid to host the Tabcorp 
Inter Dominion Championships at Tabcorp Park for the 
next three years. 

Badminton enjoys a particularly high profile in the 
Asia-Pacific region so it was something of a coup when 
Sydney, with the support of Destination NSW, won the 
hotly contested bid to host the Yonex Australian 
Badminton Open tournament for the next two years. 
The event was previously hosted in Melbourne.

Lifestyle portfolio

With its high-profile international competition and 
associated laid-back, beach-loving lifestyle, surfing 
was celebrated at the inaugural Australian Open of 
Surfing at Sydney’s Manly Beach in February 2012. 
Attracting an audience in excess of 90,000, it was a 
multifaceted youth festival and sporting event that 
affirmed Sydney’s position on the global surfing circuit.

Destination NSW also helped the Sydney Mardi Gras 
boost audience numbers by providing support for the 
festival to feature pop icon Kylie Minogue as the 
parade’s guest of honour. Attendances for 2012 were in 
excess of 100,000.

01  Vivid Sydney illuminations
02  Socceroos will play three 

FFA Asian World Cup 
Qualifiers in Sydney

03  Tabcorp Inter Dominion 
Championships

04  Yonex Australian 
Badminton Open
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Regional portfolio

Regional highlights over the period include CMC Rocks 
the Hunter at the Hunter Valley’s Hope Estate, where 
US country stars Tim McGraw and Faith Hill appeared 
as headline acts. Other highlights for this portfolio were 
Australian Ironman Port Macquarie, Sail Port Stephens 
and Newton's Nation in Bathurst plus the roll-out of the 
National Touch League, which attracted the 
participation of more than 100 teams.

Destination NSW also provided funding to 32 regional 
events under its Regional Flagship Events program. 
This helped highly diverse events across New South 
Wales increase promotion and marketing to boost 
attendance by interstate and intrastate visitors. 

Challenges
A challenge for Destination NSW has been to continue  
to achieve an integrated operational approach across 
all levels of Government. The aim is for Destination 
NSW to provide a ‘one-stop shop’, where event 
proponents can obtain the assistance and advice to 
successfully secure and stage major events in Sydney 
and Regional NSW. This approach, which streamlines 
operations, maximises the success of major and 
signature events as well as delivering strong returns 
on state investment in events. In 2011/2012 
Destination NSW worked with a broad cross-section of 
external agencies in order to achieve this goal. 

Directions for 2012/2013
•	  Continue to develop and manage a distinctive  

Events Calendar for New South Wales that will be  
a sustainable high-value asset for the state as well  
as actively contribute to the doubling of overnight 
visitor spending by 2020.

•	  Continue to drive performance results in conjunction 
with event proponents. Where appropriate, provide 
incentive payments to encourage proponents in 
delivering results that align with the state’s strategic 
goals – a proven concept in driving event 
performance.

•	  Develop long-term prospect lists that are in 
alignment with the NSW 2020 goals for each  
event genre.

•	 Align event economic evaluation with NSW Treasury 
models.

01  Mitch Crews, Australian 
Open of Surfing

02  CMC Rocks the Hunter
03  National Touch League
04  Rally Australia 2011, Coffs 

Coast, NSW
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The Homebush Motor Racing Authority is constituted 
by the Homebush Motor Racing (Sydney 400) Act 2008  
to co-ordinate the delivery of Government services 
associated with an annual V8 Supercar motor race at 
Sydney Olympic Park and also to undertake the role of 
consent authority for the event.

Now operating under the auspices of Destination NSW, 
the Authority also provides specialist advice and input 
for other motor sport investments.

Achievements
World Rally Championship (September 2011)

The 2011 Australian round of the World Rally 
Championship was staged in the Coffs Coast Region of 
NSW from 8 to 11 September 2011. The Authority was 
assigned responsibility for the administration of the 
Motor Sports (World Rally Championship) Act 2009 as 
well as the management of the planning and consent 
processes for conducting the rally event and associated 
temporary works.

The declared rally area extended across four Local 
Government Areas – Coffs Harbour City Council, 
Nambucca Shire Council, Bellingen Shire Council  
and Clarence Valley Council. The Authority led a 
comprehensive community consultation and 
stakeholder management program, and worked in  
co-operation with other NSW Government agencies  
and local councils to deliver services in support of  
the event. This included compliance monitoring  
during the rally and overseeing the reinstatement  
of land following the event.

With few exceptions, the 2011 World Rally 
Championship was deemed a successful event  
for New South Wales. The post-event assessment 
demonstrated that the management processes 
implemented for the event met Planning Approval 
requirements. As with any event, the 2011 experience 
provides an opportunity to build on lessons learnt and 
to improve practices for future rally events.

Sydney Telstra 500 V8 Supercar Motor Race  
(December 2011)

The Grand Finale round of the 2011 V8 Supercar 
Championship Series was staged at Sydney Olympic 
Park from 2 to 4 December 2011. The Authority issued 
the authorisation to conduct the event, known as the 
Sydney Telstra 500, as well as the planning approval 
for the temporary works required for the construction 
of the street circuit to the proponent, V8 Supercars 
Australia Pty Ltd. 

The Authority managed the terms of agreement with 
the event proponent and also worked with NSW 
Government agencies to develop co-ordinated 
emergency management and traffic and transport 
plans. Rail, bus, traffic and transport networks coped 
well with the crowds and no major incidents occurred. 

The Authority led the pre- and post-event dilapidation 
processes to assess the event proponent’s compliance 
with the conditions of approval and their progress with 
the reinstatement of the Sydney Olympic Park precinct 
to pre-event condition. By mid-January the Authority 
was pleased to determine that the precinct had been 
reinstated to the satisfaction of all parties. 

Challenges
•	  Engaging the Sydney market in the V8 Supercar 

motor race on an ongoing basis when rival events are 
held around the same time of the year.

•	  Maintaining the approved works program for the 
construction of the street circuit, which is affected by 
the staging of events at Sydney Olympic Park venues 
during the build period. 

•	  Maintaining an effective stakeholder and community 
consultation program.

•	  Ensuring works authorisations for motor sport events 
issued by the Authority address all relevant 
environmental, cultural heritage and safety issues.

Directions for 2012/2013
•	  The Authority will continue to oversee the terms  

of agreement between the NSW Government and  
V8 Supercars Australia Pty Ltd, and will work with  
the event proponent, Government agencies and key 
stakeholders to ensure another successful V8 
Supercar event is delivered at Sydney Olympic Park 
in December 2012.

•	  The Federation Internationale de l’Automobile has 
confirmed that Australia will host a round of the 
World Rally Championship in 2013. It is strongly 
anticipated that the event will again be staged in the 
Coffs Coast Region. As soon as formal notification is 
received, detailed planning will commence.

Homebush Motor Racing Authority
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Tourism

Destination NSW's focus is on building the appeal  
of Sydney and New South Wales as global tourism 
destinations. It works collaboratively with key 
stakeholders to create opportunities for industry  
and event organisations to extend the reach of the 
Sydney and Regional NSW brands; to drive additional 
overnight visitor expenditure; and to optimise 
measurable business outcomes. Specific areas of 
responsibility include:

•	  The development, implementation and evaluation  
of Destination NSW’s domestic and international 
marketing programs.

•	  Partnership marketing initiatives undertaken in 
conjunction with a broad range of commercial,  
industry, event and Government organisations.

•	  International business development activities 
undertaken in conjunction with NSW tourism  
operators and international travel distributors.

•	  International market development initiatives 
undertaken with major government, airline and 
tourism industry stakeholders. 

•	  Deployment of funding programs, resources and  
expert assistance to support product and destination 
development.

•	  Management and enhancement of Destination NSW’s 
corporate relationships with organisations operating 
within the NSW Visitor Economy.

Achievements
New Sydney campaign

A new Winter seasonal campaign for Sydney, using the 
theme Love Every Second, was created. The campaign 
integrates unique Sydney experiences and event 
content to create a fresh and multidimensional 
promotional platform with which to engage Australian 
and New Zealand audiences. Industry responded 
strongly, investing more than $500,000 in the 
campaign. 

Results
The Winter campaign delivered record increases in 
destination appeal, website visits, leads to industry  
and social media engagement.

•	 Total website visits – 942,000 visits (+ 303% over 
previous year).

•	 Total generated sales leads to industry – 168,000  
(+ 75% over previous year).

•	 Twitter – 20,365 contributors generated 85,000 
tweets about Sydney, reaching an estimated audience 
of 15.4 million.

01  Love Every Second 
(Bradleys Head, harbour 
and city view – morning)

02  Love Every Second (Sydney 
Opera House sails, Vivid 
Sydney 2011)
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•	 Facebook – over the seven weeks of the campaign 
the number of participants on the Sydney fan page 
grew substantially (+17%) to 141,000 likes. 

•	 Intention to visit – responses to brand health tracking 
spiked following the campaign (42% of respondents 
declared they would visit Sydney in the next twelve 
months).

Vivid Sydney marketing

Promotional activity was fully integrated within  
the Sydney in Winter – Love Every Second seasonal 
campaign, resulting in greater consumer impact  
than previous standalone event campaigns. Strategic 
marketing partners included Intel, which renewed  
its participation for a second year, and the Australian 
Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Census. The event marketing 
strategy delivered an Australian first when Destination 
NSW and News Ltd featured an innovative transparent 
wrap of the whole Daily Telegraph newspaper in its 25 
May 2012 edition. A 24-page Vivid Sydney Guide was 
inserted into some 1.4 million metro newspapers in 
Melbourne, Brisbane/SE Queensland, Sydney, 
Regional NSW and New Zealand. 

Results
More than 400,000 unique users visited the Vivid 
Sydney website, an increase of 56 per cent over the 
previous year. Promotions in China resulted in Vivid 
being included in 26 travel programs sold by key travel 
distributors. More than 200 groups visited Sydney 
during the Vivid Festival period and a social media 
campaign accounted for attendance by more than 
4,000 Chinese nationals. Overall attendance to Vivid 
Sydney increased by 25 per cent.

New Regional campaigns

Destination NSW partnered with Regional stakeholders 
to develop and implement a broad range of destination 
marketing campaigns. Partner activity included Broken 
Hill City Council, Shoalhaven Council, Lord Howe Island 
Tourism, Snowy Mountains Tourism, Outback Tourism, 
National Parks and Wildlife Services, NSW Caravan and 
Camping Industry Association, Racing NSW, 
CountryLink, Taronga Western Plains Zoo, Accor and 
Rex Airlines. 

The Regional campaign highlights included the 
following:

Short Breaks (February/March 2012)
Destination NSW partnered with lastminute.com.au  
to promote short break destinations throughout 
Regional NSW. 
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01  Vivid Sydney China 
promotions

02  Broken Hill campaign
03  South Coast campaign
04 Outback NSW campaign
05 South Coast campaign
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TOTAL 
SILENCE. 
HAVE PERRY SANDHILLS,

WENTWORTH,
OUTBACK NSW.  

YOU EVER 
HEARD IT? 
Five minutes’ drive from Wentworth, you’ll find the Perry Sandhills, a sea of visually 
arresting desert sand dunes that march slowly along with the winds. Climb one of 
these dunes on a still day and you’ll hear something you’ve probably never heard 
before – complete and utter silence. Indeed, the connective force of this silence has 
been known to make some people feel like they have touched their inner soul. It 
really is quite an experience, especially if you live in a city. And nearby, in the classic 
Outback town of Wentworth, you’ll find a range of accommodation and refreshment 
options to suit all tastes.

To find out more, visitnsw.com/outback
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Broken Hill is Australia’s 
most extraordinary heritage 
city – home to the Palace 
Hotel. Priscilla, Queen of the 
Desert had a fabulous time 
here. And you will too.

Palace Hotel Deluxe Heritage 
Package: three-night stay 
includes breakfast, welcome 
drink and $50 dining voucher*. 

To find out more go to:  
brokenhillaustralia.com.au 

LIVE LIKE A QUEEN.
PAY LIKE A PAUPER.

$300
3 nights from 

per person*

*Subject to availability. Validity dates and condition apply.

1112-0221_BH_SAW_PH_275x172_v05.indd   1 14/06/12   2:29 PM



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/201232  Review

Results
The campaign activity generated 1.1 million visits to  
the lastminute website, resulting in 8471 hotel 
bookings for 13,354 nights. The total campaign cost 
was $55,000 for total bookings valued at $2.1 million.

Broken Hill (commenced May 2012)
Destination NSW partnered with the Inland Regional 
Tourism Organisation and Broken Hill City Council  
to increase the appeal of Broken Hill as a tourist 
destination. 

Results
The results for May and June 2012 show a 15 per cent 
increase in bookings over the same period in 2011;  
an 18 per cent increase in visitor nights booked; and  
a 19 per cent increase in the value of bookings.

Destination, product development  
and event funding programs

Destination NSW works closely with Regional 
destinations, product suppliers and event organisers 
throughout New South Wales, providing funding under 
three key programs.

•	  The Regional Tourism Partnership Program provides  
a key focus for working with Regional Tourism 
Organisations (RTOs) to align marketing initiatives.  
In 2011/2012, Destination NSW provided $4,987,906  
to support the marketing campaigns of RTOs and  
their stakeholders. Matched funding was provided  
to 93 Regional tourism projects. 

•	  The Regional Flagship Events Program aims to 
increase visitation to Regional events by providing 
support for Regional event marketing. During the 
review period, 32 events received funding – an  
increase of 35 per cent on the previous year. 

•	  In addition to the marketing grants, Destination NSW 
also administered the Government's Regional Product 
Development Program, which delivered $5 million to 
New South Wales operators to create, grow and 
enhance tourism products in Regional NSW.

International trade missions

In 2011/2012, Destination NSW conducted and/or 
participated in ten international trade missions to  
North America, New Zealand, China, Asia, the United 
Kingdom and Europe. These missions provided 
opportunities for 152 New South Wales tourism 
business and destination representatives to meet  
face to face with trade wholesalers and partners. 
Mission highlights follow:

The Destination NSW/Tourism Queensland China 
Mission 2012
The China Mission saw the largest ever contingent of 
New South Wales product, with 26 New South Wales 
operators attending the workshop sessions in Sanya, 
Hainan Province. They met with 50 of the top 
wholesalers from across China, Taiwan and Hong Kong 
who were flown into Sanya to take part in one-on-one 
business meetings. Feedback from the New South 
Wales industry participants was excellent, with 
extensive business expected to be generated as a 
result of the mission. 

International trade familiarisation visits 
During 2011/2012, Destination NSW conducted 80 
international trade familiarisations to Sydney and 
Regional NSW, bringing a total of 1,542 travel agents 
and wholesalers to New South Wales to experience 
New South Wales destinations and products first hand. 
Highlights included trade visits to showcase the Handa 
Opera on Sydney Harbour; a VIP familiarisation visit for 
Chinese wholesalers of luxury travel; and Destination 
NSW’s first Inbound Tour Operator familiarisation visit 
to Lord Howe Island. 

International campaigns
Destination NSW does not usually undertake major 
consumer campaigns in international markets; instead 
it works with industry partners such as Tourism 
Australia, airlines and travel distributors to launch  
co-operative campaigns aimed at promoting travel to 
Sydney and Regional NSW destinations. In 2011/2012, 
Destination NSW invested and assisted in co-ordinating 
54 campaigns in sixteen markets. Highlights included a 
$1 million campaign conducted with Qantas and Qantas 
Vacations to promote 2012 airfares and packages, and 
a New Zealand campaign conducted with AA Directions, 
Tourism Australia and Mondo Travel to produce a self-
drive campaign focusing on Sydney and Regional 
experiences in New South Wales. 

Airline partnerships

Destination NSW maintains a multi-airline development 
approach and works through a wide range of airline 
partnerships to increase services and access from 
international markets. In 2011/2012, Destination NSW 
developed partnership initiatives with fifteen domestic 
and international airline partners. In addition, the 
agency entered a three-year co-operative agreement 
with Sydney Airport Corporation to work collaboratively 
on increasing airline capacity into Sydney. Key airline 
initiatives follow:

Tourism CONTINUED
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Scoot Airlines 
New South Wales secured Scoot Airlines’ inaugural 
flight from Singapore to Sydney. Destination NSW 
signed a two-year MOU agreement with Scoot, and 
partnered with the airline and Tourism Australia to 
market the launch of its services to Sydney. 

Air Asia
Destination NSW also committed to a two-year MOU with 
Air Asia to stimulate travel to Sydney and New South 
Wales, and to promote new routes from Asia. Campaign 
support was provided for the commencement of 
services from Sydney in April 2012. 

China Southern Airlines
Destination NSW entered into a joint marketing 
partnership with the airline that involved support for  
a series of campaigns throughout 2011/2012. In 
addition, Destination NSW worked closely with the 
Sydney Festival to secure China Southern Airlines as a 
major sponsor for the festival. 

Publicity

Destination NSW publicity programs stepped up 
activity, taking a stronger focus on event promotion, 
providing publicity support for major Sydney and 
Regional campaigns and increasing engagement with 
developing markets, particularly China and India. The 
key focus for activity was support for visiting media 
programs, media outreach programs, promotional 
events, social media content generation and 
promotions, and major broadcast productions. The 
program was directly responsible for generating more 
than 1100 feature articles in Australia, and 1700 
editorial features in international markets plus 
extensive broadcast and digital content. 

Publicity highlights included the following:

Indian broadcast
The top-rating Indian drama series, Bade Acche Lagte 
Hain (I Love Him a Lot) visited Sydney and New South 
Wales in November 2012 through a Destination NSW 
and Tourism Australia partnership. The series, 
produced by Indian Balaji Television, visited Sydney, the 
Blue Mountains, Wolgan Valley and the Grand Pacific 
Drive to shoot eight 8-minute segments for the 
program. The segments aired in November and 
December in India to more than 42 million households 
and also ran on the Balaji digital channel.
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01  Sand boarding, Chinese 
Trade Famil

02 Scoot Airline launch
03 Air Asia inaugural visit
04 Indian drama series crew
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Australian Open of Surfing
In February 2012, the Destination Publicity team 
secured fifteen international and domestic media to 
attend the inaugural Australian Open of Surfing event 
in Manly. The top-rating US radio station KROQ reported 
daily from the event and also produced online blog 
content for the station’s website. Other highlights 
included the US magazine AFAR producing a photo 
essay on both the event and the surrounds of Manly, 
and leading surf commentator, Miles Finlay, editor of 
surf.co.nz, covering Sydney and New South Wales 
coastal lifestyle experiences.

Chinese drama series
Destination NSW, in partnership with Tourism Australia, 
supported a five-part Chinese drama series named 
Discover Your Australia, starring Chinese celebrities Mr 
Show Lo and Ms Rainie Yang. Key attractions in Sydney 
and New South Wales featured in two 10-minute 
episodes based in Sydney and two 5-minute tourism 
vignettes. The series was broadcast in April across 
Tudou.com, one of China’s largest online distribution 
platforms, to an estimated audience of ten million 
viewers across Greater China. The celebrities have a 
combined online following of more than 25 million fans.

Airline launches
A key focus for 2011/2012 was working with new 
international airline partners Scoot and Air Asia  
to generate extensive publicity in Asian markets in 
association with their commencement of services  
to Sydney. More than 60 Asian media visits were  
co-ordinated in conjunction with the inaugural flights, 
with itineraries including events such as Handa Opera 
on Sydney Harbour and The Sydney Royal Easter Show 
as well as exposure to a wide range of Sydney and 
Regional NSW experiences. 

Relaunch of flagship consumer websites

Destination NSW’s consumer websites sydney.com and 
visitnsw.com were relaunched in September 2011 with 
a new design, user hierarchy, search engine and content 
management system. The two main websites – 
together with the agency’s events sites, nswevents.com 
and vividsydney.com – have delivered significant 
engagement with consumers over the review period. 
According to online intelligence agency Experian 
Hitwise, they are now the top performing state tourism 
websites in Australia, with a 34.55 per cent share of the 
government tourism industry market. They are also 
ranked as the tenth largest travel sector websites in 
Australia. The websites collectively delivered more 
than seven million visits in 2011/2012 and 
approximately 1.76 million leads to the tourism  
and major events industries.
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Social media channels
Over the year, Destination NSW’s social media channels 
have been used extensively to promote Sydney and 
New South Wales to global audiences. They are now  
the largest social media channels within the NSW 
Government. The agency’s social media channels – on 
Facebook, Twitter and YouTube for Sydney, New South 
Wales, Events and Vivid Sydney – delivered almost 
203,000 fans on Facebook, more than 41,000 followers 
on Twitter and more than 767,000 video views on 
YouTube.

The 2011/2012 Youth Program
Destination NSW’s digital Youth Program – launched in 
early 2011 in the United States, Canada, the United 
Kingdom and New Zealand – gained momentum in 
2011/2012. It delivered a reach of more than one billion 
impressions from digital media run across Google, 
Facebook and YouTube; more than 182,000 visits to 
Destination NSW’s youth website (www.sydney.com/
workstudyplay); more than 133,000 video views of 
branded content produced specifically for the Youth 
segment; and 7,300 leads to the New South Wales 
tourism industry.

Visitor services

A Blue Mountains smartphone app, which featured all 
signposted attractions on the Greater Blue Mountains 
World Heritage Drive, was launched following 
successful development by Destination NSW, Blue 
Mountains, Oberon and Lithgow Tourism (BMLOT) and 
Australian Tourism Data Warehouse (ATDW). The 
unique feature of the app is the audio commentary, 
triggered as the user approaches signposted tourist 
attractions (brown and white roadside signs). The 
software for this pilot project was designed to be used 
for other New South Wales regions or destinations. 
Since October 2011 there have been 1,510 downloads.

Cruise ship services
Destination NSW initiated discussions with City of 
Sydney to create a trial Meet and Greet service for 
passengers arriving on international cruise ships from 
January to April 2012. Destination NSW provided the 
signage and training, while City of Sydney supplied the 
staff. From the fifteen ships serviced, 5450 passengers 
requested information or brochures. A full Meet and 
Greet service will be in place for the cruise season in 
2012/2013.
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01  Mutawintji Aboriginal 
tourism ad for Outback 
campaign

02  Business support 
resources

03  Business support – 619 
operators were assisted

Destination services

Destination NSW has been working in partnership  
with the Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) to deliver 
quality tourism information in roadside rest areas 
along the Pacific Highway. Twenty rest areas on the 
new Pacific Highway, where it now bypasses key 
tourism destinations, have been selected. The first pilot 
site, at Paddys Rest near Macksville, was launched on 
19 December 2011. Destination NSW contributed 
design, mapping, images and tourism content to the 
project, which is funded by RMS. An additional ten sites 
will be established during 2012, and the remainder will 
be completed during the following year. In other 
roadside initiatives the Tourist Attractions Signposting 
Advisory Committee (TASAC) held twelve meetings in 
Regional NSW to discuss and evaluate signposting 
applications. For the twelve months in 2011/2012,  
44 applications were received and 39 were deemed 
eligible; TASAC dealt with 129 enquiries.

Aboriginal tourism

Destination NSW has completed a full audit and update 
of Aboriginal products and experiences within New 
South Wales. The audit has enabled the agency and 
other key stakeholders to co-ordinate targeted 
development and marketing opportunities. Destination 
NSW has provided regular ongoing assistance to 
twenty emerging and/or market-ready NSW Aboriginal 
businesses with tourism-specific product development 
support. An additional nine NSW Aboriginal tourism 
products have been provided with development 
support to assist them in becoming members of the 
national Indigenous Tourism Champions Program. An 
initiative of Tourism Australia, Indigenous Business 
Australia and the State Tourism Organisations, this 
program is aimed at encouraging quality standards and 
consistency of service in Aboriginal tourism 
enterprises. 

Business support programs

Destination NSW engaged with 619 tourism businesses 
during the year. Assistance included general 
development advice, provision of relevant resources 
such as toolkits and fact sheets as well as 
introductions to key New South Wales programs. The 
Business Toolkit, aimed at helping tourism operators 
develop their businesses and work effectively in the 
marketplace, recorded more than 3500 page views, a 
strong uptake.
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Long before  
rome, greece 
and egypt,  
there was 
mutawintji. mutawintji

nationaL park,
outback nsw

Few sights rival the discoveries you’ll make among the rock faces and overhangs that 
dominate the astonishing Mutawintji National Park in Outback NSW. You’ll find Aboriginal 
rock art and engravings providing evidence of a culture that has inhabited the area 
continuously for around 40,000 years, predating most western cultures by several millennia. 
Located less than 90 minutes from Broken Hill, with good camping and caravanning facilities 
and the chance to meet with some Aboriginal traditional owners, the Mutawintji National 
Park is a must-see on your next Outback NSW tour. 

to find out more go to: visitnsw.com/outback
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Challenges
•	  More than $500 million is spent in Australia each year 

by competitive destination advertisers within the 
travel and accommodation category, making 
Destination NSW marketing campaigns and message 
cut-through a significant challenge.

•	  Media fragmentation resulting from the 
transformation of the traditional television and print 
channels as a result of digital technology is another 
challenge. Consumers want increased choice and 
demand greater engagement and interaction.

•	  In order to optimise the changing travel planning/
shorter lead times and ticket-booking processes, 
industry must now constantly adapt to implement  
new technology, drive social media, and create mobile 
applications and interactive user-friendly websites.

•	  There is a continued need for Government investment 
and funding to support event owners trying to market 
in international and domestic markets to deliver 
visitor numbers. 

•	  Extensive flooding in early 2012 affected large parts  
of Regional NSW, including the North Coast, Riverina, 
New England North West and Outback regions, 
impacting on the appeal of Regional holidays.

•	  In international markets, travel distributors were 
discouraged by the strong Australian dollar, which  
is having an impact on the prices and affordability  
of Australian and New South Wales holidays.

•	  In mature overseas markets there is a strong need  
to refresh Sydney’s image by presenting a renewed 
sense of excitement and fresh experiences.

•	  There is a constant need to update perceptions, 
knowledge and appeal in order to engage 
international audiences and encourage visitation to 
Regional destinations.

Directions for 2012/2013
•	  Closely align all Destination NSW and Partner 

marketing activities to higher growth source markets 
and core target consumers in order to convert their 
travel intentions to visit New South Wales.

•	  A greater focus on encouraging advocacy and growth 
in the Visiting Friends and Relatives (VFR) segment. 
This segment is a key driver of Regional tourism, 
currently accounting for about 30 per cent of 
domestic visitation.

•	  Maintain a strong focus on the Short Breaks market,  
a key trigger for growth in domestic travel.

•	  Create compelling new content (images/video/digital) 
to showcase unique Sydney and New South Wales 
experiences, thus differentiating Destination NSW 
marketing programs.

•	  Constantly evaluate market intelligence to deliver 
innovation and impactful media channels that can 
reach key target audiences in the most efficient and 
cost-effective way. 

•	  Implement ‘world’s best practice’ digital, online and 
social media programs and broaden the scope of 
publicity programs to deliver higher reach and  
impact in target markets.

•	  Increase operational, development and marketing 
engagement with the China market.

•	  Partner with key international airlines on joint 
campaigns and continue to partner with Sydney  
Airport to increase airline services to Sydney.

•	  Develop pre- and post-cruise opportunities for  
Sydney and New South Wales.
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Corporate Services

The Corporate Services team supports the organisation 
by providing or facilitating the following services 
across Destination NSW:

•	  Human resources, technology, administration, legal 
and procurement support.

•	  Engagement with NSW Trade and Investment’s 
Shared Services operations.

•	  Tourism market research to gather, analyse and 
communicate to stakeholders the various measures  
of tourism in New South Wales and factors affecting 
the industry.

•	  Event evaluation involving the assessment of 
economic benefit to the state, marketing impact 
and community attitudes to events.

•	  Corporate planning, performance and reporting.

•	  Provision of Board Secretarial Services for the Board  
and Audit and Risk Committee.

Achievements
Corporate transition

The transition of the operations of the former Tourism 
NSW together with Homebush Motor Racing Authority, 
Events NSW and the Greater Sydney Partnership, 
established a common financial processing 
environment; linked technical systems; developed one 
set of policies and procedures and common record 
management practices; and integrated all corporate 
services functions. These included:

•	  The financial processing of $135 million of 
expenditure and revenue transactions which involved 
the development of a new accounting environment.

•	  Provision of Human Resources support and payroll 
for employees, involving the transfer of all staff from 
the former Tourism NSW, HMRA and Events NSW to 
the one central payroll system. 

•	  Maintenance of administration and technology 
environments over two premises in Sydney and 
six overseas offices.

Consolidated financial reporting

Production of the initial set of financial statements 
for Destination NSW required the determination of 
acceptable financial practices to reflect the transfer 
of Events NSW company records to the government 
accounting based Destination NSW set of books to derive 
an acceptable consolidated financial record.

Operational restructure

Organisational reviews were conducted to deliver 
improvement in operational effectiveness and efficiency. 

This was achieved by removing duplication between 
the merged entities and realigning structures to 
support new organisational objectives. The restructure 
involved working with NSW Trade & Investment and the 
Public Service Association of NSW (PSA) to implement 
an agreed change management plan.

Research and evaluation

Evaluated performance of more than 70 Destination 
NSW funded events. In addition, shared tourism 
research insights with industry, the community and 
stakeholders, through the delivery of more than 115 
fact sheets and market segment profiles, as well as 
occasional research papers. 

Challenges
•	  Establishment of a financial reporting environment  

that reflects the unique merger of State Government 
entities, which were operating under different 
accounting principles and practices.

•	  Establishment of the operating requirements of  
two different corporate environments, which were 
adopting different practices prior to merging.

•	  Provision of operational support, utilising outsourced 
Shared Services, which necessitated the 
establishment of a unique set of operational 
parameters to support Destination NSW.

•	  Managing staff in two office locations with two 
different sets of employee Terms and Conditions, 
which required HR input to identify an appropriate set 
of agreements before providing support.

Directions for 2012/2013
•	  Introduction of a Risk Management environment to 

provide appropriate governance for the organisation.

•	  Relocation of Sydney operations into the one office 
premises to improve operational efficiency.

•	  Refinement and consolidation of the technology 
environment into one system.

•	  Determination of a new set of employee terms and 
conditions for all new staff, which will involve working 
with NSW Trade & Investment and the Public Service 
Association of NSW (PSA) to agree on appropriate 
employee engagement arrangements going forward. 

•	  Introduction of new management accounting 
environment to streamline the generation of  
financial management reporting.

•	  Enhance the integration of research into strategic 
operating plans and results.

•	  Introduction of Treasury-based economic evaluation 
methodology.
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Destination NSW Senior Executive

Lyndel Gray GAICD

General Manager, Industry Partnerships 
and Government Policy*

Executive Director, Tourism

Prior to the merger of the state’s tourism and major 
events bodies to form Destination NSW, Lyndel Gray 
headed Tourism NSW for three years, between 2008 
and 2011. In that time she consolidated New South 
Wales’s position as Australia’s top tourism destination, 
delivering significant growth in market share for 
holiday visitor numbers, nights and expenditure in both 
domestic and international markets. Before joining 
Tourism NSW in 2005 Lyndel was Executive General 
Manager, Western Hemisphere at Tourism Australia, 
responsible for its Americas, UK/Europe, New Zealand, 
South Africa and Middle East operations. She also held 
senior executive roles with the Australian Tourism 
Commission (now Tourism Australia) in the USA. 

Bryan Hardman MPA 
Chief Executive Officer, Homebush Motor 
Racing Authority

In his role with the Authority, Bryan Hardman facilitates 
the staging of the annual V8 Supercar event at Sydney 
Olympic Park. Mr Hardman is a specialist in venue 
development: expertise he established through his role 
as Director Building Approvals at the former Olympic 
Co-ordination Authority to facilitate the Sydney 2000 
Olympic and Paralympic Games. In this role he issued 
the regulatory Building Approvals for all the venues 
and infrastructure associated with the Games. Before 
he was appointed to head the authority, Mr Hardman 
held an executive position with the World Youth Day 
Co-ordination Authority, the NSW Government agency 
established to co-ordinate the provision of government 
services in support of World Youth Day 2008 and the 
visit to Sydney by His Holiness Pope Benedict XVI. 

John Hopwood B Bus, CPA

General Manager, Corporate Services 
and Chief Financial Officer 

John Hopwood has an extensive background in the 
provision of the full range of corporate services in 
both government and private sector organisations. 
A certified accountant and corporate treasurer, he 
has significant experience in the Federal Government 
environment and the global tourism and banking 
industries. Mr Hopwood was previously the Chief 
Financial Officer with Events New South Wales Pty Ltd 
and is widely acknowledged for his rigorous financial 
management and risk management expertise.

Anthony Laver B Comms

General Manager, Marketing and Strategy

Anthony Laver has an established reputation as 
a specialist in events, sports and entertainment 
marketing. He joined Events New South Wales Pty Ltd 
in 2009 from his previous role as the Chief Marketing 
Officer with the Sydney Swans. Mr Laver has also held 
senior marketing roles in multinational companies 
such as Warner Bros. Consumer Products, Westfield 
Group and Volkswagen Group, China. His background 
includes extensive experience working on prestigious 
local and global events such as World Expo ’88 
(Brisbane), America’s Cup Yacht Race 1988, The 
Australian Bicentennial Authority, World Cup 1998 
(Paris) and the Sydney 2000 and Beijing 2008 
Olympic Games.

John Drummond Montgomery BA (Hons)

General Manager, Event Development

Regarded as one of Australia’s most innovative 
lighting designers, John Montgomery joined Events 
New South Wales Pty Ltd in 2008 after an extensive 
international career working with world’s best 
choreographers and directors in 95 cities in 37 
countries. Has worked with Opera Australia, Sydney 
Dance Company, Nederlands Dans Theater, Het 
Nationale Ballet, Bat-Dor Dance Company of Israel, 
The Australian Ballet and the National Theatre of Zaire. 
His event development focus for New South Wales 
reflects his broad creative and cultural background 
and has included implementation of sporting, 
exhibition and musical theatre event strategies. 

Notes:

Lyndel Gray's role changed during the year from 
Executive Director, Tourism to General Manager, 
Industry Partnerships and Government Policy.

Sally Edwards held the position of General Manager, 
Operations and Communications – Events and left 
Destination NSW on 5 October 2011. 

Geoff Parmenter held the position of CEO, Events 
New South Wales Pty Ltd and left Destination NSW 
on 15 September 2011. 
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Destination NSW Staff Profile 
The following table covers staff of Destination NSW, formed in 2011 by the amalgamation of the 
former Events New South Wales Pty Ltd, Tourism NSW, Homebush Motor Racing Authority and 
the Greater Sydney Partnership.

PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)

Total staff on 30 June 2011/2012  Men Women Total % % Men % Women

Grade 1–2    $42,104–$58,060 8.4 0 8.4 7.10 0.00 7.10

Grade 3–4      $58,249–$65,376 10.7 2 8.7 9.04 1.69 7.35

Grade 5–6    $68,671–$77,767 17.8 0 17.8 15.04 0.00 15.04

Grade 7–8 $78,142–$88,660 23.55 5 18.55 19.89 4.22 15.67

Grade 9–10 $89,076–$100,613 21.9 4 17.9 18.50 3.38 15.12

Grade 11–12 $103,026–$122,128 12 4.4 7.6 10.14 3.72 6.42

SO 1 (non SES)   $136,651–$147,245 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

SO 2 (non SES)  $149,737–$160,294 4 3 1 3.37 2.53 0.84

SO 3 (non SES) $165,658–$181,844 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

SES 1–8 9 5 4 7.59 4.22 4.26

Overseas Contractors 11 1 10 9.28 0.84 8.44

Total 118.35 24.4 93.95 100 21 79

STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS

Total staff on 30 June 2011/2012 2011/2012

Total Men Women Total % % Men % Women

Permanent Full-time 82 21 61 62.60 25.60 74.39

Permanent Part-time 11 0 11 8.40 0.00 8.40

Temporary Full-time 13 2 11 9.92 1.60 8.40

Temporary Part-time 4 2 2 3.05 1.60 1.60

Contract SES 3 0 3 2.29 0.00 100.00

Contract (non SES) 18 4 14 13.74 3.00 10.70

Training positions 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

Retained staff 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total staff on 30 June 131 29 102 100 22 78

Human Resources

Destination NSW Senior Executive 
The following table covers staff of Destination NSW, formed in 2011 by the amalgamation of the former 
Events New South Wales Pty Ltd, Tourism NSW and Homebush Motor Racing Authority 

SENIOR EXECUTIVE SERVICE (SES) PROFILE 

Total SES Officers on 30 June  2011/2012 Total

Level 7 2

Level 6 2

Level 5 1

Level 4 0

Level 3 3

Level 2 1

Level 1 0

Total 9

Note: Total SES positions filled by women on 30 June 2012 = 4 (44.4%)
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Exceptional movements in remuneration
A salary increase of 4 per cent effective from the first 
full pay period after 1 July 2011 was paid to clerical 
officers and senior officers in accordance with the 
Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries) Award 2008. 
This also resulted in an increase in the payment of the 
First Aid Allowance. 

The Statutory and Other Offices Remuneration Tribunal 
determined a performance-based increase of 
4 per cent for SES officers, effective from 1 October 
2011. All increases were subject to satisfactory 
assessment of performance. No adjustments were 
made to the recruitment and retention allowances.

These statements cover the Destination NSW staff 
from the former Events New South Wales Pty Ltd, 
Tourism NSW and Homebush Motor Racing Authority.

Executive performance
The following section covers Senior Executive Service 
(SES) officers, level 5 and above, of Destination NSW 
which includes the former Events New South Wales 
Pty Ltd, Tourism NSW and Homebush Motor Racing 
Authority. 

Sandra Chipchase 
Chief Executive Officer 
Appointed: 24 August 2011, SES Level 7 
Remuneration at 30 June 2012: $402,150 plus 
recruitment allowance of $43,000

The Director General, Department of Trade and 
Investment, has expressed satisfaction with 
Ms Chipchase’s performance throughout the period 
of her employment with Destination NSW.

Specific achievements in 2011/2012 include:

•	  Led the organisational transition and establishment 
of Destination NSW including the implementation plan 
for structural reform of the organisation. 

•	  Led integration and enhancement of Destination 
NSW’s national marketing strategies, which assisted 
the state in achieving a 1 per cent increase in 
domestic overnight visitors and a 1 per cent increase 
in domestic visitor expenditure.

•	  Oversaw development of Destination NSW’s business 
and operations plans to better assist the industry in 
achieving tourism and events targets identified by the 
NSW Visitor Economy Taskforce.

•	  Initiated the development of: major new Sydney and 
Regional NSW marketing campaigns; integration of 
Destination NSW international marketing programs; 
and establishment of an office in Mumbai, India.

Human Resources CONTINUED

•	 Negotiated event acquisitions and oversaw extensive 
development of the New South Wales Events 
Calendar, which resulted in the announcement 
of 30 new events, and funding of 56 events in the 
nine months between July 2011 and March 2012 that 
delivered a net economic impact to the state of more 
than $326 million.

•	 Secured new airline services for Sydney.

•	 Oversaw the delivery of 134 marketing campaigns 
for Sydney and Regional NSW, which included 44 for 
Sydney, 36 for Regional NSW and 54 campaigns in 
international markets. 

•	 Initiated significant market and business development 
strategies and programs with China to better position 
New South Wales and lay the necessary foundations to 
achieve 2020 growth targets.

•	 Increased innovation and extensive utilisation of 
digital technologies to increase traffic to Destination 
NSW consumer websites (www.visitnsw.com and 
www.sydney.com) to 7.97 million visits, exceeding the 
previous year by 860,000 visits. This generated 1.62 
million e-business leads to tourism industry partners.

•	 Enhanced the organisation’s external reputation 
through extensive business engagement and 
corporate communication programs.

•	 Completed duties associated with the Visitor 
Economy Taskforce including industry workshops 
and contributing to the content and editing of the 
final report.

Lyndel Gray  
General Manager, Industry Partnerships 
and Government Policy  
Executive Director, Tourism 
Appointed: November 2007, SES Level 5 
Remuneration at 30 June 2012: $282,900 

The Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW has 
expressed satisfaction with Ms Gray’s performance 
throughout the period of her employment with 
Destination NSW.

Specific achievements included:

•	 Secured 15 marketing partnerships with major 
domestic and international airline partners with a 
collective campaign value of more than $11.5 million. 

•	 Secured more than $6.67 million in co-operative 
investment in marketing programs from 
284 partners. 

•	 Oversaw the delivery of more than 253 domestic 
and international media familiarisations (with 
564 participants) which generated more than 
$60 million in publicity value. 
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•	 Oversaw Destination NSW trade familiarisation 
program which co-ordinated 80 international travel 
trade group familiarisations of New South Wales 
products and destinations with 1542 participants, 
an increase of 522 attendees (33 per cent) on the 
previous year.

•	 Achieved significant increase (35 per cent) in funded 
Regional Flagship Events to promote visitation to 
regional and rural New South Wales. 

John Hopwood 
Executive Director, Corporate Services 
Appointed: 1 September 2011, SES Level 7 
Remuneration as at 30 June 2012: $332,500

The Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW 
has expressed satisfaction with Mr Hopwood’s 
performance throughout the period of his employment 
with Destination NSW.

During 2011/2012 Mr Hopwood was responsible for:

•	 Transition of the operations of the former Tourism NSW 
together with Homebush Motor Racing Authority and 
Events New South Wales Pty Ltd into Destination NSW.

•	 Production of the initial set of financial statements for 
Destination NSW.

•	 Operational support for the restructured 
Destination NSW.

•	 Financial processing of $135 million expenditure 
and revenue transactions.

•	 Provision of Human Resources support and payroll 
for employees.

•	 Administration and Technology environments over 
two premises in Sydney and six overseas offices.

•	 Provision of tourism research insights.

•	 Evaluation of performance of around 70 events.

•	 Provision of Board Secretarial Services.

Anthony Laver 
General Manager, Marketing & Strategy 
Appointed: 1 September 2011, SES Level 6 
Remuneration at 30 June 2012: $313,922

The Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW has 
expressed satisfaction with Mr Laver’s performance 
throughout the period of his employment with 
Destination NSW.

During 2011/2012 Mr Laver was responsible for:

•	 The review, approval and joint implementation of 
92 event-owner marketing plans in which Destination 
NSW directly invests, and delivery of marketing and 
value-in-kind support for more than 30 other events.

•	 The development and implementation of the 
Destination NSW events-led marketing strategy  
and a budget to leverage the $50 million investment 
in event assets.

•	 Further development of the “It’s ON!” event-led 
campaign to launch the 2012 New South Wales 
Calendar of Events via multimedia channels (digital, 
television, print inserts and outdoor advertising).

•	 Leading the joint marketing team for the inaugural 
Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour featuring La 
Traviata, resulting in increased tickets being sold.

•	 Heading the marketing strategy and implementation 
for the 2012 Vivid Sydney campaign resulting in a 
25 per cent year-on-year increase in event attendees 
to more than 500,000. 

•	 Securing Intel as a Vivid Partner for the second 
year and securing sponsorship support from the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Census division.

John Drummond Montgomery  
General Manager, Event Development 
Appointed: 1 September 2011, SES Level 6 
Remuneration at 30 June 2012: $291,500

The Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW 
has expressed satisfaction with Mr Montgomery’s 
performance throughout the period of his employment 
with Destination NSW.

During 2011/2012, Mr Montgomery:

•	 Oversaw the Event Development Team’s success 
in negotiating for and securing quality cultural 
(and entertainment), sporting and lifestyle events 
for Sydney, Western Sydney and Regional NSW.

•	 Successfully implemented a strategy to attract 
world premiere musicals to Sydney. In 2011/2012 
this included the world premiere of An Officer and 
a Gentleman – the Musical as well as securing Baz 
Lurmann’s Strictly Ballroom and the Australian 
premieres of Legally Blonde and The Addams Family.

•	 Assisted development and implementation of two 
major inaugural events; the internationally acclaimed 
Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour and the new nine-
day Australian Open of Surfing which was held at the 
iconic Manly Beach.

•	 Implemented Destination NSW’s Museum Strategy. 
Two exhibitions supported by Destination NSW — 
Picasso: Masterpieces from the Musee National Picasso, 
Paris at the Art Gallery of New South Wales and Harry 
Potter: The Exhibition at the Powerhouse Museum 
— broke all previous attendances with record 
numbers attending from interstate.
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•	 Implemented the fourth annual Vivid Sydney festival. 
The festival was further expanded with the new 
Vivid Ideas Exchange, a hub for creative ideas and 
discussion hosted at the Museum of Contemporary 
Art (MCA). 

•	 Continued development of the strategy to activate 
Western Sydney events.

•	 The personnel services for Destination NSW are 
provided by Destination NSW Division. Although 
reported in Destination NSW’s Annual Report, 
members of the staff are employees of Destination 
NSW Division.

Geoff Parmenter  
CEO Events New South Wales Pty Ltd 
Appointed: 4 February 2008, SES Level 8 
Resigned: 15 September 2011 
Remuneration: $415,702 p.a.

Sally Edwards 
General Manager, Operations and Communications 
– Events New South Wales Pty Ltd 
Appointed: 29 October 2007, SES Level 6 
Resigned: 5 October 2011 
Remuneration: $291,500 p.a.

Agreements with the  
Community Relations Commission
Destination NSW had no agreements in place with the 
Community Relations Commission during 2011/2012.

Exemptions from reporting provisions
Destination NSW is exempt from reporting on the 
following matters:

•	 Disability

•	 Equal employment opportunity

•	 Multicultural policies and services program

•	 Occupational Health and Safety

•	 Waste.

The organisation has a FTE of fewer than 200 people: 
as such, it is classified as a ‘small’ statutory authority 
and is only required to lodge a triennial report on the 
matters listed above. As 2011/2012 is Destination 
NSW’s first year of operation, its triennial reporting 
will be lodged in the 2013/2014 Annual Report. 

Human Resources CONTINUED
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Corporate Governance

Destination NSW Board of Management
Method of appointment and term of board members

Under the terms of the Destination NSW Act 2011, 
members of the Board of Management of Destination 
NSW are appointed by the Minister for Tourism, Major 
Events, Hospitality and Racing, and Minister for the Arts. 
The Board consists of a Chairperson (also appointed by 
the Minister), individuals with relevant skills and 
experience, the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Director-General of the Department of Trade and 
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services. 
Each member holds office for the term (not exceeding 
five years) specified in his or her instrument of 
appointment. If they are otherwise qualified, members 
are eligible for reappointment for additional term(s).

Board members

John Conde AO, BSc, BE (Hons), MBA (Dist) (Chairman)
Russell Balding AO, B Bus, DipTech (Comm), FCPA, 

MAICD (Deputy Chairman)
Leslie Cassar AM KSJ MOM
Sandra Chipchase B Bus Comm, GAICD (CEO of 

Destination NSW)
The Hon. Patricia Forsythe BA, DipEd
Rod McGeoch AM, LLB
Wendy Machin BA (Comms), M (Comm)
Mark I. Paterson AO, B Bus, FAICD, FAIM, FRMIA 

(Director-General of the Department of Trade and 
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services)

Board meetings

The Destination NSW Board met on six occasions 
during 2011/2012. The attendance record of each 
member was: John Conde (5/6), Russell Balding (6/6), 
Mark Paterson (6/6), Sandra Chipchase (6/6), Leslie 
Cassar (6/6), The Hon. Patricia Forsythe (6/6), Rod 
McGeoch (5/6) and Wendy Machin (5/6).

Board committees

Audit and Risk Committee
The Committee has an important role in risk 
management and audit through the endorsement 
of internal and external audit plans, the review of 
audit reports and the review of risk assessment 
and management.

This Committee also ensures the sound financial 
position of Destination NSW through regular reviews 
of its budget performance.

The Destination NSW Board Audit and Risk Committee 
met on one occasion during 2011/2012. Members on 
the Audit and Risk Committee as at 30 June 2012 were 
John Conde (1/1), Russell Balding (1/1), Mark Paterson 
(1/1), Sandra Chipchase (1/1) and Wendy Machin (1/1).

Board member representation

Visitor Economy Taskforce
Destination NSW has two Board members on the 
Visitor Economy Taskforce: Russell Balding and Sandra 
Chipchase.

Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA)
John Conde AO, the Chairman of Destination NSW, 
is also the Chairman of the Homebush Motor Racing 
Authority Advisory Board and Sandra Chipchase is 
on the HMRA Board.

Events New South Wales Pty Ltd
John Conde AO, the Chairman of Destination NSW, 
is also the Chairman of Events New South Wales Pty 
Ltd. Rod McGeoch, a member of the Destination NSW 
Board, is also a member of the Events New South 
Wales Pty Ltd Board.

Business Events Sydney
Destination NSW has two Board members on the 
Business Events Sydney Board: The Hon. Patricia 
Forsythe and Sandra Chipchase.

Legal change
Under Clause 5 (2) of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management (Mental Health Commission and Other 
Matters) Order 2012, commencing on 30 June 2012, 
section 39 of the Homebush Motor Racing (Sydney 400) 
Act 2008 has been changed to refer to the Destination 
NSW Division as being the agency which, for the 
purposes of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the 
Annual Reports (Departments) Act 1985 and any other 
Act prescribed by the regulations, the Homebush Motor 
Racing Authority is to be taken as part.

Consultants 

CONSULTANTS EQUAL TO OR MORE THAN $50,000

Consultant Funding $

Peter McLaughlin and Associates 
Visitor Economy Taskforce: Aviation 
consultancy and representation

154,550

CONSULTANTS LESS THAN $50,000

Category Number Cost $ 

Operations review 3 18,200

Human resources 1 3,000

Communications 1 5,621

Property 1 12,200

Total 6 39,021
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Disclosure of controlled entities
Destination NSW includes the following controlled 
entities:

Destination NSW Division

Destination NSW Division (the Division) was established 
as a Division of the Government Service by the Public 
Sector Employment and Management (Miscellaneous) 
Order 2011, which commenced on 1 July 2011. The 
Division is a Non-Public Service Division assigned to a 
statutory corporation pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 
of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 
2002 and falls within the Trade and Investment, 
Regional Infrastructure and Services cluster of 
the public service. 

The Division’s objective is to provide personnel services 
to Destination NSW. The Division has responsibility for 
both the employees and the employee-related liabilities 
of Destination NSW.

The Division is also responsible for the full activities 
of the Homebush Motor Racing Authority.

Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA)
The Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) is 
a body corporate constituted under the Homebush 
Motor Racing (Sydney 400) Act 2008 (HMRA Act). 
HMRA has a CEO who is responsible for the day-to-day 
management of the affairs of the Authority. HRMA has 
an advisory board, the principal function of which is 
to provide advice to the CEO; as the Authority cannot 
employ staff, it is assisted by staff employed within 
the Destination NSW Division.

Events New South Wales Pty Ltd (Events NSW)

Prior to the start of the financial year, the principal 
activities of Events NSW involved the driving of 
significant economic, strategic, marketing and 
community benefits to the State of New South Wales 
through the sponsorship and leveraging of events.

Prior to 30 June 2011, the Company’s shareholder, 
the NSW State Government, announced a restructure 
of its Tourism and Events resources with the proposed 
creation of a new statutory authority – Destination NSW.

When establishing Destination NSW, it was the 
Government’s intention that the operations of the 
former Tourism NSW, HMRA and Events NSW be 
combined under Destination NSW (The Agency), to 
commence on 1 July 2011. From that date Events NSW 
was effectively operating as an agent for The Agency, 
using Events NSW assets and premises, and invoicing 
and contracting under The Agency’s name.

The Events NSW objectives were to:

•	 identify, attract and nurture events that will provide 
significant economic and/or community benefits to 
Sydney and New South Wales;

•	 develop a master calendar of events to ensure the 
benefits provided by events are consistent year-
round and long-term;

•	 encourage the leveraging of these events to maximise 
the overall economic and community benefits of 
events to New South Wales; and

•	 encourage investment, infrastructure development 
and other activities that will ensure Sydney and 
New South Wales continue to be leading hosts of 
major global events.

Disclosure of subsidiaries 
Destination NSW does not have any interest in any 
public sector subsidiaries.

Privacy and Personal Information 
Protection Act 1998 
Destination NSW respects the privacy of members of 
the public who use our services and the privacy of our 
employees. As a NSW government statutory authority, 
Destination NSW must comply with NSW State and 
Commonwealth privacy legislation.

No complaints regarding the privacy management 
of Destination NSW have been received. 

Destination NSW has a privacy policy that is reviewed 
regularly.

Destination NSW advises members of the public of its 
privacy obligations in various media; for example, the 
website and terms and conditions. Destination NSW 
also outlines its privacy obligations in contracts with 
third parties, and requests those third parties to also 
be aware of, and comply with, privacy legislation. 

Requests for access to personal information held by 
Destination NSW may be made to the Privacy Officer 
at Level 5, 88 George Street, The Rocks, NSW, 2000 
or by telephone on (02) 8114 2400.

In compliance with the provisions of the Privacy and 
Personal Information Protection Act 1998, Destination 
NSW has a Privacy Management Plan and a designated 
Privacy Officer. Mechanisms have been established to 
make Destination NSW staff aware of the Privacy and 
Personal Information Protection Act 1998 and other 
privacy obligations.

Corporate Governance CONTINUED
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In all staff contracts, staff are encouraged to exercise 
confidentiality both in their dealings with third parties 
and in the execution of their duties. 

Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009
In 2011/2012, Destination NSW received no valid 
access applications under the Government Information 
(Public Access) Act 2009. However, Destination NSW 
did receive and respond to three informal applications 
for information. 

This report covers the operations of the following 
entities which, as per the Destination NSW Act 2011, 
are now operating as one – Events New South Wales 
Pty Ltd, Tourism NSW and Homebush Motor Racing 
Authority. Tourism NSW was a division which has now 
ceased within NSW Trade & Investment. Events New 
South Wales Pty Ltd still exists but all its operations 
have been transferred to Destination NSW. Homebush 
Motor Racing Authority still exists but is managed by 
Destination NSW. 

Pursuant to the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009, each year Destination NSW reviews its 
release of government information. 

As a result of this review, Destination NSW will continue 
to do the following:

1. Produce a corporate annual report as part of its 
Government reporting requirements. 

2. Distribute a regular free e-newsletter that outlines 
upcoming events and insights into the events and 
tourism industry in New South Wales to industry 
stakeholders. Such an e-newsletter is free to 
subscribers. 

3. Distribute a regular free e-newsletter that outlines 
upcoming events and tourism initiatives. Such an 
e-newsletter is free to subscribers.  

4. Operate a media centre on our website 
www.destinationsw.com.au, which provides media 
releases and media kits for downloading free of 
charge. The media centre also provides event fact 
sheets, destination media kits, reports, product 
fact sheets, product updates, videos, speeches and 
presentations, annual reports, an image library and 
media visit details. 

5. Letters to stakeholders.

Destination NSW aims to strike a balance by providing 
information to the public while acknowledging the 
resources of Destination NSW. Providing information 
had no adverse impact upon the activities of 
Destination NSW, and no major issues arose in 
connection with Destination NSW’s compliance with 
the requirements of the Government Information (Public 
Access) Act 2009.

The table below details the total number of access 
applications received by The Agency during the 
reporting year (1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012), including 
withdrawn applications but not including invalid 
applications.

Valid formal applications Invalid formal applications

0 3

During the reporting year the Agency received no 
access applications and has no information to disclose 
as required by Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 of the 
Government Information (Public Access) Regulation 
2009 and the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009.



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/201248  Appendices

Corporate Governance CONTINUED

Internal management audits
Destination NSW initiated an internal audit program, 
undertaken by Deloitte, to provide background to the 
establishment of its Risk Management environment. 
Two audits were completed in the reporting year:

•	 Compliance to NSW Treasury Internal Audit and 
Risk Management Policy; and

•	 Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment.

Destination NSW is implementing the agreed 
recommendations for these audits.

Risk management
Risk management aims to safeguard the public, staff, 
buildings and related assets.

Destination NSW is developing a risk management 
program to identify and manage risks consistent with  
NSW Government guidelines and policy. 

Risk controls will include:

•	 assessing corporate risk and conducting 
management audits;

•	 managing ongoing risk, including maintaining 
registers for various classes of assets, and 
conducting fire and safety audits;

•	 valuing assets;

•	 developing risk strategies;

•	 maintaining appropriate insurance cover with the 
Treasury Managed Fund that covers all classes of 
risk; and

•	 reviewing financial management processes.

Insurance
Destination NSW is insured through the Treasury 
Managed Fund. The coverage provided by the scheme 
is all inclusive, and policies are held for Workers 
Compensation, Motor Vehicles, Property, Miscellaneous 
and Public Liability.

No claims were processed during the 2011/2012 
financial year by Destination NSW.
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Risk management attestation
Internal Audit and Risk Management Statement for the 2011/2012 Financial Year for Destination NSW

It should be noted that Destination NSW was formed with effect from 1 July 2011. An interim Board was convened 
to oversee the establishment of Destination NSW and the members of the formal Board were appointed in August 
2011. The Audit and Risk Committee was formed in March 2012. Due to the relatively recent establishment of 
Destination NSW (being the merger of the former Events New South Wales Pty Ltd and Tourism NSW) which 
operates in accordance with the NSW Public Sector practices, it has not been possible for Destination NSW to 
achieve full compliance with Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08 Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy by the 
reporting date. However, the Board of Destination NSW is confident that measures that are being implemented 
or currently in the process of being implemented will achieve the desired level of compliance.

The Board of Destination NSW is of the opinion that the Audit and Risk Committee for Destination NSW is constituted 
and operates in accordance with the governance requirements of Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08. 

It is a requirement of Treasury Circular NSW TC 09/08 that an independent Chair and a majority of independent 
members of the Committee must be selected from the Prequalification Scheme: Audit and Risk Committee 
Independent Chairs and Members established by Department of Premier and Cabinet. Given the need for industry 
knowledge, skills and experience Destination NSW applied for and was approved exception from this requirement.

The Chair and Members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:

•	 independent Chair, Mr Russell Balding AO (Appointed to August 2014)

•	 independent Member 1, Mr John Conde AO (Appointed to August 2015)

•	 independent Member 2, Ms Wendy Machin (Appointed to August 2015)

•	 non-independent Member 1, Mr Mark Paterson AO (Appointed to August 2015)

As Chairman of the Board of Destination NSW I declare that this Internal Audit and Risk Management Statement is 
made on behalf of the following controlled entity: 

•	 Destination NSW Division

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Destination NSW.

John Conde AO

Dated 9th October 2012



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/201250  Appendices

Promotion 

OVERSEAS VISITS BY EMPLOYEES AND OFFICERS 

Name of officer/Position Country visited Purpose Date from Date to

Kevin Simmonds 
Event Development Manager, 
Sport and Strategic Events

Singapore Attended 2011 World Netball 
Championships – first progress report with 
Netball Australia to the International 
Netball Federation (INF) on Sydney’s 
preparations for the 2015 Netball World 
Cup following successful event bid, 
meetings with INF and venue inspections.

30/06/2011 5/07/2011

Andj Bubalo 
Event Development Manager, 
Lifestyle and Sport

Singapore Attended World Netball Championships. 01/07/2011 05/07/2011

Geoff Parmenter 
Chief Executive Officer 
Events NSW

Singapore Presentation to International Netball 
Federation at Netball World Championships.

01/07/2011 05/07/2011

Geoff Parmenter 
Chief Executive Officer 
Events NSW 

Los Angeles, 
Phoenix, New York, 
USA

Attended Major League Baseball meetings. 09/07/2011 16/07/2011

John Montgomery 
General Manager,  
Event Development

Phoenix, USA  
(9–13 July) 

New York City, USA 
(13–17 July)

Phoenix – attended and met with MLB 
(Major League Baseball).

New York City – attended a number of 
meetings with producers of musicals.

09/07/2011 17/07/2011

Anna McInerney 
Event Development  
Manager, Entertainment  
Arts and Design

Los Angeles, USA Travelled to the US Open of Surfing in 
Newport Beach, California, to experience 
and understand the US Open event (the 
AOS is modelled on the US Open of Surfing) 
and network with the key stakeholders  
and event producers in order to apply  
these learnings to the inaugural Manly 
Beach event.

30/07/2011 08/08/2011

Justine Cooper 
A/Director, Visit Sydney

Los Angeles, USA Attended the US Open of Surfing  
and media activities. 

03/08/2011 08/08/2011

Geoff Parmenter 
Chief Executive Officer 
Events NSW

Los Angeles,USA Attended the US Open of Surfing. 04/08/2011 08/08/2011 

Brenton Kewley 
Senior Event  
Development Manager

Wellington,  
New Zealand

Attended World of Wearable Art  
(prospect event).

31/08/2011 01/09/2011

John Montgomery 
General Manager,  
Event Development

Bled, Slovenia Attended 2011 FISA World Rowing 
Championships and FISA Congress – to 
support Rowing Australia in successfully 
securing the opening round of the FISA 
World Rowing Cup in 2013 and 2014 for 
Sydney as part of the Sydney International 
Rowing Regatta. Attended meetings with 
FISA and made venue inspections.

01/09/2011 06/09/2011

John Montgomery 
General Manager,  
Event Development

London, UK Attended a number of meetings with 
producers of musicals.

Attended PLASA 2011 Trade Show 
(research for Vivid Sydney).

06/09/2011 12/09/2011

Kate Pembroke 
Head of Corporate Affairs

Singapore Attended Strategic Online PR and Media 
Relations Forum.

12/09/2011 15/09/2011

Kevin Simmonds 
Event Development Manager,  
Sport and Strategic Events

Singapore Attended Asia Pacific Sports Conference as 
part of Asian event strategy development.

26/09/2011 28/09/2011

Jessica O’Regan 
Marketing Co-ordinator, NZ

Australia Escorted Qantas/Crave Sydney famil. 07/10/2011 09/10/2011

Operations
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OVERSEAS VISITS BY EMPLOYEES AND OFFICERS continued

Name of officer/Position Country visited Purpose Date from Date to

Angel Zhang 
Marketing Co-ordinator,  
North Asia

Australia Escorted Legendary Pacific Tourism Route/ 
China Southern famil.

02/11/2011 11/11/2011

Siew Hoon Tan 
Regional Manager,  
South Asia

Australia Escorted Singapore Airlines top travel 
agents famil.

04/11/2011 09/11/2011

Jessica O’Regan 
Marketing Co-ordinator, NZ

Australia Escorted Sydney Summer Break/
Australian Open of Surfing famil.

10/02/2012 12/02/2012

Lyndel Gray 
General Manager, 
Industry Partnerships 
and Government Policy

China Attended Greater China Travel Mission. 27/02/2012 04/03/2012

Louise McAlpine 
Manager, Trade Services

China Attended Greater China Travel Mission. 27/02/2012 03/03/2012

Jenny Gerada 
Team Leader,  
Get Connected

Lord Howe Island Escorted a senior level group of inbound 
tour operators on famil to Lord Howe 
Island.

22/03/2012 24/03/2012

Oton Wu 
Regional Manager,  
North Asia

Australia Escorted VIP China Southern Airlines 
Executive famil.

09/04/2012 17/04/2012

Sonya Lawson 
Assistant Regional  
Manager, NZ

Australia Escorted senior group of NZ travel industry 
decision-makers to opening of An Officer 
and a Gentleman – the Musical.

17/05/2012 21/05/2012

Kevin Simmonds 
Event Development Manager, 
Sport and Strategic Events

Quebec, Canada Attended Sport Accord international sports 
conference and meetings with international 
sports federations on potential sports 
events for Sydney.

21/05/2012 27/05/2012

Siew Hoon Tan 
Regional Manager,  
South Asia

Australia Led Scoot media famil. 04/06/2012 08/06/2012

Angel Zhang 
Marketing Co-ordinator,  
North Asia

Australia Escorted China Southern media famil. 05/06/2012 11/06/2012

Diana Kahui 
Assistant Director, Marketing 
and Communications

Auckland,  
New Zealand

Supervised filming for Sydney in Winter 
campaign.

07/06/2012 11/06/2012

Oton Wu 
Regional Manager,  
North Asia

Australia Attended ATE 2012 and meetings in 
Head Office.

10/06/2012 18/06/2012

Siew Hoon Tan 
Regional Manager,  
South Asia

Australia Attended ATE 2012 and meetings in 
Head Office.

11/06/2012 18/06/2012

Paramjit Bawa 
Manager, India

Australia Attended ATE 2012 and meetings in 
Head Office.

13/06/2012 19/06/2012

Lisa Eyre 
Marketing Co-ordinator,  
UK and Ireland

Australia Led and escorted a China Southern 
UK/Europe trade famil.

13/06/2012 28/06/2012

Irene Morgan, 
Regional Manager,  
North America

Australia Attended ATE 2012 and meetings in 
Head Office.

13/06/2012 19/06/2012
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Operations CONTINUED

Management activities
Structural review

During the review period the Destination NSW Board 
and CEO have focused on a structural review of 
operations, divisional and business unit functions and 
personnel requirements. The aim is to ensure that 
event and tourism activities are fully integrated and 
that the organisation can deliver on its objectives by 
meeting the increased operational requirements – 
many of which were identified through the Visitor 
Economy Taskforce – for services, programs, projects 
and delivery of commercial partnerships. To do so will 
require appropriate personnel skills, aligned divisional 
and business unit structures and supporting corporate 
services. The structural review process included 
development and approval of a comprehensive 
business case for the revised structure and its 
implementation, which included extensive consultation 
processes between the Board, management, staff and 
the Public Service Association of NSW (PSA).

The new Destination NSW structure currently has 135 
positions. For 92 of these positions, existing employees 
will transfer directly into the new structure, albeit with 
some changes to titles and/or reporting structures. 
Provision has also been made for the redevelopment 
of 39 positions into new roles.

It is estimated the restructure will provide the NSW 
Government with savings due to work being completed 
in-house by internal resources (as opposed to 
outsourcing to a third party). Additional savings 
will occur as a result of reducing the temporary 
engagements (contractors/agency temps).

Streamlining of marketing activities

When Destination NSW became operational in July 
2011, one of its main tasks was to review marketing 
activities for the three merging organisations – Tourism 
NSW, Events New South Wales Pty Ltd and the 
Homebush Motor Racing Authority. (The Greater 
Sydney Partnership had already transferred its assets).
The aim was to ensure that tourism and event-led 
campaigns were fully integrated and complementary.

This involved the alignment of organisational 
objectives, resources and strategies to take advantage 
of the changing media landscape and also to effectively 
deliver multilevel marketing programs with key 
stakeholders. 

An EOI/RFT process was developed to appoint a 
range of professional services that could assist the 
organisation to research, develop, create, implement 
and evaluate its marketing campaigns. 

The objective is to access a range of ‘best practice’ 
and flexible specialist agencies that can deliver the 
innovative marketing programs required to quickly 
adapt to the needs of a changing market and to 
consumer needs.

International office review

In November 2011, RSM Bird Cameron undertook 
a review of the Destination NSW operations in both 
Shanghai and Auckland. The review established that 
management controls of these overseas offices were 
fundamentally sound, with only a few medium- and 
low-risk findings being reported. Accordingly, 
Destination NSW has addressed the report findings by 
implementing the recommended formal processes.

Event evaluation

During the year a review of the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of Destination NSW’s event evaluation 
process was undertaken. As a result of the review, 
consideration will be given to introducing a 
methodology that will align with practices adopted 
by Treasury. 

Risk management

A comprehensive risk profile review of the new 
organisation was undertaken with a view to introducing 
practices that would investigate identified risks.

Homebush Motor Racing Authority

Both an Advisory Board and an Event Implementation 
Committee assist the Authority with the delivery of its 
functions. The Authority identifies potential risks to the 
successful delivery of events through its Risk Register 
and the implementation of risk minimisation strategies.

To ensure compliance between V8 Supercars Australia 
Pty Ltd and the NSW Government, the Authority 
monitors the obligations of both parties to the Deed 
of Agreement. 

The Emergency Management Plan developed by the 
Authority in co-operation with the event proponent, 
the Sydney Olympic Park Authority, venue owners 
and emergency services agencies is submitted for the 
approval of the Auburn Local Emergency Management 
Committee.
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With the 2009 and 2010 experience, Government 
resourcing in terms of major event transport services 
and police presence was refined, with a resultant 
reduction in the cost of Government services. 

As required by section 15(7) of the Homebush Motor 
Racing (Sydney 400) Act 2008, the Authority conducts 
a post-event review of the conditions of authorisation 
to determine if they remain appropriate.

The World Rally Championship proponent is required 
to submit a post-event report detailing compliance 
with a range of environmental and safety plans and 
the conditions of authorisation prior to the expiration 
of the declared rally period.

The Authority seeks the assistance of Environmental 
Health and Building Surveyors from Local Councils 
to attend events and monitor a range of activities 
that involve health, food safety, waste and general 
hygiene matters. 

Research and development 
Along with the Commonwealth Government and other 
States and Territories, Destination NSW co-funds two 
national surveys that provide detailed information on 
the size of the visitor economy and trends in visitor 
behaviour (including length of stay, accommodation 
used, purpose of trip, day trips, transport used, 
activities taken, expenditure, travel party, demographics, 
destinations visited, source markets, etc).

The first, the International Visitor Survey, is conducted 
in the exit lounges of airports around Australia, 
sampling 40,000 departing visitors each year. The 
second is the National Visitor Survey, a computer-
assisted telephone survey of 120,000 Australian 
residents who have travelled in the previous two 
months. Destination NSW has database-level access 
to the results of these two surveys, which are used 
internally to inform campaign activities as well as 
externally to share our insights with industry. 

In 2011/2012, Destination NSW published more than 
223 visitor snapshots and profiles for the use of the 
industry and other stakeholders. Among these were a 
set of 93 new Local Government Area visitor profiles 
for regional areas of New South Wales, which provided 
destination-level data that was previously lacking from 
the two surveys.

Market research studies completed and in progress 
include:

•	 Visitor Profiling and Satisfaction studies of Byron Bay 
and Foster-Tuncurry

•	 A Destination Visitor Survey Program Strategic 
Research Report on the dispersion of fly-in leisure 
visitors to Sydney

•	 A comprehensive meta-study of previous research 
on the Chinese visitor market to New South Wales

•	 A ‘China Ready’ stakeholder survey

•	 A continuous Brand Health Tracking survey conducted 
every week of the year

•	 Six Advertising Impact Studies undertaken for both 
Destination NSW and partner campaigns. (Note: 
These studies are in addition to Annual Brand Health 
reporting, which is delivered quarterly.) 

Resources enabling delivery of the above market 
studies include:

•	 Tourism Research Australia Service Level Agreement 
for the two national surveys and the Destination 
Visitor Survey research mentioned above, at a cost 
of about $700,000

•	 Strategic Insights Team, consisting of two full-time 
employees.

Consumer response 
All requests made to Destination NSW for information 
or assistance are met directly and promptly and/or are 
referred to the most appropriate officer, as required. 
Destination NSW stakeholders and the community 
have a number of avenues through which they can 
offer feedback regarding the level of consumer 
response and customer service, including contacting 
the Destination NSW principal office or international 
offices, or by providing comments in writing or 
by email.

Destination NSW received no significant consumer 
complaints during the reporting period. Consequently, 
no changes to the Department’s programs and services 
were warranted on the basis of adverse consumer 
response. 

Destination NSW remains committed to providing 
professional, courteous and prompt assistance to its 
clients and the public in general.
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Economic and other factors affecting 
achievement of operational objectives
The performance of the NSW visitor economy is 
currently being affected by a wide range of economic, 
industry and consumer factors (some of which have 
already been identified in other parts of this report). 

Aviation

•	 International aviation capacity and access from 
key markets have a direct impact on growth from 
international markets.

•	 Fuel prices and loadings are pushing up prices for 
travel to Australia.

•	 Low-cost airlines gaining access to the Sydney 
market are encouraging arrivals from key Asian 
markets but also shifting domestic market demand 
towards overseas destinations.

International education

•	 The tightening of student visa regulations is having 
an impact on growth in the education segment.

•	 Quality issues have also impacted on growth, 
particularly from the Indian market.

•	 There is greater international competition for the 
student market.

Domestic consumer mindset

•	 General belt-tightening and higher electricity and fuel 
prices are affecting demand in the travel category, 
and the market is extremely price sensitive.

•	 There has been a resurgence of more conservative 
savings patterns/less debt-fuelled consumption, 
which has led to a shift in consumer travel patterns. 
Preferences in the domestic market are now shifting 
away from the Holiday segment towards Short 
Breaks and Visiting Friends and Relatives (VFR) 
travel.

•	 Heavily geared households in the young-family age 
and time-poor dual-income families are experiencing 
difficulty in scheduling family holidays.

•	 Young people are losing the ‘habit’ of taking domestic 
holidays.

•	 Ageing baby boomers reliant on superannuation 
earnings (now at risk) are more cautious about travel 
and holidays.

Competing industries and labour and skills shortages

•	 The mining boom has had an impact on the 
availability of labour and skills in the accommodation 
sector. 

•	 The utilisation of leisure tourism infrastructure for 
the mining sector has reduced accommodation and 
access for the consumer market.

International competitive pressures

•	 There are cheap holiday packages to destinations 
in the Asia-Pacific region. 

•	 For most traditional markets, Australia is seen as 
a ‘long-haul’ destination. 

•	 Large new investments are being made in tourist, 
event and hospitality infrastructure and services 
in Asia.

Infrastructure investment

•	 Growth in the Business Events travel to Sydney 
is being affected by a period of transition while the 
city awaits upgrades to convention and exhibition 
facilities.

•	 Sydney hotel accommodation is operating at very 
high rates of occupancy, with few new builds in 
the pipeline. 

Operations CONTINUED
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REGIONAL FLAGSHIP EVENTS PROGRAM

Event Organisation Funding $

The Riverboats Music Festival Echuca–Moama District Tourism Association 
Incorporated

10,000

Jervis Bay Triathlon Festival Elite Energy 10,000

Lithgow Flash Gift Lithgow City Council 10,000

Kiama Rugby Sevens Kiama Rugby Football Club 10,000

Tumbafest Tumbarumba Shire Council 20,000

Byron Bay International Film Festival Greenhouse Events Pty Ltd 20,000

Music Under the Stars at Perry Hills Arts Mildura 10,000

Australian Longboard Championship Island Style Promotions 10,000

Opera in the Paddock Opera North West limited 20,000

Nosh on the Namoi Narrabri Shire Council 10,000

Woolgoolga Curryfest Woolgoolga Curryfest 10,000

Narooma Oyster Festival Narooma Chamber of Commerce 10,000

Wings over Illawarra Shellharbour City Council 10,000

Casino Beef Week Casino Beef Week Promotions Committee Inc 10,000

Hunter Valley Wine and Food Month Hunter Valley Wine Industry Association 10,000

Grenfell Henry Lawson Festival Henry Lawson Festival of Arts 10,000

Snowy Mountains of Music Festival Perisher Chamber of Commerce 10,000

5 Lands Walk 5 Lands Walk Inc 10,000

Aberdeen Highland Games Aberdeen Highland Games 10,000

Fireside Festival the Poachers Way Poachers Trail Association 20,000

Coffs Coast Cycle Challenge Coffs City Rotary 10,000

Flair Fashion The Flair Awards 10,000

Zoo Grooves Taronga Conservation Society Australia 10,000

Murrumbateman Moving Feast Makers of Murrumbateman 10,000

Spirit of the Land Lockhart Spirit of the Land Lockhart 10,000

Batlow Apple Blossom Festival Batlow Apple Blossom Festival 10,000

Orange Wine Week Orange Region Vignerons Association 10,000

The Wingham Akoostik Festival Wingham Akoostik Festival 10,000

Chromefest The Entrance Town Centre Management Corporation 10,000

Sculpture in the Vineyards Sculpture in the Vineyards 10,000

Tastes at the Bay Festival Nelson Bay Business Chamber 10,000

Bitter and Twisted International Boutique Beer Festival Maitland City Council 20,000

Total – all amounts are GST exclusive   360,000

Grants
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STREAM 1

Organisation Funding $

Blue Mountains Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Central Coast Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Central NSW Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Hunter Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Inland Regional Tourism Organisation 750,000

Mid North Coast Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Murray Region Tourism Board 250,000

Northern Rivers Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Snowy Mountains Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Riverina Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

South Coast Regional Tourism Organisation 250,000

Sub total 3,250,000

STREAM 2

Organisation Funding $

The Carrington Hotel 100,000

Jenolan Caves Reserves Trust 122,800

Hydro Majestic Hotel 100,000

Australia Walkabout Wildlife Park 100,000

Devil Ark Inc 100,000

Hunter Belle Cheese 70,000

Taronga Western Plains Zoo 100,000

Gold Trail Committee 200,000

Cockatoo Institute Limited 200,000

Dolphin Swim Australia 40,000

Surfaris Central Pty Ltd 63,366

Pet Porpoise Pool Pty Ltd 100,000

Tweed Byron Transit Pty Ltd 100,000

PCTR Inc 185,000

Boggy Creek Show Pty Ltd 68,834

Sea Eagle Estate Pty Ltd 100,000

Sub-total 1,750,000

Grand total 5,000,000

Grants CONTINUED

Regional Tourism Product Development Program
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REGIONAL TOURISM ORGANISATION GRANTS

Organisation Funding $

Blue Mountains Regional Tourism Organisation 332,500

Central Coast Regional Tourism Organisation 504,700

Central NSW Regional Tourism Organisation 432,886

Hunter Regional Tourism Organisation 480,000

Lord Howe Island Regional Tourism Organisation 75,000

Inland NSW Regional Tourism Organisation* 1,188,968

Mid North Coast Regional Tourism Organisation 654,313

Northern Rivers Regional Tourism Organisation 122,500

Riverina Regional Tourism Organisation 147,364

Snowy Mountains Regional Tourism Organisation 373,175

South Coast Regional Tourism Organisation 560,000

FORTO 116,500

Total 4,987,906

* Comprising New England North West, Outback NSW, Capital Country and 5 LGAs from Central NSW.

Regional Tourism Partnership Program

Greater Sydney Tourism Precinct Partnership Funding Program

Event Name & Date Campaign Activity Dates
Industry 

Contribution
DNSW 

Contribution
Total 

Investment

2011/2012 EVENTS

Leichhardt Chamber of Commerce 
Norton Street Italian Festa (30 Oct)

6 Aug – 30 Oct, 2011 $45,000 $10,000 $55,000

Picton Chamber of Commerce: Picton 
Music & Harvest Festival (29 Oct)

19 Sep – 29 Oct, 2011 $10,500 $10,000 $20,500

Festival of Mosman (28 Oct – 6 Nov) 14 Oct – 2 Nov, 2011 $18,500 $10,000 $28,500

Coogee Family Fun Day (3 Dec) 31 Oct – 3 Dec, 2011 $7,000 $10,000 $17,000

Flickerfest (6–15Jan) 6 Dec, 2011 – 31 Mar, 2012 $71,571 $10,000 $81,571

Penrith Working Truck Show 15 Jan – 25 Mar, 2012 $23,500 $10,000 $33,500

Pyrmont Food, Wine and Art Festival 1 Apr – 27 May, 2012 $42,000 $10,000 $52,000

Sub Total $218,071 $70,000 $288,071

2011/2012 CAMPAIGNS

North Sydney Council: SIMS  
Harbour Hike

29 Jul – 4 Sep, 2011 $110,000 $20,000 $130,000

Greater Sydney Partnership Awards – 
Principal Sponsor

29 Jul n/a $5,000 $5,000

Hills Hawkesbury  
2011 Marketing Campaign

19 Sep, 2011 – 31 Jan, 2012 $28,500 $25,000 $53,500

Willoughby Council –  
“It all starts at Chatswood”

1–27 May, 2012 $25,000 $25,000 $50,000

Manly Council – My Manly Plans 1 May – 30 Jun, 2012 $45,945 $45,945 $91,890

Bondi Winter Magic Festival 1–30 June, 2012 $23,839 $23,839 $47,678

Sub Total $233,284 $144,784 $378,068

Total $451,355 $214,784 $666,139
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GRANTS TO SYDNEY, REGIONAL AND STATEWIDE TOURISM OPERATORS

Company No. of 
Grants Trade Events Funded  Total 

Sydney

Arts Hotel 1 UK  $7,500.00 

Bridgeclimb 3 UK, China, BOA  $16,240.00 

Captain Cook Cruises 1 China  $1,127.27 

Eight Hotels 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Four Seasons Hotel Sydney 2 UK, China TQ  $11,212.50 

Heli Experiences 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Lets Go Surfing 4 NZ, USD, WYSTC, UK  $12,311.13 

Mercure Sydney 1 India  $945.45 

Metro Hotels 3 India, JAM, China TQ  $5,885.00 

Park Hyatt Hotel 2 UK, BOA  $15,000.00 

Radisson Blu Plaza Hotel Sydney 2 UK, China TQ  $11,212.50 

Royal Coast Walks 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Sailing Sydney 1 NZ  $996.00 

Shangri La Hotel 3 UK, BOA, China TQ  $18,712.50 

Sydney Harbour Tallships 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Sydney Opera House 3 USD, UK, BOA  $16,132.00 

Sydney Photography Tours 1 NZ  $996.00 

Sydney Showboats and Majistic Cruises 2 India, China TQ  $4,752.50 

Taronga Zoo 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

The Ascott Limited 1 UK  $7,500.00 

The Grace Hotel Sydney 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

The Menzies Hotel Sydney 1 India  $1,040.00 

The Star 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Tobruk Sheep Station 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Trippas White 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Ultimately Sydney 1 NZ  $996.00 

Wake Up 1 WYSTC  $1,480.16 

Work & Travel Company 1 WYSTC  $1,377.37 

Regional 

Apartments Inn Byron Bay 2 NZ, Europe  $2,804.09 

Arajilla Retreat 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Aussie Farmstay and Bush Adventures 2 USD, Europe  $2,940.09 

Australian Attractions – Scenic World 2 India, BOA  $8,540.00 

Australian Attractions Blue Mountains Group  
(Scenic World & Koomurri)

1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Australian Reptile Park 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Ballina Beach Resort 1 NZ  $996.00 

Bells at Killcare 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Bilpin Springs Lodge 1 Europe  $1,808.09 

Blue Mountains Tourism Ltd 2 UK, BOA  $15,000.00 

Cape Byron Kayaks 2 USD, Europe  $2,895.06 

Central Coast Tourism Group 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

International Industry Incentive Fund Grants

Grants CONTINUED
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GRANTS TO SYDNEY, REGIONAL AND STATEWIDE TOURISM OPERATORS continued

Company No. of 
Grants 

Trade Events Funded  Total 

Regional continued

Dolphin Watch Cruises Jervis Bay 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Hunter Valley Resort 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Merlin Entertainments Group 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Mojo Surf 1 WYSTC  $2,265.37 

Moonshadow Charters Pty Ltd 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Newcastle Airport Limited 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Northern Rivers Tourism (Byron Bay and Beyond) 2 UK, China TQ  $11,212.50 

Paperbark Camp 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Port Stephens Tourism 1 China TQ  $3,712.50 

Scenic World Blue Mountains  
(also see Australia Attractions)

1 JAM  $1,132.50 

The Byron at Byron Resort & Spa 1 UK  $7,500.00 

Tourism Wollongong – Grand Pacific Drive 3 India, UK, China TQ  $12,157.95 

Tweed Ultima Apartments 1 NZ  $996.00 

Wolgan Valley Resort & Spa 1 India, UK, China TQ  $12,252.50 

Statewide

Adventure Tours Australia 1 WYSTC  $1,574.18 

APT 2 India, JAM  $1,974.99 

Blue Diamond Tours 3 NZ, USD, Europe  $3,936.09 

Cannons Shuttles and Sydney Day Tours 2 NZ, USD  $2,128.00 

Great Southern Rail 1 UK  $7,500.00 

IHG NSW 1 UK  $7,500.00 

Mantra Group 1 BOA  $7,500.00 

Mirvac Hotels and Resorts 4 NZ, India, UK, BOA  $17,036.00 

Oaks Hotels and Resorts 2 UK, China TQ  $11,212.50 

Red Carpet Tours 1 China  $1,240.00 

Sydney Melbourne Touring 2 NZ, China  $2,236.00 

The Legendary Pacific Coast 1 USD  $1,132.00 

Toga Hospitality 3 UK, BOA, China TQ  $18,712.50 

YHA Australia 2 UK, China TQ  $11,212.50 

Legend: 
NZ  New Zealand New Product Workshop
USD USA New Product Workshop
India TA India Mission
JAM  Japan Australia Mission
WYSTC World Youth & Travel Conference

UK  UK/Europe Mission
China TA China Mission
BOA  BOA North America Mission
China TQ  DNSW/TQ China Mission
Europe  European New Product Workshop

TOTALS

Sydney  $155,926.38 

Regional  $119,308.65 

Statewide  $94,894.76

Grand total  $370,129.79
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Visitor Information Centre Support

Visitor Information Centres and Regional Tourism 
Organisations that update the State Tourism Data 
Warehouse via The Get Connected Program receive  
a performance-based payment according to the 
number of updates made.  

A total of $25,000 (GST excluding) was paid in the 
2011/2012 financial year (payment period 1 July 2011 
to 31 January 2012) for the updating of 2,500 product 
records.

Organisations that received payments were:

Balranald Visitor Information Centre  
Batemans Bay Visitor Information Centre  
Bathurst Visitor Centre  
Baulkham Hills Visitor Information Centre  
Berrigan and Tocumwal Visitor Information Centre  
Blue Mountains Visitor Information Centre  
Boorowa Visitor Centre  
Broken Hill Visitor Information Centre  
Campbelltown Visitor Information Centre  
Central Coast Tourism  
Clarence River Tourist Association  
Coffs Coast Visitor Information Centre  
Cooma Visitor Information Centre  
Coonabarabran Visitor Information Centre  
Cootamundra Visitor Information Centre  
Corowa Visitor Information Centre  
Crookwell Visitor Information Centre  
Dubbo Visitor Information Centre  
Dungog Visitor Information Centre  
Glen Innes Visitor Information Centre  
Gloucester Visitor Centre  
Goulburn Visitor Information Centre  
Great Lakes Visitor Information Centre  
Grenfell Visitor Information Centre  
Griffith Visitor Information Centre  
Gundagai Visitor Information Centre  

Hay Visitor Information Centre  
Hume Visitor Information Centre  
Inverell Visitor Information Centre  
Jerilderie Visitor Information Centre  
Junee Visitor Information Centre  
Kempsey Visitor Information Centre  
Kiama Visitor Information Centre  
Lachlan Visitor Information Centre  
Lake Macquarie Visitor Information Centre  
Lismore Visitor Information Centre  
Lithgow Visitor Information Centre  
Lord Howe Island Visitor Information Centre  
Maitland Visitor Centre  
Manning Valley Visitor Information Centre  
Moree Visitor Information Centre  
Mudgee Visitor Information Centre  
Muswellbrook Visitor Information Centre  
Narrabri Visitor Information Centre  
Narrandera Visitor Information Centre  
Newcastle Visitor Information Centre  
Orange Visitor Information Centre  
Parkes Visitor Information Centre  
Parramatta Heritage and Visitor Information Centre  
Port Macquarie Hastings Council  
Richmond Valley Visitor Information Centre  
Shellharbour Visitor Information Centre  
Shoalhaven Visitor Information Centre  
Southern Highlands Visitor Information Centre  
Tumbarumba Visitors Centre  
Destination Tweed Incorporated  
Walcha Visitor Information Centre  
Wagga Wagga Visitor Information Centre  
Wellington Visitor Information Centre  
Wentworth Visitor Information Centre  
Wollondilly Visitor Information Centre  
Wollongong Visitor Information Centre  
Yass Visitor Information Centre.

Grants CONTINUED
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Financial management

Quarter

Current within 
due date 

$

Less than 30 
days overdue 

$

Between 30 
and 60 days 

overdue 
$

Between 60 
and 90 days 

overdue 
$

More than 90 
days overdue 

$

All suppliers

September 2011

December 2011

March 2012 23,266,082 4,888,613 1,145,646 2,552,394 583,851

June 2012 42,045,025 4,764,689 1,258,969 528,720 530,284

Small business

September 2011 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

December 2011 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

March 2012 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

June 2012 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

All suppliers Sept 2011 Dec 2011 March 2012 June 2012

Total no. of accounts due for payment 1,735 2,756

No. of accounts paid on time 1,247 2,265

% of accounts paid on time (based on no. of accounts) 72% 82%

$ amount of accounts due for payment 32,436,586 49,127,686

$ amount of accounts paid on time 23,266,082 42,045,025

% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount of accounts) 72% 86%

No. of payments for intereset on overdue accounts Nil Nil

Interest paid on overdue accounts Nil Nil

Small business Sept 2011 Dec 2011 March 2012 June 2012

Total no. of accounts due for payment Nil Nil

No. of accounts paid on time Nil Nil

% of accounts paid on time (based on no. of accounts) Nil Nil

$ amount of accounts due for payment Nil Nil

$ amount of accounts paid on time Nil Nil

% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount of accounts) Nil Nil

No. of payments for interest on overdue accounts Nil Nil

Interest paid on overdue accounts Nil Nil

Notes
1   Centralised processing under the one financials system commenced on 1 January 2012, so statistics commenced from that date.

2   Small business must be registered to be able to be reported on for the payment of accounts statistics. 
There were no payments to registered small business for Destination NSW.

Payment of Accounts
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Budgets
Refer to Financial Statements: Note 15.

Investment performance
Refer to Financial Statements: Financial Instruments Note 17.

Liability management performance
Destination NSW has no debt greater than $20 million.

Implementation of price determination
Destination NSW is not subject to the Tribunal.

Credit card certification
Destination NSW’s policy for the use of corporate credit cards by staff is in accordance with the Premier’s 
memorandum 99-05 and the Treasurer’s Directions 205.01 to 08.

No irregularities in the use of corporate credit cards have been recorded during the year.

In accordance with Treasurer’s Direction 205.01, I certify that, in the reporting period, credit card use by officers 
of Destination NSW was in line with government requirements.

John Hopwood 
Chief Financial Officer

Additional matters: Financial management
In 2012/2013 there are no after-Balance Day events that have a significant effect on the financial or other 
operations of Destination NSW.

Annual Report Costs

Destination NSW's annual report was produced externally at a cost of $46,390 (exclusive of GST) which included 
project management, program analysis, writing, editing, corrected text, layout, design, digital proofs and printing.

Financial management CONTINUED
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Certificate under Section 41c of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983
The accompanying financial statements and notes to the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, regulations contained within the Public Finance and Audit 
Regulation 2010, and the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 
Government Sector Entities or issued by the Treasurer.

In our opinion the statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of Destination 
NSW’s operations for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The members of the Board are not aware of any circumstances, as at the date of this certificate, which would render 
any particulars in the financial report to be misleading or inaccurate.

Date: 18th October 2012 
 John Conde AO 
 Board Chairman

Date: 18th October 2012 
 Sandra Chipchase 
 Chief Executive Officer
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Auditor's Report – Destination NSW
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Destination NSW:  
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2012
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes

Consolidated 
Actual  

2012 
$’000

Budget 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
Actual 

2012 
$’000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

 Employee related 2(a) 18,568 16,749 132

 Personnel services 2(b) – – 17,357

 Other operating expenses 2(c) 115,381 99,242 115,463

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 1,469 1,948 428

Total expenses excluding losses 135,418 117,939 133,380

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 207 – 207

Investment revenue 3(b) 480 300 480

Grants and contributions 3(c) 132,290 115,899 131,086

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee  
benefits and other liabilities

3(d) 153 340 –

Other revenue 3(e) 2,449 – 2,352

Total Revenue 135,579 116,539 134,125

Gain/(loss) on disposal 4 (232) – (232)

Other gains/(losses) – – –

Net result (71) (1,400) 513

Other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income – – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (71) (1,400) 513

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Notes

Consolidated 
Actual 

2012 
$’000

Budget 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
Actual 

2012 
$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 10,861 2,002 10,374

Receivables 7 7,589 1,588 7,589

Total Current Assets 18,450 3,590 17,963

Non-Current Assets

Plant and equipment 8

 Plant and equipment 661 415 661

 Infrastructure systems 7,686 7,694 –

Total Plant and equipment 8,347 8,109 661

Intangibles 9 38 191 38

Total Non-Current Assets 8,385 8,300 699

Total Assets 26,835 11,890 18,662

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 10 11,994 3,137 12,187

Provisions 11 4,933 923 4,720

Total Current Liabilities 16,927 4,060 16,907

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables 10 – – 7

Provisions 11 98 – 91

Total Non-Current Liabilities 98 – 98

Total Liabilities 17,025 4,060 17,005

Net Assets 9,810 7,830 1,657

EQUITY

Reserves 0 0 0

Accumulated funds 9,810 7,830 1,657

Total Equity 9,810 7,830 1,657

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Accumulated Funds Asset Revaluation Surplus Other Reserves Total
Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2011 – – – – – – – –

Net result for the year    (71) 513 – – – – (71) 513

Total other comprehensive income – – – – – – – –

Total comprehensive income  
for the year (71) 513 – – – – (71) 513

Transactions with owners in  
their capacity as owners

Increase/(decrease) in net assets 
from consolidation with Events  
New South Wales Pty Ltd

10 – – – – – 10 –

Increase/(decrease) in net assets 
from equity transfers as a result of 
administrative restructuring

12 9,871 1,144 – – – – 9,871 1,144

Total transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners 9,881 1,144 – – – – 9,881 1,144

Balance at 30 June 2012 9,810 1,657 – – – – 9,810 1,657

Note: The consolidated entity has contributed equity of $100 associated with Events New South Wales Pty Ltd (refer Note 18).

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Financial Statements CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes

Consolidated 
Actual 

2012 
$’000

Budget 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
Actual 

2012 
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments

Employee related (14,450) (17,410) (13,582)

Other operating expenses (115,491) (98,777) (112,799)

Total Payments (129,941) (116,187) (126,381)

Receipts

Sales of goods and services 207 – 207

Interest received 480 300 480

Grants and contributions and Other revenue 136,688 114,834 135,243

Total Receipts 137,375 115,134 135,930

Net cash flows from operating activities 16 7,434 (1,053) 9,549

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of buildings, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure systems

– (3) –

Other – (100) –

Net cash flows from investing activities – (103) –

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash flows from financing activities – – –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 7,434 (1,156) 9,549

Opening cash and cash equivalents

Destination NSW Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July – – –

Events NSW Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 3,213 – –

Cash transferred in as a result of administrative 
restructuring

214 3,158 825

Closing cash and cash equivalents 6 10,861 2,002 10,374

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Reporting entity

Destination NSW (the Group) as a reporting entity under the Destination NSW Act 2011 comprises all the entities 
under its control, namely the Destination NSW Division, the Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) and Events 
New South Wales Pty Ltd (Events NSW).

The Group, which is a NSW statutory body, is a body corporate with a board of management which has a statutory 
position of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) that is responsible for the day-to-day management in accordance with the 
directions of the Board. The Group is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective). 

The reporting entity is consolidated as part of the NSW Total Sector Accounts and falls within the Trade and 
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services cluster of the public service.

Destination NSW encompasses the functions of the former Tourism NSW, Events NSW, the Homebush Motor Racing 
Authority and Greater Sydney Partnership. Its main aim is to achieve economic and social benefits for the people of 
New South Wales by developing tourism and securing major events.

Under the Destination NSW Act 2011 Destination NSW cannot employ any staff but may arrange for the use of the 
services of any staff (whether by way of secondment or otherwise) to enable the Group to exercise its functions. 
Destination NSW Division (the Division) was established as a Division of the Government Service by the Public Sector 
Employment and Management (Miscellaneous) Order 2011 which commenced on 1 July 2011. The Division is a non-
Public Service Division assigned to a statutory corporation pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act 2002 (PSEM Act). Destination NSW Division provides personnel services to 
Destination NSW.

The Division is identified in Part 2 of schedule 1 to the PSEM Act as a non-Public Service Division. The Division has 
as its Division Head the CEO of DNSW and includes the CEO of Homebush Motor Racing Authority who is a direct 
report of, and accountable to, the CEO of Destination NSW and all staff reporting to the CEO. The Division is not 
identified as a Department in schedule 3 to the Public Finance and Audit Act (PFA Act).

The Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) is a body corporate constituted under the Homebush Motor Racing 
(Sydney 400) Act 2008 (HMR Act). HMRA has a CEO who is responsible for the day-to-day management of the affairs 
of the Authority. HMRA has an advisory Board, the principal function of which is to provide advice to the CEO; HMRA 
cannot employ staff and is assisted by staff employed within the Destination NSW Division. HMRA is not identified in 
schedule 1 to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act (PSEM Act); and is not identified in schedule 2 or 
schedule 3 of the Public Finance and Audit Act (PFA Act).

The Public Sector Employment and Management (Mental Health Commission and Other Matters) Order 2012 which was 
published on 28 June 2012 and took effect from 30 June 2012, Clause 5(2) states the reference in section 39 of the 
Homebush Motor Racing (Sydney 400) Act 2008 to the Department of State and Regional Development is to be 
construed as a reference to the Destination NSW Division. 

While Destination NSW does not own the shares in Events NSW, its Board has the power to govern Events NSW’s 
financial and operating policies from the time of its formation. Consequently Destination NSW controls Events NSW 
under the terms of paragraph 13 (b) of AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (September 2011 
compilation).

Where reference in these notes is made to ‘Group’ it refers to the total activities of Destination NSW, Events NSW, 
HMRA and the Destination NSW Division. A reference to the ‘Parent’ relates to the activities of Destination NSW only. 

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 have been authorised for issue by the 
Board on 18 October 2012.

(b) Basis of preparation 
The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the ownership of assets and liabilities and the operations of 
the Group commenced on 1 July 2011. 

The assets, liabilities and operating financials for HMRA are reported in the books of the Division.
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Separate financial statements have been prepared for the Destination NSW Division.

In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statement for the economic entity consisting of the controlling 
and controlled entity, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.

The Group’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with:

•	 Applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)

•	 The requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation and

•	 The Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General Government Sector 
Entities or issued by the Treasurer.

Plant and equipment and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ and available for sale are measured at 
fair value. The assets for HMRA are based on their useful life. Other financial statement items are prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest dollars and are expressed in Australian currency. 

(c) Statement of compliance

The consolidated and parent entity financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, 
which include Australian Accounting Interpretations. 

(d) Insurance

Destination NSW’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-
insurance for Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claim 
experience. Events NSW has commercial insurance.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that:

•	 the amount of GST incurred by the Group as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 
Office is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense and

•	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation 
Office are classified as operating cash flows.

(f) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional 
comments regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when Destination NSW transfers the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the assets.

(ii) Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour 
hours incurred to date).

(iii) Investment revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. 
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(iv) Grants and contributions
Grants and contributions include donations and grants from the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional 
Infrastructure and Services. They are generally recognised as income when Destination NSW obtains control over 
the assets comprising the grants and contributions. Control over grants and contributions are normally obtained 
upon receipt of cash relating to the receipt have been met.

(g) Assets

(i) Acquisition of assets
The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the Group. 
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the 
asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when 
initially recognised in accordance with the specific requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date 
of acquisition. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent, 
i.e. the deferred payment amount is effectively discounted at an asset-specific rate.

See also assets transferred as a result of an equity transfer – Note 1(j), (n) and 12.

(ii) Capitalisation thresholds
Plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a network costing more than $5,000) 
are capitalised.

(iii) Revaluation of plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair 
Value” Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP 07-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment. 

Plant and equipment is measured on an existing use basis, where there are no feasible alternative uses in the 
existing natural, legal, financial and socio-political environment. However, in the limited circumstances where there 
are feasible alternative uses, assets are valued at their highest and best use.

Fair value of plant and equipment is determined based on the best available market evidence, including current 
market selling prices for the same or similar assets. Where there is no available market evidence, the asset’s fair 
value is measured at its market buying price, the best indicator of which is depreciated replacement cost.

The Group revalues each class of plant and equipment at least every five years or with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date.

Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, as a surrogate for 
fair value.

When revaluing non-current assets by reference to current prices for assets newer than those being revalued 
(adjusted to reflect the present condition of the assets), the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation 
are separately restated.

For other assets, any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are 
credited to the asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the 
revaluation increments or decrements.

Revaluation increments are credited directly to revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment 
reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the net 
result, the increment is recognised immediately as revenue in the net result.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to the extent that a 
credit balance exists in the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to 
the revaluation surplus.

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of 
non-current assets, but not otherwise.

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the revaluation surplus 
in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

(iv) Impairment of plant and equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, AASB 136 Impairment of Assets effectively is not applicable. 
AASB 136 modifies the recoverable amount test to the higher of fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost. This means that, where an asset is already measured at fair value, impairment can only arise 
if selling costs are material. Selling costs for the Group are regarded as immaterial.

(v) Depreciation of plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable 
amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Group. 

All material separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated over their shorter useful lives.

Default asset lives are:

Plant and equipment 2–12 years

Leasehold improvements Period of the lease (1–2 years)

Infrastructure systems 10 years

Depreciation rates are reviewed and determined on an annual basis.

(vi) Restoration costs (Provision for make good)
The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost of an asset, to 
the extent it is recognised as a liability.

(vii) Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 
replacement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(viii) Leased assets
A distinction is made between finance leases which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially 
all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership to the leased assets, and operating leases under which the lessor 
effectively retains all such risks and benefits.

The leasing transactions of the Group are restricted to operating leases of buildings, vehicles and equipment.

Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the periods in which they are 
incurred.

(ix) Intangible assets
The Group recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is 
acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only capitalised when certain criteria are met.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite.

Intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active market. As there is no active 
market for the Group’s intangible assets, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation.

The Group’s intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over a period of 2–6 years.
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Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable amount 
is less than its carrying amount the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the reduction is 
recognised as an impairment loss.

(x) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction 
cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an 
allowance for any impairment of receivables. Any changes are recognised in the net result for the year when 
impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process.

Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

Bad debts are written off as incurred.

(xi) Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit and loss, are subject to an annual review for 
impairment. An allowance for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year.

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the net result for the year, where there is objective 
evidence. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost cannot result in a carrying 
amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an impairment loss.

(xii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if 
the Group transfers the financial asset:

•	 where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or

•	 where the Group has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained control.

Where the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, 
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

(h) Liabilities

(i) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group and other amounts. Payables are 
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are measured 
at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

(ii) Employee benefits and other provisions
(a) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs
Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are due to 
be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised 
and measured in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Long-term annual leave that is not expected to be taken within twelve months is measured at present value in 
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in 
the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which 
are consequential to employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 
they relate have been recognised.

(b) Long service leave
Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits, based on the 
application of procedures specified in NSW TC 12/06 to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value. 

(c) Superannuation 
The Division’s liability for defined benefit superannuation is assumed by the Crown Entity. The Division accounts for 
the liability as having been extinguished; resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary 
revenue item described as “Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities”. 

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions (NSW TC 11/04). The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State 
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State 
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple 
of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

(iii) Other provisions
Other provisions exist when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.

Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has 
raised a valid expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to 
implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected.

(i) Equity and reserves

(i) Revaluation surplus
The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This 
accords with the entity’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment as discussed in note 1(g)(iii).

(ii) Accumulated Funds
The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(j) Equity transfers
The transfer of net assets between entities as a result of an administrative restructure, transfers of programs/
functions and parts thereof between NSW public sector entities are designated or required by Accounting Standards 
to be treated as contributions by owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘Accumulated Funds’. This treatment is 
consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions and Australian Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities.

Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit and for-profit government entities are 
recognised at the amount at which the assets and liabilities were recognised by the transferor immediately prior to 
the restructure. Subject to below, in most instances this will approximate fair value.

All other equity transfers are recognised at fair value, except for intangibles. Where an intangible has been 
recognised at amortised cost by the transferor because there is no active market, the entity recognises the asset 
at the transferor’s carrying amount. Where the transferor is prohibited from recognising internally generated 
intangibles, the entity does not recognise that asset.

(k) Budgeted amounts

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in 
respect of the reporting period, as adjusted for section 24 of the PFAA where there has been a transfer of functions 
between departments. Other amendments made to the budget are not reflected in the budgeted amounts.
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(l) Comparative information 
Comparative information is not provided, other than as specified in note 1(m), given that this is the first financial year of 
Destination NSW.

(m) Related party transactions

Destination NSW is one of two members of Parramasala Limited, a company limited by guarantee (“Parramasala”), which 
was incorporated on 1 June 2010. Under the constitution of Parramasala, the limit of each member’s guarantee is $5. While 
Destination NSW has significant influence over Parramasala, it does not control the entity. 

During the year ended 30 June 2012, Destination NSW provided event funding to Parramasala in the amount of $1,136,103. 
This amount has been recorded as an expense by Destination NSW.

As Parramasala is a company limited by guarantee, and Destination NSW is not entitled to any future distribution (either by 
dividend or on wind-up of Parramasala), Destination NSW has not recorded any investment for its interest in this entity. 
Disclosure has instead been made by way of note.

Events NSW transferred its membership of Parramasala to Destination NSW on 16 December 2011 for no consideration.

(n) Administrative restructures

On 1 July 2011 Destination NSW was created through the transfer of the Tourism service group and Homebush 
Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) functions from the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and 
Services and the transfer of functions from Events NSW which is to be formally wound up.

This is an administrative restructure, which is treated as a contribution by owners and recognised as an adjustment 
to Accumulated Funds. The transfers are recognised at the amount at which the assets and liabilities were 
recognised by the transferor immediately prior to the restructure, which approximates fair value. Refer note 12.

Comparative statements of comprehensive income for the transferred service group and functions are discussed in 
note 5.

(o) New Australian Accounting Standards issued but not effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
effective have not been adopted for the financial reporting period ended 30 June 2012. Those relevant to the Group 
are listed as follows:

•	 AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 regarding financial instruments

•	 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

•	 AASB 13 and AASB 2011-8 regarding fair value measurement

•	 AASB 119, AASB 2011-10 and AASB 2011-11 regarding employee benefits

•	 AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

•	 AASB 1053 and AASB 2010-2 regarding differential reporting

•	 AASB 2010-10 regarding removal of fixed dates for first time adopters

•	 AASB 2011-2 regarding Trans Tasman Convergence – RDR

•	 AASB 2011-3 regarding orderly adoption of changes to the ABS GFS Manual

•	 AASB 2011-6 regarding RDR and relief from consolidation

•	 AASB 2011-7 regarding consolidation and joint arrangements

•	 AASB 2011-9 regarding presentation of items of other comprehensive income

•	 AASB 2011-12 regarding Interpretation 20

•	 AASB 2011-13 regarding AASB 1049 and GAAP/GFS harmonisation

•	 AASB 2012-1 regarding fair value measurement-reduced disclosure requirements

These standards/interpretations are not considered to have a material impact.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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2. Expenses excluding losses

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

(a) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 14,759 –

Superannuation – defined benefit plans 145 –

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 1,018 11

Long service leave 394 –

Workers compensation insurance 15 –

Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 711 6

Redundancy 1,338 –

Other – Miscellaneous 188 115

18,568 132

(b) Personnel services

Personnel services – 17,357

– 17,357

(c) Other operating expenses include the following:

Auditor’s remuneration – audit of the financial statements 92 64

Rental expense 1,696 1,696

Accommodation expenses 566 566

Maintenance* 150 150

Insurance 86 41

Telecommunications 773 770

Travel and accommodation 2,385 2,299

Motor vehicle 79 50

Consultants 194 194

Contractors 5,891 5,856

Advertising 28,346 28,313

Visiting journalists accommodation and expenses 29 28

Promotion 4,038 4,025

Printing and publications 402 400

Fees – events 47,197 47,127

Fees – other 7,619 7,540

Purchases 262 242

Miscellaneous 768 754

Grants – government organisations 1,591 275

Grants – other organisations 13,217 10,605

Grants – Homebush Motor Racing Authority – 4,468

 115,381 115,463
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Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

*Reconciliation – Total maintenance

Maintenance expense – contracted labour and other (non-employee related), as above 150 150

Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(a) – –

Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a) + (c) 150 150

(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Plant and equipment 387 387

Infrastructure systems 1,041 –

Intangibles 41 41

1,469 428

3. Revenue

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

(a) Sales of goods and services

Sales of advertising and publications 47 47

Conferences 160 160

207 207

(b) Investment revenue

Interest 480 480

480 480

(c) Grants and contributions

Recurrent grants from Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure  
and Services

124,299 108,566

Grants from other bodies 6,621 21,150

In kind sponsorship 1,370 1,370

132,290 131,086

(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities

Superannuation – defined benefit 145 –

Payroll tax 8 –

153 –

(e) Other revenue

Fees 379 158

Contributions from the Crown Entity – 153

Miscellaneous 2,070 2,041

2,449 2,352

2. Expenses excluding losses CONTINUED
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4. Gain/(loss) on disposal

Assets with a written down value of nil as at date of transfer have not been capitalised. 

Assets written off after transfer from Events NSW to Destination NSW

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal – –

Written down value of assets disposed (90) (90)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment (90) (90)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of intangibles

Proceeds from disposal – –

Written down value of assets disposed (142) (142)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment (142) (142)

(232) (232)
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5. Service groups of Destination NSW
Recurrent and Capital grant funding from the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and 
Services is provided to Destination NSW through the Department’s Tourism, Gaming and Arts service group.

This service group covers promoting New South Wales to domestic and international tourism markets, 
fostering a sustainable, professional, creative and diverse cultural sector, and ensuring a vibrant and responsible 
hospitality sector.

As there is only one service group, details of the expenses, income, assets and liabilities for this service group are 
available in the primary financial statements.

Service groups transferred from the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services on 
1 July 2011.

Tourism
Service Description: This service group covers promoting New South Wales to domestic and international tourism 
markets and providing opportunities for an increase in jobs and tourist expenditure.

SERVICE GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Tourism 
2011 
$’000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

 Employee related 12,901

 Other operating expenses 3,536

Depreciation and amortisation 780

Grants and subsidies 5,245

Other expenses 32,101

Total expenses excluding losses 54,563

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 459

Investment revenue 231

Grants and contributions 3,221

Other revenue 1,575

Total Revenue 5,486

Gain/(loss) on disposal (152)

Other gains/(losses) 56

Net result (49,173)

Other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income 715

Total comprehensive income (48,458)

Appropriations are made on a Department basis and not to individual service groups.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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The functions of the Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) were transferred from the Department of Trade 
and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services on 1 July 2011. 

These functions were included within the Investment Attraction and Industry Development service group of the 
Department. This service group covered investment attraction for large projects through undertaking industry 
specific analysis for the identified priority areas, identifying export industries and markets, and generating industry 
investment. This includes the development and implementation of industry and sectoral plans to proactively drive 
industry growth at a State and regional level. 

HMRA 
2011 
$’000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

 Employee related 691

 Other operating expenses 468

Depreciation and amortisation 1,015

Grants and subsidies 4,130

Total expenses excluding losses 6,304

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 45

Grants and contributions 733

Total Revenue 778

Gain/(loss) on disposal –

Other gains/(losses) –

Net result (5,526)

Other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income –

Total comprehensive income (5,526)

Appropriations are made on a Department basis and not to individual service groups.
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Functions transferred from the Events New South Wales Pty Ltd (Events NSW) on 1 July 2011.

Events NSW acts on behalf of the NSW Government to position Sydney and New South Wales as leading destinations 
for world-class events.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Events NSW 
2011 
$’000

Expenses 

Events funding 32,255

Events advertising and promotion 8,781

General and administrative expenses 6,004

Personnel expenses 5,288

Occupancy expenses 614

Bad debts expense 170

Total expenses 53,112

Revenue

Government grant income 51,274

Events revenue 375

Financial income 386

Gain on sale of assets 1

Sundry income 396

Total Revenue 52,432

Net result (680)

Other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income 55

Total comprehensive income (625)

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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6. Current assets – cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 10,861 10,374

10,861 10,374

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand, 
short-term deposits and bank overdraft.

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of the 
financial year to the statement of cash flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position) 10,861 10,374

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows) 10,861 10,374

Refer to Note 17 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.

7. Current assets – receivables

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

Prepayments 73 73

GST receivable 2,650 2,650

Trade debtors 1,867 1,867

Transfers to Destination NSW 2,410 2,410

Miscellaneous 589 589

7,589 7,589

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, 
are disclosed in Note 17.
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8. Non-current assets – plant and equipment

Plant and equipment Infrastructure systems Total

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

At 30 June 2012 – fair value

Gross carrying amount 1,048 1,048 8,727 – 9,775 1,048

Accumulated depreciation (387) (387) (1,041) – (1,428) (387)

Net carrying amount 661 661 7,686 – 8,347 661

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current reporting 
period is set out below.

Plant and equipment Infrastructure systems Total

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Period ended 30 June 2012

Acquisitions through 
administrative restructures

1,138 1,138 8,727 – 9,865 1,138

Additions – – – – – –

Disposals (90) (90) – – (90) (90)

Net revaluation increment less 
revaluation decrements

– – – – – –

Depreciation expenses (387) (387) (1,041) – (1,428) (387)

Depreciation written back on 
disposal

– – – – – –

Net carrying amount at end 
of year

661 661 7,686 – 8,347 661

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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9. Non-current assets – intangibles

Software Total

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

At 30 June 2012 – fair value

Gross carrying amount 79 79 79 79

Accumulated amortisation (41) (41) (41) (41)

Net carrying amount 38 38 38 38

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current reporting period is 
set out below.

Software Total

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Period ended 30 June 2012

Acquisitions through administrative restructures 221 221 221 221

Additions – – – –

Disposals (142) (142) (142) (142)

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrements – – – –

Amortisation expenses (41) (41) (41) (41)

Amortisation written back on disposal – – – –

Net carrying amount at end of year 38 38 38 38

10. Current/non-current liabilities – payables

 
Current

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 857 –

Personnel Services payable – 847

Creditors 10,272 10,907

Unearned revenue 865 433

11,994 12,187

Non-current

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

Creditors – 7

– 7

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables, are 
disclosed in Note 17.
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11. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

Current

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Personnel services – 4,299

Recreation leave 1,342 –

Long service leave 1,862 –

Redundancy 1,308 –

4,512 4,299

Other provisions

Make good 421 421

421 421

Total current provisions 4,933 4,720

Non-current

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Personnel services – 91

Long service leave 98 –

Total non-current provisions 98 91

Total provisions 5,031 4,811

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions – current 4,512 4,299

Provisions – non-current 98 91

Personnel Services payable (Note 10) – 847

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 10) 857 –

5,467 5,237

Movements in provisions (other than employee benefits)

Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year – –

Increase/(decrease) in provision 21 21

Amounts used – –

Amounts transferred in due to restructure 400 400

Carrying amount at end of financial year 421 421

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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12. Increase/decrease in net assets from equity transfers

(a)  Transfer of assets and liabilities to Destination NSW from the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional 
Infrastructure and Services on the transfer of Tourism NSW and Homebush Motor Racing Authority functions.

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 214 214

Receivables 4,432 4,432

Total current assets 4,646 4,646

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment

  Plant and equipment 540 540

  Infrastructure systems 8,727 –

Total plant and equipment 9,267 540

Intangibles 6 6

Total non-current assets 9,273 9,273

Total assets 13,919 5,192

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables 3,084 3,084

Provisions 1,542 1,542

Total current liabilities 4,626 4,626

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 8 8

Total non-current liabilities 8 8

Total liabilities 4,634 4,634

Net assets/(liabilities) 9,285 558
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12. Increase/decrease in net assets from equity transfers CONTINUED

(b) Transfer of assets and liabilities to Destination NSW from Events NSW on the transfer of functions.

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents1 611 611

Total current assets 611 611

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment

  Plant and equipment 598 598

Total plant and equipment 598 598

Intangibles 215 215

Total non-current assets 813 813

Total assets 1,424 1,424

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables 627 627

Provisions2 211 211

Total current liabilities 838 838

Total liabilities 838 838

Net assets/(liabilities) 586 586

Notes

1  This balance is the result of a cash transfer of $8.0 million, less grant expenditure of $7.3 million paid by Events NSW on 
behalf of Destination NSW.

2  Provision excludes superannuation defined benefit obligations which have been assumed by the Crown (refer Note 12(d)(i).

(c) Total net assets/(liabilities) transferred into Destination NSW on the transfer of functions.

Consolidated 
$’000

Parent 
$’000

Net assets/(liabilities)

Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services 9,285 558

Events NSW 586 586

Total net assets/(liabilities) 9,871 1,144

(d) Transactions with the Crown

(i)  The Crown has assumed the negative reserve in the employer superannuation reserve account of the former 
Events NSW extinguishing the liability for defined benefit superannuation previously held in these accounts 
($586,000).

(ii)  Destination NSW has taken up the liability for long service leave for the staff transferred from the Department of Trade 
and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services which was previously held by the Crown. A cash transfer of 
funded long service leave was based on the assumption of the nominal value of the long service leave ($1,394,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/2012 Destination NSW  91 

13. Commitments for expenditure

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

(a) Capital commitments

As at 30 June 2012 Destination NSW had no Capital commitments.

(b) Operating lease commitments

Aggregate operating expenditure contracted for at balance date but not  
provided for in accounts payable:

Not later than one year 1,112 934

Later than one year and not later than five years 121 –

Later than five years – –

Total (including GST) 1,233 934

The total of ‘Operating Lease Commitments’ above includes input tax credits  
that are expected to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.

112 85

(c) Service level agreement with NSW Trade and Investment

As at 30 June 2012 the service level agreement between Destination NSW  
and NSW Trade and Investment was still being negotiated.

(d) Events funding commitments

Aggregate operating expenditure contracted for at balance date but not  
provided for in accounts payable:

Not later than one year 37,877 35,292

Later than one year and not later than five years 74,658 74,012

Later than five years 14,300 14,300

Total (including GST) 126,835 123,604

The total of ‘Events funding’ above includes input tax credits that are expected  
to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.

11,530 11,237

(e) Tourism funding commitments

Aggregate operating expenditure contracted for at balance date but not  
provided for in accounts payable:

Not later than one year 4,015 4,015

Later than one year and not later than five years 348 348

Later than five years – –

Total (including GST) 4,363 4,363

The total of ‘Tourism funding’ above includes input tax credits that are  
expected to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.

397 397
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14. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The Board is unaware of the existence of any Contingent Liabilities or Contingent Assets as at balance date. 

15. Budget review
The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that 
necessitates variations to the planned activities of the Group for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the 
financial activities. Major variations between the budget and actual amounts are outlined below.

Net result

The actual net result was higher than budget by $1.329 million. It is to be noted that both expenses and income 
are over budget reflecting the receipt and expenditure of funds received from NSW Trade and Investment for a 
$15 million election commitment and the wind up of the Greater Sydney Partnership partially offset by higher than 
expected employee costs primarily arising from redundancy-related costs associated with a restructure initiated 
in June 2012.

Assets and liabilities 

Total Assets are higher than budget by $14.945 million, primarily due to end of year cash and receivables balances 
associated with a higher than expected level of accruals and transfers associated with the formation of the new 
entity.

Total Liabilities are higher than budget by $12.965 million, primarily due to a higher level of creditors and employee 
provisions than expected at year end.

Cash flows 

Net Cash Flows from Operating are higher than budget by $8.487 million, primarily due to increased grant receipts.

16. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to Net result

Consolidated 
2012 
$’000

Parent 
2012 
$’000

Net cash used on operating activities 7,434 9,549

Depreciation and amortisation (1,469) (428)

Non-cash expense (232) (232)

Non-cash transfers in of receivables, payables and provisions 3,632 1,040

Increase/(decrease) in Receivables 7,589 7,589

(Increase)/decrease in Payables (11,994) (11,974)

(Increase)/decrease in Provisions (5,031) (5,031)

Net result (71) 513

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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17. Financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from 
the Group’s operations or are required to finance the Group’s operations. The Group does not enter into or trade 
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Group’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are 
included throughout these financial statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse 
the risks faced by the Group, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is 
reviewed by the Internal Auditors.

(a) Financial instrument categories

Financial assets
Class Note Category

Consolidated 
carrying amount

2012 
$’000

Parent 
carrying amount

2012 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 6 N/A 10,861 10,374

Receivables1 7 Loans and receivables (at amortised cost) 4,866 4,866

Financial liabilities
Class Note Category

Consolidated 
carrying amount

2012 
$’000

Parent 
carrying amount

2012 
$’000

Payables2 10 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 11,129 11,761

Notes

1 Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).

2  Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Group’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, 
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the 
carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, including cash, receivables and authority deposits. No 
collateral is held by the Group. The Group has not granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the Group’s financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the selection 
of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards. 

Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the Westpac Bank as well as various overseas Advance 
Accounts. Interest is earned on daily bank balances held in the Westpac Bank account. The interest rate at year end 
was 3.42%. No interest is earned on the overseas Advance Accounts. 

Receivables – trade debtors
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding 
amounts, including letters of demand. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for 
impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts due. This 
evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in economic conditions and debtor credit 
ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors.
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The Group is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. 
Based on past experience, debtors that are not past due (2012: $1,337,000) and past due (2012: $530,000) are not 
considered impaired. Together these represent 100 per cent of the total trade debtors. 

The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the ‘receivables’ category 
of the statement of financial position.

Consolidated
Total1, 2 

$’000
Past due but not impaired 

$’000
Considered impaired 

$’000

2012

< 3 months overdue 530 530 –

Parent
Total1, 2 

$’000
Past due but not impaired 

$’000
Considered impaired 

$’000

2012

< 3 months overdue 530 530 –

Notes

1 Each column in this table represents ‘gross receivable’.

2   The ageing analysis excludes receivables that are not past due and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile 
to the receivable total recognised in the statement of financial position.

Authority deposits
The Agency has no funds placed on deposit with TCorp.

Other facilities
The Agency has access to the following banking facilities:

2012 
$’000

MasterCard Limit 550

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Group 
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate 
holding of high quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of loans and other advances.

During the period under review there were no defaults or breaches on any loans payable. No assets have been 
pledged as collateral. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on the current 
assessment of risk.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or 
not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out 
in NSW TC 11/12. For small business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 
30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, 
payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an invoice or a statement is 
received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified time period, simple interest 
must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the 
Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple 
interest. The rate of interest applied during the year was 0%.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate 
exposure:

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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MATURITY ANALYSIS AND INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Consolidated

Weighted 
average 
effective  
int. rate

Nominal 
amount 1 

$’000

Fixed  
int. rate 

$’000

Variable 
int. rate 

$’000

Non-
interest 
bearing 

$’000 < 1 yr 1 – 5 yrs > 5 yrs

2012

Payables – 11,129 – – 11,129 11,129 – –

11,129 – – 11,129 11,129 – –

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Parent

Weighted 
average 
effective  
int. rate

Nominal 
amount 1 

$’000

Fixed  
int. rate 

$’000

Variable 
int. rate 

$’000

Non-
interest 
bearing 

$’000 < 1 yr 1 – 5 yrs > 5 yrs

2012

Payables – 11,761 – – 11,761 11,754 7 –

11,761 – – 11,761 11,754 7 –

Note

1  The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Agency can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows and 
therefore will not reconcile to the statement of financial position.

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. The Group has no material exposure to foreign currency risk and does not enter into 
commodity contracts.

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information 
below, for interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined 
after taking into account the economic environment in which the Group operates and the time frame for the 
assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposure 
in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain 
constant.

Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities. This risk is minimised 
by undertaking mainly fixed-rate borrowings, primarily with NSW TCorp. The Group does not account for any fixed-
rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale. Therefore, for these financial 
instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of 
+/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. The basis will be reviewed annually and amended 
where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is 
set out below:
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$’000

Carrying –1% 1%
Consolidated amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,861 (108) (108) 108 108

Receivables 4,866 – – – –

Financial liabilities

Payables 11,129 – – – –

$’000

Carrying –1% 1%
Parent amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,374 (104) (104) 104 104

Receivables 4,866 – – – –

Financial liabilities

Payables 11,761 – – – –

(e) Fair Value compared to Carrying Amount

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost. The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in 
the statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many of the 
financial instruments. 

18. Contributed equity

Consolidated
2012 

$

100 ordinary shares of $1 each, fully paid 100

100

Events NSW does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. The holders of ordinary 
shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
meetings of Events NSW.

19. After balance date events
There are no events subsequent to the balance date which affect the financial information disclosed in these 
financial statements.

End of the audited financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/2012 Destination NSW Division  97 

 98 Statement by the Chief Executive Officer

 99 Auditor's report – Destination NSW Division

 101 Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2012

 102 Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012

 103 Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2012

 103 Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2012

 104 Notes to the Financial Statements

 104 1. Summary of significant accounting policies

 110 2. Expenses excluding losses 

 111 3. Revenue 

 111 4. Current/non-current assets – receivables

 112 5. Non-current assets – plant and equipment

 112 6. Current liabilities – payables

 113 7. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions

 114 8. Increase/decrease in net assets from equity transfers

 115 9. Commitments

 116 10. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 116 11. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to the Net result 

 116 12. Audit fees

 116 13. Financial instruments

 116 14. After balance date events

Destination NSW Division Financial Statements

Contents



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/201298  Financial Statements

Destination NSW Division

Statement by the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 41C of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, I state that:

•	 The accompanying financial statements and notes to the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 
2010 and the Treasurer’s Directions;

•	 The statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of the Destination NSW 
Division for the year ended 30 June 2012; and

•	 At the date on which the statement is signed, there are no circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

Date: 18th October 2012 
 Sandra Chipchase 
 Chief Executive Officer
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Auditor's Report – Destination NSW Division
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Destination NSW Division 
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2012
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes

Actual 
2012 
$’000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

 Employee related 2(a) 17,964

 Other operating expenses 2(b) 4,140

Depreciation 2(c) 1,041

Total expenses excluding losses 23,145

Revenue

Personnel services 3(a) 17,204

Acceptance by Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 3(b) 153

Grants and contributions 3(c) 4,513

Other revenue 3(d) 234

Total revenue 22,104

Gain/(loss) on disposal –

Other gains/(losses) –

Net result (1,041)

Other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income –

Total comprehensive income (1,041)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Notes

Actual 
2012 
$’000

Assets

Current assets

Receivables 4 5,802

Total current assets 5,802

Non-current assets

Receivables 4 98

Plant and equipment 5

  Infrastructure systems 7,686

Total plant and equipment 7,686

Total non-current assets 7,784

Total assets 13,586

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables 6 1,290

Provisions 7 4,512

Total current liabilities 5,802

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 7 98

Total non-current liabilities 98

Total liabilities 5,900

Net assets 7,686

Equity

Accumulated funds 7,686

Total equity 7,686

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Financial Statements CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Accumulated 
Funds 
$’000

Total  
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2011 – –

Net result for the year (1,041) (1,041)

Total other comprehensive income – –

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 8,727 8,727

Balance at 30 June 2012 7,686 7,686

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes Actual 
2012 
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments

Employee related (13,839)

Other (3,697)

Total payments (17,536)

Receipts

Personnel services 13,232

Other 4,304

Total receipts 17,536

Net cash flows from operating activities 11 –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash –

Opening cash and cash equivalents –

Closing cash and cash equivalents –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Reporting entity

Destination NSW Division (the Division) was established as a Division of the Government Service by the Public Sector 
Employment and Management (Miscellaneous) Order 2011 which commenced on 1 July 2011. The Division is a Non-
Public Service Division assigned to a statutory corporation pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act 2002 and falls within the Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and 
Services cluster of the public service. 

The Division is a controlled entity of Destination NSW and is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector 
Accounts.

The Division’s objective is to provide personnel services to Destination NSW. The Division has responsibility for the 
employees and employee-related liabilities of Destination NSW. From July 2011 staff from the Department of Trade 
and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services who were principally involved in matters relating to tourism 
and who were required to enable Destination NSW to exercise its functions were transferred to the Destination NSW 
Division. The functions of Events NSW were also transferred to Destination NSW from July 2011 and the Events NSW 
staff transferred to the Destination NSW Division from this date.

Under the Public Sector Employment and Management (Mental Health Commission and Other Matters) Order 2012 
Clause 5 (2), commencing on 30 June 2012, section 39 of the Homebush Motor Racing (Sydney 400) Act 2008 has been 
changed to refer to Destination NSW Division as being the agency which for the purposes of the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1983, the Annual Reports (Departments) Act 1985, and any other Act prescribed by the regulations the 
Homebush Motor Racing Authority is to be taken as part.

The Homebush Motor Racing Authority (HMRA) is a body corporate constituted under the Homebush Motor Racing 
(Sydney 400) Act 2008 (HMR Act). HMRA has a CEO who is responsible for the day-to-day management of the 
affairs of the Authority. HMRA has an advisory Board, the principal function of which is to provide advice to the 
CEO; HMRA cannot employ staff and is assisted by staff employed within the Destination NSW Division. HMRA is 
not identified in schedule 1 to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act (PSEM Act); and is not identified 
in schedule 2 or schedule 3 of the Public Finance and Audit Act (PFA Act).

A legal opinion was provided on 11 July 2012 by the NSW Crown Solicitor’s office that by virtue of cl. 5 of the 
2012 Order, HMRA was taken to be part of the Destination NSW Division for the purposes of the ARSB Act on and 
from 30 June 2012, accordingly, the entire 2011/2012 financial year activities for HMRA should be included in 
Destination NSW Division’s 2011/2012 financial report.

These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 have been authorised for issue by the Chief Executive 
Officer, Destination NSW, on 18 October 2012. 

(b) Basis of preparation

The Division’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with:

•	 applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations);

•	 the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010; and

•	 specific directions issued by the Treasurer. 

Plant and equipment and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ and available for sale are measured at 
fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statements do not take into 
account changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value. 
See Note 7.

The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements, except for cash 
flow information.
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Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency. 

(c) Statement of compliance

The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian 
Accounting Interpretations.  

(d) Insurance

The Division’s insurance activities are included within Destination NSW’s cover and conducted through the NSW 
Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined 
by the Fund Manager based on past claim experience.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that the amount of GST incurred by 
the Division as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.

The GST components of cash flows arising from the operating activities of the Division are included in the cash flows 
of Destination NSW accounts.

(f) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income from the rendering of 
personnel services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable 
expenses are recognised.

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional 
comments regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

(i) Personnel services
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income from the rendering of 
personnel services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable 
expenses are recognised.

(ii) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Division transfers the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the assets.

(iii) Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour 
hours incurred to date).

(iv) Investment revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. 

(v) Grants and contributions
Grants and contributions include donations and grants from Destination NSW. They are generally recognised as income 
when Destination NSW Division obtains control over the assets comprising the grants and contributions. Control over 
grants and contributions are normally obtained when the obligations relating to the receipt have been met.

(g) Receivables

A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it 
has a value that can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash 
flows from it expire or are transferred.
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A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less any allowance for doubtful debts. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at 
the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for 
settlement within thirty days of invoicing.

If there is objective evidence at year end that a receivable may not be collectable, its carrying amount is reduced 
by means of an allowance for doubtful debts and the resulting loss is recognised in the Net result for the year. 
Receivables are monitored during the year and bad debts are written off against the allowance when they are 
determined to be irrecoverable. Any other loss or gain arising when a receivable is derecognised is also recognised 
in the Net result for the year.

(h) Plant and equipment

(i) Acquisition of assets
The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the Division. 
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the 
asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when 
initially recognised in accordance with the specific requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date 
of acquisition. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent, 
i.e. the deferred payment amount is effectively discounted at an asset-specific rate.

(ii) Capitalisation thresholds
Plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a network costing more than $5,000) 
are capitalised.

(iii) Revaluation of plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair 
Value” Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP 07-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  

Plant and equipment is measured on an existing use basis, where there are no feasible alternative uses in the 
existing natural, legal, financial and socio-political environment. However, in the limited circumstances where there 
are feasible alternative uses, assets are valued at their highest and best use.

Fair value of plant and equipment is determined based on the best available market evidence, including current 
market selling prices for the same or similar assets.  Where there is no available market evidence, the asset’s fair 
value is measured at its market buying price, the best indicator of which is depreciated replacement cost.

The Division revalues each class of plant and equipment at least every five years or with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date.

Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, as a surrogate for 
fair value.

When revaluing non-current assets by reference to current prices for assets newer than those being revalued 
(adjusted to reflect the present condition of the assets), the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation 
are separately restated.

For other assets, any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are 
credited to the asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the 
revaluation increments or decrements.

Revaluation increments are credited directly to revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment 
reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the net 
result, the increment is recognised immediately as revenue in the net result.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result, except that, to the extent that a 
credit balance exists in the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to 
the revaluation surplus.

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of 
non-current assets, but not otherwise.

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the revaluation surplus 
in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

(iv) Impairment of plant and equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units,  AASB 136 Impairment of Assets effectively is not applicable. 
AASB 136 modifies the recoverable amount test to the higher of fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost. This means that, where an asset already measured at fair value, impairment can only arise if 
selling costs are material. Selling costs for the Division are regarded as immaterial.

(v) Depreciation of plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable 
amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Division. 

All material separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated over their shorter useful lives.

Default asset lives are:

Infrastructure systems 10 years

Depreciation rates are reviewed and determined on an annual basis.

(vi) Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 
replacement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(i) Payables

Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on-costs (such as payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and 
workers’ compensation insurance) when there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the 
obligation expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

(j) Employee benefits and other provisions

(i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are due 
to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised 
and measured in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Long-term annual leave that is not expected to be taken within twelve months is measured at present value in 
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in 
the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
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The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which 
are consequential to employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 
they relate have been recognised.

(ii) Long service leave
Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits, based on the 
application of procedures specified in NSW TC 12/06 to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.

(iii) Superannuation
The Division’s liability for defined benefit superannuation is assumed by the Crown Entity. The Division accounts for 
the liability as having been extinguished; resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary 
revenue item described as “Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities”. 

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions (NSW TC 11/04). The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State 
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State 
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of 
the employees’ superannuation contributions.

(k) Equity

(i) Accumulated Funds
The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(l) Equity transfers

The transfer of net assets between entities as a result of an administrative restructure, transfers of programs/
functions and parts thereof between NSW public sector entities are designated or required by Accounting Standards 
to be treated as contributions by owners and recognised as an adjustment to ‘Accumulated Funds’. This treatment is 
consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions and Australian Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities.

Transfers arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit and for-profit government entities are 
recognised at the amount at which the assets and liabilities were recognised by the transferor immediately prior to 
the restructure. Subject to below, in most instances this will approximate fair value.

All other equity transfers are recognised at fair value, except for intangibles. Where an intangible has been 
recognised at amortised cost by the transferor because there is no active market, the entity recognises the asset 
at the transferor’s carrying amount. Where the transferor is prohibited from recognising internally generated 
intangibles, the entity does not recognise that asset.

(m) Comparative information

Comparative information is not provided, given that this is the first financial year of Destination NSW Division.

(n) Administrative restructures

On 1 July 2011 Destination NSW Division was created through the transfer of staff from the Department of Trade 
and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services who were principally involved in matters relating to tourism 
and the transfer of staff from Events NSW. 

This is an administrative restructure, which is treated as a contribution by owners and recognised as an adjustment 
to Accumulated Funds. The transfers are recognised at the amount at which the assets and liabilities were 
recognised by the transferor immediately prior to the restructure, which approximates fair value. Refer Note 8.

From 30 June the activities of the Homebush Motor Racing Authority are taken as part of Destination NSW Division 
for the purposes of annual reporting.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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(o) New Australian Accounting Standards issued but not effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
effective have not been adopted for the financial reporting period ended 30 June 2012. Those relevant to the 
Division are listed as follows:

•	 AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 regarding financial instruments

•	 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

•	 AASB 13 and AASB 2011-8 regarding fair value measurement

•	 AASB 119, AASB 2011-10 and AASB 2011-11 regarding employee benefits

•	 AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

•	 AASB 1053 and AASB 2010-2 regarding differential reporting

•	 AASB 2010-10 regarding removal of fixed dates for first time adopters

•	 AASB 2011-2 regarding Trans Tasman Convergence – RDR

•	 AASB 2011-3 regarding orderly adoption of changes to the ABS GFS Manual

•	 AASB 2011-6 regarding RDR and relief from consolidation

•	 AASB 2011-7 regarding consolidation and joint arrangements

•	 AASB 2011-9 regarding presentation of items of other comprehensive income

•	 AASB 2011-12 regarding Interpretation 20

•	 AASB 2011-13 regarding AASB 1049 and GAAP/GFS harmonisation

•	 AASB 2012-1 regarding fair value measurement-reduced disclosure requirements

These standards/interpretations are not considered to have a material impact.
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2. Expenses excluding losses 

2012 
$’000

(a) Employee related

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 14,318

Superannuation – defined benefit plans 145

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 964

Long service leave 406

Workers compensation insurance 15

Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 705

Redundancy 1,338

Other – Miscellaneous 73

17,964

(b) Other operating expenses

Telecommunications 3

Travel 26

Motor Vehicle 29

Contractors 35

Advertising 32

Promotion 4

Printing and publications 2

Fees – events 45

Fees – other 12

Purchases 19

Miscellaneous 4

Grants – government organisations 1,317

Grants – other organisations 2,612

4,140

(c) Depreciation

Infrastructure systems 1,041

1,041

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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3. Revenue 

2012 
$’000

(a) Personnel services

Personnel services 17,204

17,204

(b) Acceptance by Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities

Superannuation – defined benefit 145

Payroll tax 8

153

(c) Grants and contributions

Grant from Destination NSW to Homebush Motor Racing Authority 4,468

Grants from other bodies 45

4,513

(d) Other revenue

Fees 220

Miscellaneous 14

234

4. Current/non-current assets – receivables

2012 
$’000

Current

Personnel services 5,146

Operating grant for Homebush Motor Racing Authority 656

5,802

Non-current

Personnel services 91

Operating grant for Homebush Motor Racing Authority 7

98
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5. Non-current assets – plant and equipment

Infrastructure 
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 30 June 2012 – fair value

Gross carrying amount 8,727 8,727

Accumulated depreciation (1,041) (1,041)

Net carrying amount 7,686 7,686

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current reporting 
period is set out below:

Infrastructure 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Period ended 30 June 2012

Acquisitions through administrative restructures 8,727 8,727

Additions – –

Disposals – –

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrements – –

Depreciation expenses (1,041) (1,041)

Depreciation written back on disposal – –

Net carrying amount at end of year 7,686 7,686

6. Current liabilities – payables

2012 
$’000

Current

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 437

Creditors 421

Unearned revenue 432

1,290

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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7. Current/non-current liabilities – provisions

2012 
$’000

Current

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Recreation leave 1,342

Long service leave 1,862

Redundancy 1,308

4,512

Non-current

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Long service leave 98

98

Total provisions 4,610

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions – current 4,512

Provisions – non-current 98

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (note 6) 437

5,047
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8. Increase/decrease in net assets from equity transfers
(a)  Transfer of HMRA infrastructure assets and operations and employee-related liabilities for tourism staff to 

Destination NSW Division from the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services.

Assets

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment

  Infrastructure 8,727

Total non-current assets 8,727

Total assets 8,727

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 141

Employee provisions 1,143

Total current liabilities 1,284

Non-current liabilities

Employee provisions 8

Total non-current liabilities 8

Total liabilities 1,292

(b) Transfer of employee-related liabilities to Destination NSW Division from Events NSW.

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Employee provisions 211

Total current liabilities 211

Total liabilities 211

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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(c)  Establishment of a receivable from Destination NSW for the provision of personnel services and HMRA operations.

Assets

Current assets

Receivables 1,495

Total current assets 1,495

Non-current assets

Receivables 8

Total non-current assets 8

Total assets 1,503

(d) Transactions with the Crown

(i) The Crown has assumed the negative reserve in the employer superannuation reserve account of the former 
Events NSW extinguishing the liability for defined benefit superannuation previously held in these accounts 
($586,000).

(ii) Destination NSW has taken up the liability for long service leave for the staff transferred from the 
Department of Trade and Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services which was previously held by the 
Crown. A cash transfer funded the assumption of the nominal value of the long service leave ($1,394,000).

9. Commitments

2012 
$’000

(a) Capital commitments

As at 30 June 2012 Destination NSW Division had no Capital commitments.

(b) Operating lease commitments

Aggregate operating expenditure contracted for at balance date but not provided for in accounts payable:

Not later than one year 178

Later than one year and not later than five years 121

Later than five years –

Total (including GST) 299

The total of ‘Operating Lease Commitments’ above includes input tax credits that are expected  
to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.

27

(c) Events funding commitments

Aggregate operating expenditure contracted for at balance date but not provided for in accounts payable:

Not later than one year 2,585

Later than one year and not later than five years 646

Later than five years –

Total (including GST) 3,231

The total of ‘Events Funding’ above includes input tax credits that are expected to be recoverable  
from the Australian Taxation Office.

293
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10. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The Division is unaware of the existence of any Contingent Liabilities or Contingent Assets as at balance date.

11. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to the Net result 

2012 
$’000

Net cash used on operating activities –

Depreciation (1,041)

Increase/(decrease) in Receivables 5,900

(Increase)/decrease in Payables (1,290)

(Increase)/decrease in Provisions (4,610)

Net result (1,041)

12. Audit fees
All audit fees are met directly by Destination NSW.

13. Financial instruments
The Division has no cash and cash equivalents and all receivables (2012: $5,802,000) relate to a single debtor, 
Destination NSW. No receivables are past due or impaired.

All liabilities (2012: $5,802,000) are payables, accruals and provisions relating to the provision of personnel services 
to Destination NSW and the operations of HMRA.

These financial instruments arise directly from the Division’s operations or are required to finance the Division’s 
operations. The Division does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial 
instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Division’s financial instruments are managed by Destination NSW. The Division’s exposure to liquidity risk is 
deemed insignificant based on prior period’s data and current assessment of risk.

The Division has no interest bearing liabilities or assets and is not exposed to market risk.

14. After balance date events
There are no events subsequent to the balance date which affect the financial information disclosed in these 
financial statements.

End of the audited financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Events New South Wales Pty Ltd 
(“the Company”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors
The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Director Date of appointment Date of resignation

John Conde (Chairman) 12 April 2010

Richard Colless 8 November 2007 15 November 2011

Johanna Griggs 8 November 2007 15 November 2011

Peter Ivany 8 November 2007 15 November 2011

David Richmond 3 September 2007 15 November 2011

Belinda Seper 8 November 2007 15 November 2011

Charlotte Vidor 8 November 2007 15 November 2011

Roderick McGeoch 13 December 2010

Geoff Parmenter (CEO) 12 February 2008 15 September 2011

2. Company Secretary
Mr John Hopwood was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 4 April 2008.

3. Directors’ meetings
The number of directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company 
during the financial year are:

Director

Board Meetings

Number of meetings attended Number of meetings held

John Conde 2 2

Richard Colless 0 2

Johanna Griggs 0 2

Peter Ivany 2 2

David Richmond 2 2

Belinda Seper 0 2

Charlotte Vidor 0 2

Roderick McGeoch 1 2

Geoff Parmenter (CEO) 1 2

4. Principal activities
The principal activities of the Company prior to the start of the financial year involved the driving of significant 
economic, strategic, marketing and community benefits to the State of NSW through the sponsorship and leveraging 
of events.

Prior to 30 June 2011, the Company’s shareholder, the NSW State Government, announced a restructure of its 
Tourism and Events resources with the proposed creation of a new statutory authority, Destination NSW.

Destination NSW commenced on 1 July 2011 and incorporated the operations of the former Tourism NSW and 
HMRA. The Company’s financial statements have been prepared on the basis that certain assets and liabilities were 
transferred from Events NSW to Destination NSW on 1 July 2011.
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Due to operational issues of the transfer, the respective employees were transferred over on 1 September 2011.

It is to be noted that the operations of the Company’s Board was not transferred to the Agency as well as several 
staff who elected to stay with the Company for a short period.

Further, all continuing employees became employees of Destination NSW in September 2011. The Company plans to 
retain a board of no less than two directors (at least two of which will also be directors of Destination NSW) to attend 
to residual matters and satisfy governance and corporate requirements until the Company is formally wound up.

The constitution of the Company stipulates that any surplus funds on wind up must be contributed to an entity with 
like objectives and hence, any residual funds will be contributed to Destination NSW. Accordingly, there is no 
financial impact on the Company as at 30 June 2012 (other than classification of all assets and liabilities as current), 
as contributions to Destination NSW either as surplus funds or transfers in-specie of assets and liabilities, will be 
treated as such as and when they occur and equivalent to their current book values (as calculated under a going 
concern basis).

A suitable amount of cash funds will be retained by the Company to satisfy residual obligations.

Objectives

The Company’s objectives are to:

•	 identify, attract and nurture events which will provide significant economic and/or community benefits to Sydney 
and New South Wales; 

•	 develop a Master Calendar of events to ensure the benefits provided by events are consistent year-round and 
long-term; 

•	 encourage the leveraging of these events to maximise the overall economic and community benefits of events to 
New South Wales; 

•	 encourage investment, infrastructure development and other activities which will ensure Sydney and New South 
Wales will continue to be leading hosts of major global events.

5. Environmental issues
The Company is committed to conducting its business activities with respect for the environment and is committed 
to achieving a level of environmental performance which meets or exceeds regulatory requirements, to improve its 
use of natural resources and to minimise waste, while continuing to meet expectations of its stakeholders. The 
Directors are not aware of any material breaches of environmental regulations during the year.

6. Environmental regulation
The Directors are of the opinion that the Company has complied with all relevant environmental legislation, so far as 
it concerns the operations of the Company.

7. Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

8. Operating and financial review
The Statement of comprehensive income shows a profit attributable to members of $456,629 (2011: loss of 
$679,911). The result has been funded from carried forward retained earnings.

9. Dividends
No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year. The directors do not recommend payment of a 
dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
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10. Events subsequent to reporting date
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance which has arisen that has 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the Company. 

11. Likely developments
As a result of a decision by the Company’s shareholder, the NSW State Government, to restructure its Tourism and 
Events resources, the business of the Company was transferred to a new statutory authority, Destination NSW, with 
effect from 1 July 2011.

All assets, liabilities, contracts, rights, obligations and employees were duly transferred.

The Company will continue for the immediate future with a board of at least two directors and with sufficient funds 
to deal with various residual matters until the Company is formally wound up.

12. Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors
Indemnification

The Company has agreed to indemnify the following directors of the Company: John Conde, Richard Colless, 
Johanna Griggs, Peter Ivany, David Richmond, Belinda Seper, Charlotte Vidor, Roderick McGeoch and Geoff 
Parmenter, against all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate) that may 
arise from their position as directors of the Company, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack 
of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including 
costs and expenses.

The Company has agreed to indemnify certain senior executives for all liabilities to another person (other than the 
Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their position in the Company, except where the liability 
arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full 
amount of any such liabilities, including legal fees.

Insurance premiums

During the financial year, the Company has paid premiums of $40,950 in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability 
and legal expenses insurance contracts covering the period to 1 February 2019. Such insurance contracts insure 
against certain liability (subject to specific exclusions) in respect of persons who are or have been directors or 
officers of the Company.

13. Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 144 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2012.

This report is made with a resolution of the directors:

John Conde
Chairman

Dated at Sydney this 18th day of October 2012.
 

Directors’ Report CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note
2012 

$
2011 

$

Revenue

Government grant income 15,733,000 51,274,000

Events revenue 15,000 375,000

Financial income 7 – 386,478

Gain on sale of assets 300 671

Sundry income – 395,696

Total revenue 15,748,300 52,431,845

Expenses

Events funding – 32,254,991

Grant expenditure 14,574,133 –

Events advertising and promotion – 8,780,557

General and administrative expenses 245,910 6,004,140

Personnel expenses 6 471,628 5,287,561

Occupancy expenses – 614,507

Bad debts expense – 170,000

Total expenses 15,291,671 53,111,756

Profit/(loss) for the year 456,629 (679,911)

Other comprehensive income

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) – 54,796

Other comprehensive income for the period – 54,796

Total comprehensive income for the period 456,629 (625,115)

Events New South Wales Pty Ltd 
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2012
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Note

2012

$

2011

$

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 487,033 3,213,086

Trade receivables 9 – 135,322

Other receivables 10 200 825,913

Property, plant and equipment 11 – 559,170

Intangible assets 12 – 215,539

Total current assets 487,233 4,949,030

Total assets 487,233 4,949,030

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 20,000 4,084,082

Provisions 14 – 854,344

Total current liabilities 20,000 4,938,426

Total liabilities 20,000 4,938,426

Net assets 467,233 10,604

Equity

Contributed equity 15 100 100

Retained earnings 467,133 10,504

Total equity 467,233 10,604

Financial Statements CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Contributed  
Equity 

$

Retained 
Earnings 

$

Total 
Equity 

$

Opening balance 1 July 2010 100 635,619 635,719

Comprehensive income for the period

Profit/(loss) for the period – (679,911) (679,911)

Other comprehensive income

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) – 54,796 54,796

Total comprehensive income for the period – (625,115) (625,115)

Closing balance 30 June 2011 100 10,504 10,604

Opening balance 1 July 2011 100 10,504 10,604

Comprehensive income for the period

Profit/(loss) for the period – 456,629 456,629

Other comprehensive income

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) – – –

Total comprehensive income for the period – 456,629 456,629

Closing balance 30 June 2012 100 467,133 467,233
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note
2012 

$
2011 

$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from government 15,733,000 51,274,000

Cash received from operations 1,425,240 877,942

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (3,900,220) (50,020,775)

Interest received – 386,478

Cash paid to Destination NSW (15,984,373) –

Net cash from operating activities 16 (2,726,353) 2,517,645

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment – (244,248)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 300 671

Acquisition of intangible assets – (97,115)

Net cash from investing activities 300 (340,692)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from contributed capital – –

Net cash from financing activities – –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,726,053) 2,176,953

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 3,213,086 1,036,133

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 8 487,033 3,213,086

Financial Statements CONTINUED
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1. Reporting entity
Events New South Wales Pty Ltd (the ‘Company’) is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and 
is responsible for the driving of significant economic, strategic, marketing and community benefits to the State of 
NSW through sponsorship and leveraging of events. Events New South Wales Pty Ltd is a company domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the registered office is Level 4, 88 George Street, Sydney. 

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the 
Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010, Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) 
(including Australian Accounting Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 18 October 2012.

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a liquidation basis (see (d) below). The financial statements have 
been presented in Australian dollars. 

(c) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

(d) Liquidation basis of preparation

Due to the decision of the company’s shareholder, the NSW State Government, to restructure its tourism and events 
resources, the financial statements have been prepared on a liquidation basis. The company’s business activities 
were transferred to a new authority, Destination NSW, with effect from 1 July 2011. As a result, assets and liabilities 
have been measured at their realisable amounts. All items are presented at 30 June 2012 as current in the 
statement of financial position. 

3. Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

(a) Financial instruments

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and trade and other 
payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value 
through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative 
financial instruments are measured as described below. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets are derecognised if the Company’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the Company transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control of substantially all 
risks and rewards of the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, 
i.e., the date that the Company commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if 
the Company’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and cash on hand.

Accounting for finance income and expense is discussed in note 3(g).

(b) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment loss, which is considered as an acceptable surrogate for fair value of these assets.  
This is because the difference between fair value and depreciated cost is considered immaterial.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Borrowing costs related to 
the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income 
as incurred.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net in 
the Statement of comprehensive income. 

(ii) Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the 
day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income 
as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Unexpired period of the lease

Furniture and fittings 3 years

IT equipment 2–3 years

Property and equipment 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.

(c) Impairment

Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have 
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by 
reference to its fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income. Any cumulative loss in respect 
of an available-for-sale financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED



Destination NSW Annual Report 2011/2012 Events NSW  127 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that 
are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income. For available-for-sale 
financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.

Non-financial assets
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, the Company is effectively exempt from AASB 136 Impairment 
of Assets and impairment testing. This is because AASB 136 modifies the recoverable amount test to higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. This means that, for an asset already measured at fair value, 
impairment can only arise if selling costs are material. Selling costs are regarded as immaterial. 

(d) Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as a personnel expense in the Statement of 
comprehensive income when they are due. 

(ii) Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s net 
obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is 
discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets 
are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated or government bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency 
in which the benefits are expected to be paid. The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset is limited 
to the total of any unrecognised past service costs and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form 
of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. An economic benefit is available to 
the Company if it is realisable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised outside of profit or loss in the Other Comprehensive Income in the year in 
which they occur. 

(iii) Other long-term employee benefits
The Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than defined benefit plans is the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus 
related on-costs; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is 
deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated or government bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations. The calculation is performed using the 
projected unit credit method. 

(iv) Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis based on remuneration wage and 
salary rates that the Company expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers 
compensation insurance and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(v) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Company is demonstrably committed, without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement 
date or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination 
benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Company has made an offer encouraging 
voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be 
estimated reliably.
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(e) Revenue

Government grants 
Government grants are received from the NSW State Government to assist the Company in funding for providing 
support and resources to events held in New South Wales.

An unconditional government grant under a signed funding agreement is recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income when the grant becomes receivable. 

Events revenue
Events revenue is recognised upon completion of sponsorship of events in recognition for the Company’s assistance 
in providing support and resources to hold events.

(f) Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the lease.

(g) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense that is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income as it 
accrues. 

(h) Contributions paid

The constitution of the Company does not allow payment of dividends to shareholders. Rather any surplus net 
assets must be paid to another entity with like objective. Any such transfer or payment of net assets to another 
entity is treated as a contribution paid and included in the Statement of comprehensive income equal to the fair 
value of the transfer. 

(i) Income tax
The Company has been granted an exemption from income tax pursuant to Section 24AM of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1936.

(j) Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating 
cash flows. 

(k) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 July 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these is 
expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Company, except for AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments, which becomes mandatory for the Company’s 2014 financial statements and could change the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. The Company does not plan to adopt this standard early and the 
extent of the impact has not been determined. 

(l) Intangible assets

Software and website development costs that are acquired by the Company and have finite useful lives are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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(i) Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible 
assets from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

Software costs 2–6 years

Website development 2 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if 
appropriate.

(m) Comparative information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is 
disclosed in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(n) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the agency and other amounts. Payables are 
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are measured 
at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

4. Determination of fair values
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes based on the following methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions 
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(a) Property, plant and equipment

The Company has non-specialised assets with short useful lives. Consequently, they are measured at depreciated 
historical cost as a surrogate for fair value.

(b) Trade and other receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any 
impairment of receivables. Any changes are accounted for in the Statement of comprehensive income when 
impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process. 

Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

5. Financial risk management 
The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk from their use of financial instruments.

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures 
are included throughout these financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. 
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Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through their 
training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Board of Directors oversee how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced 
by the Company. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers. 

Trade and other receivables

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 

The Board of Directors has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for 
creditworthiness before the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The 
Company’s trade and other receivables relate mainly to the Company’s sponsorship of events.

The Company has established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that 
relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for Companies of similar 
assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is 
determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

The Company uses a robust budget and expenditure approval process to ensure committed expenditure does not 
exceed grant income in accordance with the quantum and timing of the funding agreement in place.

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates will affect the Company’s income. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return.

Interest rate risk

The Company adopts a policy of monitoring deposit rates to ensure cash balances are receiving market interest 
rates on surplus funds.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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6. Personnel expenses

2012 
$

2011 
$

Salaries & wages 486,187 4,589,258

(Decrease)/increase in liability for annual leave (45,122) 26,221

(Decrease) in liability for long service leave (12,243) (150)

Payroll tax – 242,426

Contributions to superannuation plans 42,806 393,232

Defined benefit contribution expense – 36,574

471,628 5,287,561

7. Net financial income
Interest income – 386,478

– 386,478

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank 486,820 3,211,143

Cash on hand 213 1,943

487,033 3,213,086

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis  
for financial assets are disclosed in note 17.

9. Trade receivables
Event revenue receivable – 135,322

– 135,322

The Company’s exposure to credit risks and impairment losses related to  
trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 17.

10. Other receivables
GST receivables 200 699,537

Prepayments – 126,376

200 825,913
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Plant &  
equipment 

$

Leasehold 
improvements 

$

Furniture  
& fittings 

$
IT equipment 

$
Total 

$

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2010 – 815,951 244,090 346,676 1,406,717

Acquisitions 183,550 – 10,951 49,746 244,247

Disposals – – – (18,378) (18,378)

Balance at 30 June 2011 183,550 815,951 255,041 378,044 1,632,586

Balance at 1 July 2011 183,550 815,951 255,041 378,044 1,632,586

Acquisitions 38,546 – – – 38,546

Disposals (222,096) (815,951) (255,041) (378,044) (1,671,132)

Balance at 30 June 2012 – – – – –

Depreciation

Balance at 1 July 2010 – 402,847 146,436 188,082 737,365

Depreciation charge for the year 3,017 150,219 83,279 116,990 353,505

Depreciation on disposals – – – (17,454) (17,454)

Balance at 30 June 2011 3,017 553,066 229,715 287,618 1,073,416

Balance at 1 July 2011 3,017 553,066 229,715 287,618 1,073,416

Depreciation charge for the year – – – – –

Depreciation on disposals (3,017) (553,066) (229,715) (287,618) (1,073,416)

Balance at 30 June 2012 – – – – –

Carrying amounts

As at 1 July 2011 180,533 262,885 25,326 90,426 559,170

As at 30 June 2012 – – – – –

Carrying amounts are classified as current assets due to the transfer transaction detailed in Note 24.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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12. Intangible assets

2012 
$

2011 
$

Software and website development

Balance at 1 July 478,003 380,888

Acquisitions – 97,115

Disposals (478,003) –

Balance at 30 June – 478,003

Amortisation and impairment loss

Balance at 1 July 262,464 74,786

Amortisation for the year – 187,678

Amortisation on disposals (262,464)

Balance at 30 June – 262,464

Carrying amounts

As at 1 July 215,539 306,102

As at 30 June – 215,539

Carrying amounts are classified as current assets due to the transfer  
transaction detailed in Note 24.

13. Trade and other payables
Current 

Trade creditors – 2,690,965

Accrued expenses 20,000 1,212,269

PAYG withholding – 88,466

Superannuation payable – 36,768

Operating lease payable – 55,614

20,000 4,084,082

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 17
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14. Provisions

2012  
$

2011  
$

Employee benefits

Current 

Annual leave – 233,068

Long service leave – 35,348

Employee superannuation defined benefit obligations – 585,928

– 854,344

The Company makes contributions to a Pooled Fund that holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public 
sector superannuation schemes including the State Superannuation Scheme (SSS) and the State Authorities  
Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS). These schemes are both defined benefit schemes with at least 
a component of the final benefit derived from a multiple of member salary and years of membership. 

As at 30 June 2012, the Company has no employees affiliated with the scheme, therefore only the comparative 
information in respect to these provision is presented.

The superannuation statements include both employer and employee superannuation assets and liabilities, as 
prescribed by AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

The following information has been prepared by the scheme actuary:

SANCS  
2011  

$

SSS  
2011  

$

Total  
2011  

$

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at beginning 
of the year

97,757 1,507,840 1,605,597

Current service cost 4,512 33,035 37,547

Interest cost 4,896 78,266 83,162

Contributions by Fund participants – 28,406 28,406

Actuarial (gains) (3,877) (33,875) (37,752)

Benefits paid (362) (41,201) (41,563)

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation  
at end of the year 102,926 1,572,471 1,675,397

The following information has been prepared by the scheme actuary:

SANCS  
2011  

$

SSS  
2011  

$

Total  
2011  

$

Reconciliation of the fair value of Fund assets

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year 81,189 868,813 950,002

Expected return on fund assets 6,946 77,190 84,136

Actuarial gains/(losses) (47) 17,091 17,044

Employer contributions 4,625 46,822 51,447

Contributions by Fund participants – 28,406 28,406

Benefits paid (362) (41,201) (41,563)

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 92,351 997,121 1,089,472

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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SANCS  
2011  

$

SSS  
2011  

$

Total  
2011  

$

Reconciliation of the asset and liabilities recognised in  
the Statement of Financial Position

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation  
at end of year

102,926 1,572,472 1,675,398

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year (92,351) (997,120)   (1,089,471)

Net liability/(asset) recognised in the Statement of financial  
position at end of year 10,575 575,352 585,927

Expense recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income

Current service cost 4,512 33,035 37,547

Interest cost 4,896 78,266 83,162

Expected return on fund assets (net of expenses) (6,946) (77,190) (84,136)

Expense/(income) recognised 2,462 34,111 36,573

Amounts recognised in the statement of changes in equity

Actuarial (gains)/losses

Adjustment for limit on net asset (3,830) (50,966) (54,796)

The following information has been prepared by the scheme actuary:

Fund assets
2011  

$

The percentage invested in each asset class at the balance sheet date:

Australian equities 33.4%

Overseas equity 29.5%

Australian fixed-interest securities 5.7%

Overseas fixed-interest securities 3.1%

Property 9.9%

Cash 5.1%

Other 13.3%

Expected rate of return on assets

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset 
class by the target allocation of assets to each class. The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and 
investment fees.

Valuation method and principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date

(c) Valuation method
The Projected Unit Credit (PUC) valuation method was used to determine the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations and the related current service costs. This method sees each year of service as giving rise to an 
additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation
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(d) Economic assumptions  

2011

Salary increase rate (excluding promotional increases) 3.5% pa

Rate of CPI increase 2.5% pa

Expected rate of return on assets 8.6% pa

Discount rate 5.28% pa
 

The following information has been prepared by the scheme actuary:

SANCS  
2011  

$

SSS  
2011  

$

Total  
2011  

$

Expense recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income

Present value of defined benefit obligation 102,926 1,572,472 1,675,398

Fair value of Fund asset (92,351) (997,120) (1,089,471)

(Surplus)/deficit in Fund 10,575 575,352 585,927

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities (3,877) (33,875) (37,752)

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 47 (17,091) (17,044)

Expense contributions

Expected employer contributions to be paid in the next reporting 
period

5,270 45,450 50,720

Funding arrangements for employer contributions

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2011 financial position of 
the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25 “Financial Reporting 
by Superannuation Plans”.

Accrued benefits 97,277 1,060,564 1,157,841

Net market value of Fund assets (92,351) (997,120) (1,089,471)

Net (surplus)/deficit 4,926 63,444 68,370

Recommended contribution rates for the Company are SANCS SSS

% member 
salary

Multiple of 
member 

contribution

2.50 1.60

The method used to determine the employer contribution recommendations at the last actuarial review was the 
Aggregate Funding method. The method adopted affects the time of the cost to the employer.

Under the Aggregate Funding method, the employer contribution rate is determined so that sufficient assets will be 
available to meet benefit payments to existing members, taking into account the current value of assets and future 
contributions.
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The economic assumptions adopted for the last actuarial review of the Fund were:

Weighted average assumptions

Expected rate of return on fund assets backing current pension liabilities 8.3% pa

Expected rate of return on fund assets backing other liabilities 7.3% pa

Expected salary increase rate 4.0% pa

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.5% pa

Nature of asset/liability

If a surplus exists in the employer’s interest in the Fund, the employer may be able to take advantage of it in the 
form of a reduction in the required contribution rate, depending on the advice of the Fund’s actuary.

Where a deficiency exists, the employer is responsible for any difference between the employer’s share of Fund 
assets and the defined benefit obligation.

15. Contributed equity

2012  
$

2011  
$

100 ordinary shares of $1 each, fully paid 100 100

100 100

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.  The holders of ordinary 
shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
meetings of the Company.

16. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities  

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the year 456,629 (679,911)

Adjustments for:

Bad debt written off – 170,000

Gain on sale of assets (300) (671)

Depreciation – 541,177

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working capital 456,329 30,595

Change in trade and other receivables 961,035 642,433

Change in trade and other payables (4,086,352) 1,716,530

Change in provisions (57,365) 128,087

New cash from/(used in) operating activities (2,726,353) 2,517,645
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17. Financial instruments
Credit risk

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.   
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Cash and cash equivalents 487,033 3,213,086

Trade receivables – 135,322

487,033 3,348,408

None of the Company’s trade receivables are past due (2011: nil). All of the Company’s trade receivables at the 
reporting date are current.

The Company believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due. 
The balance is owed to the Company by various significant event organisations which have a good credit history 
with the Company.

Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting agreements. 

Carrying  
amount

Contractual  
cash flows

6 mths  
or less

6–12  
months

1–2  
years

2–5  
years

Trade and other payables for 
year ended 2012

20,000 – 20,000 – – –

Trade and other payables for 
year ended 2011

3,945,465 3,945,465 3,917,658 27,807 – –

Interest rate risk

The Company had no income-earning financial assets, being cash on deposits (at call) at reporting date.

Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts shown in the Statement of 
financial position.

Sensitivity analysis

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was

2012  
$

2011  
$

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets – 2,061,710

– 2,061,710

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have no effect on equity and profit or loss.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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18. Operating leases
The Company leases office and car park facilities under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 
three years. Lease payments are increased annually on anniversary of lease commencement by 4.50%. All leases 
were transferred to Destination NSW, effective 1 July 2011.

During the year ended 30 June 2012, Nil (2011: $614,507) was recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of operating leases.

19. Commitments

2012  
$

2011  
$

All amounts shown in this note are inclusive of GST

Capital and expenditure commitment

Contracted but not provided for and payable:

Less than one year – 1,093,912

One year or later and no later than five years – –

Later than five years – –

– 1,093,912

Operating leases

Contracted but not provided for and payable

Less than one year – 704,609

Between one and five years – 562,614

More than five years – –

– 1,267,223

Events funding

Contracted but not provided for and payable

Less than one year – 25,411,962

Between one and five years – 72,311,723

More than five years – 19,690,000

– 117,413,685

The expenditure above includes input tax credits of Nil (2011: $10,888,620) that are expected to be recoverable from the ATO.

20. Economic dependency
The Company was incorporated on 3 September 2007 and is wholly owned by the NSW State Government.

The Company is dependent upon the NSW State Government to adhere to the quantum and timing of government 
grants under the funding agreement to allow the Company to continue its operations and meet its contracted 
obligations.
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21. Related parties
Directors

The names of directors during the year ended 30 June 2012 were John Conde, Richard Colless, Johanna Griggs, 
Peter Ivany, David Richmond, Belinda Seper, Charlotte Vidor, Roderick McGeoch and Geoff Parmenter. As Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”), Mr Parmenter is the only executive director.

2011  
$

2012  
$

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

Short-term employee benefits 97,260 233,422

Post-employment benefits 7,741 48,308

105,001 281,730

Executive director’s remuneration

Short-term employee benefits 260,646 498,198

Eligible termination payments 164,356 6,107

Post-employment benefits 28,260 33,487

453,262 537,792

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Short term
Other long-term 

benefits
Post-

employment

Directors Salary Other benefits ETP Superannuation Total

John Conde 2012 24,083 – – – 2,167 26,250
(Chairman) 2011 64,220 – – – 5,780 70,000

Richard Colless 2012 10,321 – – – 929 11,250
2011 27,523 – – – 2,477 30,000

Johanna Griggs 2012 10,321 – – – 929 11,250
2011 27,523 – – – 2,477 30,000

Peter Ivany 2012 10,321 – – – 929 11,250
2011 27,523 – – – 2,477 30,000

David Richmond 2012 10,321 – – – 929 11,250
2011 – – – – 30,000 30,000

Belinda Seper 2012 10,321 – – – 929 11,250
2011 27,523 – – – 2,477 30,000

Charlotte Vidor 2012 11,250 – – – – 11,250
2011 30,000 – – – – 30,000

Roderick McGeoch 2012 10,321 – – – 929 11,250
2011 15,348 – – – 1,381 16,729

Geoff Parmenter 2012 129,281 20,121 123,214 – 18,262 290,878
(CEO & KMP) 2011 469,576 28,622 – 6,107 33,487 537,792

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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Other key management personnel

There are four other key management personnel in the positions of Chief Financial Officer, General Manager 
Operations & Communications, General Manager Marketing & Strategy and General Manager Events.

2012  
$

2011  
$

Key management personnel remuneration (excluding CEO)

Short-term employee benefits 152,386 1,236,290

Other long-term benefits - 12,847

Post-employment benefits 9,998 107,553

162,384 1,356,690

Director related party transactions

A number of directors hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant influence over 
the financial or operating policies of these entities.

A number of these entities transacted within the Company in the 2012 financial year. The terms and conditions of 
the transactions with director related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might 
reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director related entities on an arm’s length 
basis.

Both Mr John Conde and Mr Roderick McGeoch are directors of Destination NSW. Please refer to Note 24 for details 
of relevant transactions with that entity.

The aggregate value of other transactions relating to director related entities over which they have control or 
significant influence were as follows:

Transaction value 

Director Nature Note
2012 

$
2011 

$

Mr G Parmenter Events Funding (i) - 6,325,000

Mr J Conde Office Electricity (ii) - 25,116

Notes

(i)  During 2012, the Company did not provide any payments to Business Events Sydney Ltd, of which Mr Parmenter is a 
director representing Events New South Wales Pty Ltd.

(ii)  Effective 1 July 2011 the Company transferred the services of Energy Australia Pty Limited, of which Mr Conde is a 
director, to Destination NSW. Mr Conde was not involved in the decision making processes for this transaction.

Other related party transactions

The Company is one of two members of Parramasala Limited, a company limited by guarantee (“Parramasala”), 
which was incorporated on 1 June 2010. Under the constitution of Parramasala, the limit of each member’s 
guarantee is $5. While the Company has significant influence over Parramasala, it does not control the entity. 

During the year ended 30 June 2012, the Company provided event funding to Parramasala in the amount of Nil 
(2011: $808,415). This amount has been recorded as an expense by the Company.

As Parramasala is a company limited by guarantee, and Events NSW is not entitled to any future distribution (either 
by dividend or on wind-up of Parramasala), the Company has not recorded any investment for its interest in this 
entity. Disclosure has instead been made by way of note.

The company transferred its membership to Destination NSW on 16 December 2011 for no consideration.
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22. Auditor’s remuneration

2012 
$

2011 
$

Audit services

Auditors of the Company 16,500 24,500

16,500 24,500

23. Contingent assets/liabilities
Under certain funding agreements, if key event performance indicators are not met by the event organiser, Events 
NSW is entitled to a return on their investment in line with the contract. At reporting date, no such amounts, that can 
be reliably measured are known.

24. Dealings with Destination NSW
Events New South Wales Pty Ltd transferred assets and liabilities during the year to Destination NSW as part of a 
restructure as per Note 2 (d). A reconciliation of the transfers to Destination NSW is outlined below.

Reconciliation of transfers to Destination NSW $

Operating expenditure paid on behalf of Destination NSW (7,389,708)

Property, plant and equipment 597,713

Intangibles 215,540

Accrued expenses (571,700)

Operating lease payable (55,614)

Annual leave provision (187,948)

Long service leave provision (23,105)

Employee superannuation defined benefit obligations  (585,928)

Cash transfer to Destination NSW 8,000,750

25. Events subsequent to reporting date
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance which has arisen that has 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the Company.

Notes to the Financial Statements CONTINUED
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Events New South Wales Pty Ltd and Sections 41C (1B) and 
(1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Directors declare that:

1.  the accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 
30 June 2012 and its performance for the year ended on that date;

2.  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit 
Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2010 and the Corporations Act 2011;

3.  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
authoritative pronouncement of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, so as to give a true and fair view of 
the results of the entity for the year ended 30 June 2012 and the state of affairs of the entity as at 30 June 2012; 
and

4.  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due 
and payable.

As of the date on which this declaration is signed, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would 
render any particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board and on behalf of the Directors.

John Conde 
Chairman

Dated at Sydney this 18th day of October 2012
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Auditor’s independence declaration under Section 307C  
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Sydney Offices

Harrington Street Office
Level 2, 55 Harrington Street 
The Rocks NSW 2000

Tel: +61 2 9931 1111 
Fax: +61 2 9931 1490

Postal address
GPO Box 7050, Sydney NSW 2001

Business hours 
8.30 am–5.00 pm, Monday to Friday

George Street Office
Level 5, 88 George Street 
The Rocks NSW 2000

Tel: +61 2 8114 2400 
Fax: +61 2 8114 2444

Corporate email and website
info@dnsw.com.au 
destinationnsw.com.au

Consumer websites
sydney.com 
visitnsw.com

International offices

United Kingdom and Europe
Level 6, Australia Centre 
Strand 
London WC2B 4LG 
UNITED KINGDOM

Tel: +44 20 7438 4644 or 4643 
Fax: +44 20 7240 6690

North America
Suite 1150, 6100 Center Drive 
Los Angeles, CA 90045 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Tel: +1 310 695 3235 
Fax: +1 310 641 1655

Greater China (China, Hong Kong)
New South Wales – Government 
Business Office 
Unit 2208, Level 22, CITIC Square 
1168 Nanjing Road West 
Shanghai 200040 
PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

Tel: +86 21 5292 8833 
Fax: +86 21 5292 5557

Japan
12F Marunouchi Trust Tower North 
1-8-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo 100-0005 
JAPAN

Tel: +81 3 5224 4080 
Fax: +81 3 5224 4083

New Zealand
Level 3, 125 The Strand 
Parnell, Auckland 1010 
NEW ZEALAND

Tel: +64 9 307 7040 
Fax: +64 9 366 6173

South and South-East Asia  
(Singapore, Malaysia, India, 
Indonesia)
#08-01A United Square 
101 Thomson Road 
Singapore 307591 
SINGAPORE

Tel: +65 6253 3888 
Fax: +65 6352 4888
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destinationnsw.com.au
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